Public Document Pack
Mid Devon District Council

Cabinet
Tuesday, 3 August 2021 at 10.00 am
Phoenix Chamber, Phoenix House, Tiverton
Next ordinary meeting
Tuesday, 31 August 2021 at 10.00 am
Join Zoom Meeting
https://zoom.us/j/98916217652?pwd=VnJ5MlhSRUFDa3Z1MW5LQlkrNHgvUT09
Meeting ID: 989 1621 7652
Passcode: 442861
One tap mobile
08002605801,,98916217652#,,,,*442861# The United Kingdom Toll-free
08003582817,,98916217652#,,,,*442861# The United Kingdom Toll-free
Dial by your location
0 800 260 5801 The United Kingdom Toll-free
0 800 358 2817 The United Kingdom Toll-free
0 800 031 5717 The United Kingdom Toll-free
Meeting ID: 989 1621 7652
Passcode: 442861

Membership
Cllr R M Deed
Cllr R J Chesterton
Cllr Mrs C P Daw
Cllr R Evans
Cllr D J Knowles
Cllr B A Moore
Cllr C R Slade
Cllr Mrs N Woollatt

1
Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229
Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

AGENDA
Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any
discussion which may take place
1.

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

Protocol for Hybrid Meetings (Pages 5 - 12)
To note the protocol for hybrid meetings.

3.

Public Question Time
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from members
of the public and replies thereto.

4.

Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct
Councillors are reminded of the requirement to declare any interest,
including the type of interest, and reason for that interest, either at this
stage of the meeting or as soon as they become aware of that interest.

5.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 13 - 20)
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct
record of the meeting held on 6 July 2021.

6.

Public Spaces Protection Order - Dogs (Pages 21 - 128)
Arising from a report of the Environment and Enforcement Manager the
Environment Policy Development Group have made the following
recommendations:

7.



To resolve to make and bring into force the draft PSPO at
Appendix A.



To authorise the Monitoring Officer to take all necessary steps to
make and bring it into force the draft PSPO at Appendix A.



To instruct Officers to bring to the Environment PDG a draft
variation of the PSPO (once made) to include the land identified
by Hemyock for consideration for consultation.

Tree Policy (Pages 129 - 144)
Arising from a report of the Corporate Manager for Property Leisure and
Climate Change; the Environment Policy Development Group have
made the following recommendation:
That the revised Tree Policy be adopted as attached in Annexe A for
five years subject to minor amendments made by the Environment
Policy Development Group including the possibility for some stock to be
2
Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229
Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

removed to allow the growth of new trees in the area which would keep
the woodlands sustainable.

8.

Aids and Adaptations Policy (Pages 145 - 164)
Arising from a report of the Corporate Manager for Public Health,
Regulation and Housing; the Homes Policy Development Group have
made the following recommendation:
That the revised Aids and Adaptations Policy as attached in Annexe 1
be approved.

9.

Private Sector Housing Fees & Charges 2021/2022 - Revised Civil
Penalty Policy and Delegated Powers (Pages 165 - 182)
Arising from a report of the Corporate Manager for Public Health,
Regulation and Housing; the Homes Policy Development Group have
made the following recommendation:






That Cabinet approve the revised fees as set out in Annex 1.
That Cabinet approve the updated Policy on the Use of Financial
Penalties for Housing Act Offences as set out in Annex 2.
That Cabinet approve the Corporate Manager for Public Health
and Regulation and Housing having delegated authority to
authorise relevant officers to enforce The Electrical Safety
Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations
2020.
That changes to the way Works in Default charges are
constructed are agreed.

10.

Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone Public Realm
Enhancement Project (Pages 183 - 188)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration advising Members on the results for the procurement
of consultants on the Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone
Town Centre Public Realm Enhancement Design.

11.

Housing Infrastructure Fund - Update on Projects (Pages 189 - 200)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration updating Cabinet on the infrastructure projects under
the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) totalling £18.2 million, in
relation to which the Council has entered grant funding
agreements with Homes England and has submitted the initial
claims to draw down the first tranches of funding. The report also
considers emerging financial considerations and seeks instruction
from Cabinet at this stage in the project, whilst identifying that
3
Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229
Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

there will be future key decision points for both projects.

12.

Financial Monitoring (Pages 201 - 222)
To receive a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) presenting a
financial update in respect of the income and expenditure so far in the
year.

13.

Update from the Cabinet Member for Continuous Improvement
To receive a verbal update from the Cabinet Member on progress in
driving improvement in services across the Council.

14.

Notification of Key Decisions (Pages 223 - 226)
To note the contents of the Forward Plan.

Stephen Walford
Chief Executive
Monday, 26 July 2021

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not
to do so, as directed by the Chairman. Any filming must be done as
unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting
and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who
may not wish to be filmed. As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film
proceedings is asked to advise the Chairman or the Member Services Officer in
attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening.
Members of the public may also use other forms of social media to report on
proceedings at this meeting.
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting and
discussion. Lift access the first floor of the building is available from
ground floor entrance. Toilet facilities, with wheelchair access,
available. There is time set aside at the beginning of the meeting to
public to ask questions.

listen to
the main
are also
allow the

An induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone wearing a hearing aid
or using a transmitter. If you require any further information, or
If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large
print) please contact Sally Gabriel on:
Tel:
01884 234229
E-Mail: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
4
Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229
Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

Public Wi-Fi is available in all meeting rooms.

5
Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229
Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
Mid Devon District Council – Hybrid Meeting Protocol
1.

Introduction

Remote meetings via Zoom have been used during the Covid-19 pandemic in
accordance with the temporary legislation. That legislation ceases to apply from
7 May 2021. However, Covid-19 legislation and guidance continues in place and
this places specific requirements for meetings in relation to health and safety, risk
assessments and related matters.
The Council has therefore put in place temporary arrangements which will enable
meetings to take place in compliance with legislation, whilst providing alternative
participation opportunities to maintain a Covid-19 safe environment. All are asked
to remember that the Council’s offices at Phoenix House are not just meeting
rooms – they are the place of employment for many and there are implications
beyond just how the meetings are held.
The arrangements set out in this Protocol will apply to meetings from 7 May 2021
to (and including) 30 June 2021, unless the Council decides to change, curtail or
extend them. At the date of this Protocol, it is expected that arrangements may
change later this year – because the Government may change the law, the Covid19 pandemic may have further receded and/or the Council makes alternative
arrangements.
2.

Hybrid arrangements – how will they work?

The primary objective is to ensure that meetings can continue as safely as possible
and that the rights of Members and the Public are not diminished simply because
the meeting is being held through a mix of online and face-to-face means. The
Chairman will retain control and discretion over the conduct of the meeting and the
Zoom host will provide administrative support to facilitate the meeting.
Please note that, exceptionally, meeting arrangements may change – in response
to legislation, court decisions, or risk. This may include a meeting being
postponed, or the hybrid arrangements changing or being withdrawn. We ask that
you check the arrangements in advance of joining or attending the meeting.
(a)

Members (councillors) entitled to vote

All Members entitled to vote in a meeting must be present in the same room – if
they are to be classed as ‘present’ (count towards the quorum) and to cast a vote.
If a Member entitled to vote is not in the room, they may still participate via Zoom
(see below), but they will not be present (quorum) nor be able to vote.
(b)

Other Members, Officers and the Public

The Council will use Zoom to enable all other Members, officers and the Public to
attend and participate in meetings safely. Zoom will be enabled in all public
meetings. Those attending the meeting physically will be able to see and hear
Zoom participants via the existing large TV/monitor screens in the meeting rooms.

Page 7

1

Those on Zoom will be able to hear Members in the room and see them – although
this will be a whole room view and there will be no zooming in on individual
members. It is essential therefore those Members present in the room use the
microphones at all times and identify themselves before speaking.
There will be some Officers in the room – the Committee Administrator, the Zoom
host and, at times, an additional support officer. There may also be a meeting
room host to manage the safety of the meeting. All other Officers should use
Zoom, unless they are specifically invited into the room by the Chairman of the
meeting.
3.

Zoom

Zoom is the system the Council will be using for those attending Hybrid meetings
remotely. It has functionality for audio, video, and screen sharing and you do not
need to be a member of the Council or have a Zoom account to join a Zoom
meeting.
4.

Access to documents

Member Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on
the Council’s website in line with usual practice. Paper copies of agendas will only
be made available to those who have previously requested this and also the Chair
of a meeting.
If any other Member wishes to have a paper copy, they must notify Member
Services before the agenda is published, so they can arrange to post directly – it
may take longer to organise printing, so as much notice as possible is appreciated.
The Public should continue to access agendas via the Council’s website - and are
encouraged to do so even after the offices at Phoenix House are open again.
5.

Setting up the Meeting for Zoom attendance

This will be done by Member Services. They will send a meeting request via
Outlook which will appear in Members’ Outlook calendar. Members and Officers
will receive a URL link to click on to join the meeting. The Public will use the Zoom
details on the front of the agenda. The telephone dial-in via Zoom will also be
available.
6.

Public Access and Participation

(a)

Public Access:

Members of the Public will be able to use a web link and standard internet browser.
This will be displayed on the front of the agenda. Members of the Public should
attend a meeting via Zoom, unless there are exceptional circumstances justifying
attendance in person.

Page 8

2

If any member of the Public still wishes to attend in person, they must notify
Member Services at least 3 working days before the meeting. Notifications
must be sent by email to:
Committee@middevon.gov.uk
Day of meeting
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday

Notice given by
Previous Wednesday
Previous Thursday
Previous Friday
Monday
Tuesday

The meeting risk assessment may need to be updated. Member Services will
liaise with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Chairman of the
meeting. A decision will be taken on whether attendance in person can be safely
accommodated.
(b)

Public Participation (speaking):

Public questions will continue in line with the Council’s current arrangements as
far as is practicable. However, to ensure that the meeting runs smoothly and that
no member of the public is missed, all those who wish to speak must register by
4pm on the day before the meeting. They should email their full name to
Committee@middevon.gov.uk. If they wish to circulate their question in advance,
that would be helpful.
At public question time, the Chair will ask each registered person to speak at the
appropriate time. In the normal way, the public should state their full name, the
agenda item they wish to speak to before they proceed with their question. Unless
they have registered, a member of the public may not be called to speak, except
at the discretion of the Chairman.
If a member of the public wishes to ask a question but cannot attend the meeting
for whatever reason, there is nothing to prevent them from emailing members of
the Committee with their question, views or concern in advance. However, if they
do so, it would be helpful if a copy could be sent to Committee@middevon.gov.uk
as well.
7.

Arrangements for any person attending meetings at Phoenix House

Anyone attending a meeting in person must observe the following requirements:
(a)

For non-voting members, officers and the Public – are there exceptional
circumstances to justify attending? If so, please notify in advance and
in paragraph 6 above. It is essential that the Council knows who is
attending and how many will be in the room, so that the meeting risk
assessment can be updated.

Page 9

3

8.

(b)

Do not attend if you: have any symptoms of Covid-19; are self-isolating
(with or without a positive Covid-19 test); or are in a period of post-travel
quarantine.

(c)

Wear a mask at all times except when invited to speak by the Chairman
of the meeting. If you have a medical exemption for wearing a mask,
please attend via Zoom unless you are a Member who must attend to
vote.

(d)

Use the hand sanitiser which is available in the building.

(e)

Follow the directions for entering, moving around and exiting the
building. Follow the instructions of any Officer present to manage the
safety of the meeting and/or the Chairman.

(f)

Sign into the meeting if requested to do so – you may be asked to leave
contact details

(g)

Enter and leave the building promptly – do not gather inside after the
meeting has finished, or during any break in the meeting

(h)

Bring your own water/refreshments, as these will not be available for the
time being.

(i)

Maintain social distancing throughout – this is 2 metres apart, or 1 metre
with additional safeguards (e.g. face masks).

Starting the Meeting

At the start of the meeting, the Member Services Officer will check all required
attendees are present and that there is a quorum. If there is no quorum, the
meeting will be adjourned. This applies if, during the meeting, it becomes inquorate
for whatever reason.
The Chair will remind all Members, Officers and the Public attending via Zoom that
all microphones must be muted, unless and until they are speaking. This
prevents background noise, coughing etc. which is intrusive and disruptive during
the meeting. The Hosting Officer will enforce this and will be able to turn off
participant mics when they are not in use.
9.

Declaration of Interests

Members should declare their interests in the usual way. A Member with a
disclosable pecuniary interest is required to the leave the room. If they are
attending via Zoom, they will be moved to the waiting room for the duration of the
item.
10.

The Meeting and Debate

(a)

For Members and Officers physically present

Page 10

4

Each member should raise their hand to indicate a request to speak. When called,
they must identify themselves for the recording and for the benefit of those
attending via Zoom. The microphone must be used when speaking – standing will
make it difficult for those on Zoom to hear and is discouraged, including at
meetings of Full Council.
(b)

For any person attending via Zoom

The Council will not be using the Chat function. The Chairman will call speakers
in accordance with the usual rules i.e. either at Public Question Time, or for
Members and Officers, when they raise their Zoom hand to speak.
No decision or outcome will be invalidated by a failure of the Chair to call a member
to speak – remote management of meetings is intensive and the Hybrid
arrangements are likely to be more so. It is reasonable to expect that some
requests will be inadvertently missed from time to time.
When referring to reports or making specific comments, Members and Officers
should refer to the report and page number whenever possible. This will help all
present or in attendance to have a clear understanding of what is being discussed.
11.

Voting

Voting for meetings in person is normally through a show of hands. The Member
Services Officer will announce the numerical result of the vote for the benefit of
those attending via Zoom.
12.

Meeting Etiquette Reminder for Zoom attendees





13.

Mute your microphone – you will still be able to hear what is being said.
Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair.
Speak clearly and please state your name each time you speak
If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number.
Part 2 Reports and Debate

There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when
confidential, or “exempt” issues – as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 – are under consideration.
If there are members of the public and press attending the meeting, then the
Member Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, remove them to a waiting
room for the duration of that item. They can then be invited back in when the
business returns to Part 1.
Please turn off smart speakers such as Amazon Echo (Alexa), Google Home or
smart music devices. These could inadvertently record phone or video
conversations, which would not be appropriate during the consideration of
confidential items.

Page 11

5

14.

Interpretation of standing orders

Where the Chairman is required to interpret the Council’s Constitution and
procedural rules and how they apply to remote attendance, they may take advice
from the Member Services Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to making a ruling.
However, the Chair’s decision shall be final.
15.

Disorderly Conduct by Members

If a Member behaves in the manner as outlined in the Constitution (persistently
ignoring or disobeying the ruling of the Chair or behaving irregularly, improperly or
offensively or deliberately obstructs the business of the meeting), any other
Member may move 'That the member named be not further heard' which, if
seconded, must be put to the vote without discussion.
If the same behaviour persists and a Motion is approved 'that the member named
do leave the meeting', then (if attending via Zoom) they will be removed as a
participant by the Member Services Officer.
16.

Disturbance from Members of the Public

If any member of the public interrupts a meeting the Chairman will warn them
accordingly. If that person continues to interrupt or disrupt proceedings the
Chairman may ask the Member Services Officer to remove them as a participant
from the meeting.
17.

Technical issues – meeting management

If the Chairman, the Hosting Officer or the Member Services Officer identifies a
problem with the systems from the Council’s side, the Chairman should either
declare a recess while the fault is addressed or, if the fault is minor (e.g. unable to
bring up a presentation), it may be appropriate to move onto the next item of
business in order to progress through the agenda. If it is not possible to address
the fault, the meeting will be adjourned until such time as it can be reconvened.
If the meeting was due to determine an urgent matter and it has not been possible
to continue because of technical difficulties, the Chief Executive, Leader and
relevant Cabinet Member, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, shall explore
such other means of taking the decision as may be permitted by the Council’s
constitution.
Where any Member, Officer or the Public experience their own technical problems
during the course of a meeting e.g. through internet connectivity or otherwise, the
meeting will not be automatically suspended or adjourned.

18.

Technical issues – Individual Responsibility (Members and Officers)

Page 12

6

Many members, officers and the Public live in places where broadband speeds
are poor, but technical issues can arise at any time for a number of reasons. The
following guidelines, if followed, should help reduce disruption.


Join public Zoom meetings by telephone if there is a problem with the
internet. Before all meetings, note down or take a photograph of the front
page of the agenda which has the necessary telephone numbers. Annex 1
to this protocol contains a brief step-by-step guide to what to expect



Consider an alternative location from which to join the meeting, but staying
safe and keeping confidential information secure. For officers, this may
mean considering whether to come into the office, subject to this being safe
and practicable (childcare etc.)



Have to hand the telephone number of someone attending the meeting –
and contact them if necessary to explain the problem in connecting



Officers should have an ‘understudy’ or deputy briefed and on standby to
attend and present as needed (and their telephone numbers to hand)

Page 13

7

Annex 1
Phone only access to zoom meetings
(Before you start make sure you know the Meeting ID and the Meeting
Password) – Both of these are available on the agenda for the meeting
Call the toll free number either on the meeting agenda or on the Outlook
appointment (this will start with 0800 --- ----)
(Ensure your phone is on ‘speaker’ if you can)
A message will sound saying “Welcome to Zoom, enter your meeting ID followed
by the hash button”


Enter Meeting ID followed by #

Wait for next message which will say “If you are a participant, please press hash
to continue”


Press #

Wait for next message which will say “Enter Meeting Password followed by hash”


Enter 6 digit Meeting Password followed by #

Wait for the following two messages:
“You are currently being held in a waiting room, the Host will release you from
‘hold’ in a minute”
Wait……
“You have now entered the meeting”
Important notes for participating in meetings
Press *6 to toggle between ‘mute’ and ‘unmute’ (you should always ensure you
are muted until you are called upon to speak)
If you wish to speak you can ‘raise your hand’ by pressing *9. Wait for the
Chairman to call you to speak. The Host will lower your hand after you have
spoken. Make sure you mute yourself afterwards.

Page 14

8

Agenda Item 5.
MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
MINUTES of a MEETING of the CABINET held on 6 July 2021 at 10.00 am
Present
Councillors

Apologies
Councillor(s)

R Evans

Also Present
Councillor(s)

G Barnell, B G J Warren and A Wilce

Also Present
Officer(s):

26.

R M Deed (Leader)
R J Chesterton, Mrs C P Daw, D J Knowles,
B A Moore, C R Slade and Mrs N Woollatt

Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy
Chief Executive (S151)), Jill May (Director of Business
Improvement and Operations), Dean Emery (Corporate
Manager for Revenues, Benefits and Recovery), Catherine
Yandle
(Operations
Manager
for
Performance,
Governance and Health & Safety), Tim Powell (Corporate
Projects Officer), Keith Ashton (Facilities Manager for
Corporate Property and Commercial Assets), Carole
Oliphant (Member Services Officer) and Sally Gabriel
(Member Services Manager)

APOLOGIES (00-02-59)
Apologies were received from Cllr R B Evans.

27.

PROTOCOL FOR HYBRID MEETINGS (00-03-12)
The protocol for hybrid meetings was NOTED.

28.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00-03-30)
The Chairman read a statement from Mr Quinn referring to Item 13 (3 Rivers
Developments Limited – Annual Report)
Paragraph 2.1 of this report states that: “Attached to this report are the
Company’s Annual Report and Financial Statements for the period from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2021”.
All of the attachments for this agenda item have been classified as ‘Restricted’
and have not been published.
However, I am aware that this Annual Company Information is published on the
Companies House website – available for all to see.
Which means that this particular information should not be ‘restricted’ and

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 15

19

withheld from the Mid Devon public.
So my question is: Will Cabinet please remove the ‘restriction’ and allow
the public to see the ‘Annual Report and Financial Statements for the
period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021’?
The Chairman indicated that an answer would be provided when the item was
discussed.
29.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-04-59)
The minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record and signed
by the Chairman.

30.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-07-30)
Cabinet Members made the following declarations of interest:
Cllr C R Slade declared a personal interest in item 8 on the agenda (Tiverton Town
Centre CCTV Options for future use) as a member of Tiverton Town Council and as
the Devon County Council representative on the Town Centre Partnership.
Cllr D J Knowles declared a personal interest in item 8 on the agenda (Tiverton Town
Centre CCTV Options for future use) as a member of Tiverton Town Council.
Cllr Mrs C P Daw declared a personal interest in item 8 on the agenda (Tiverton
Town Centre CCTV Options for future use) as a member of Tiverton Town Council
and as a member of the Town Centre Partnership.

31.

FINANCIAL OUTTURN REPORT 2020/21 (00-07-46)
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) presenting
the Revenue and Capital Outturn figures for the financial year 2020/21.
The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the
financial year 2020/21 had been a huge challenge due to the impact of the pandemic,
however the final overspend had been £65k. He highlighted the work of the
Revenues and Benefits Team who had worked hard to maintain the income stream
and continued to pay grant funding to local businesses and the community. With
regard to the Capital Programme, he outlined the monies that would be carried
forward into the current year due to the inability to progress projects during the
pandemic. The outturn provided a statement of facts and the external auditors would
consider this with regard to value for money.
Consideration was given to:



The overspend of £65k was an achievement in the current circumstances
The budget gap in the current financial year and that the membership of the
Council had been promised a strategic discussion with the Cabinet with regard
to closing that gap – the Cabinet Member for Finance reminded the meeting
that the outturn was for the financial year 20/21 a balanced budget had been

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 16

20




set for 2021/22 and options were being considered, member involvement
would come when options were available.
With regard to the loans to 3 Rivers Development Limited, how much of this
was for projects and operational costs and what monies had been repaid – the
Leader stated that a written response would be provided.
The reports that were being considered by the External Auditor.

RESOLVED that:
1. The General Fund Outturn achieved in 2020/21 which shows an overall
overspend of £65k be noted. This deficit is proposed to be taken from General
Fund reserve which will still leave the balance at £2,186k; above the minimum
recommended level of £2,000k.
2. The Net Transfers to Earmarked Reserves of £6,559k detailed in the General
Fund Service Budget Variance Reports shown in Appendix 1 and summarised
in Appendix 3 be approved. Note, this includes £3,411k of Section 31 Grant to
smooth the Collection Fund deficits over the next three years, as defined by
the Government as separately identified on Appendix 1.
3. The positive position achieved on the Housing Revenue Account which shows
a saving of £94k be noted and the transfer to HRA Earmarked Reserves of the
extra £94k shown in paragraph 5.2, as well as the utilisation of reserves
totalling £404k identified in Appendices 2 and 3 be approved.
4. The carry forward of £26,041k from the 2020/21 Capital Programme (see
paragraph 7.3) be approved as all of the schemes will be delivered in 2021/22
or later years. Also the transfer to Earmarked Reserves of the unspent £734k
identified in Appendix 4 be approved.
(Proposed by Cllr B A Moore and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)
Reason for decision – The Outturn report indicates how the Council’s resources
have been used to support the delivery of budgetary decisions.
Note: *Report previously circulated copy attached to minutes.
32.

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT (00-16-44)
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) providing
Members with a review of activities and the Prudential Treasury Indicators on actuals
for 2020/21.
The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that this
was a specialist area and vital in keeping council finances healthy; the council had
maintained an under borrowed position and it had been able to use resources,
balances and cash flow to meet its needs. Investments had conformed to the
approved strategy and there were no liquidity difficulties, returns from investments
were ahead of expectations.
Consideration was given to:

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 17

21





The £10m loan to 3 Rivers Developments Limited had come from cash
reserves rather than borrowing and whether the S151 Officer could explain the
risks as well as the benefits of this
Information with regard to the ‘credit loss model’ and the impact of this on
external lending and the changes to accountancy rules
What was Mid Devon’s unrealised fair value movement?

RECOMMENDED to Council that:
a) the treasury activities for the year be NOTED.
b) the actual 2020/21 Prudential and Treasury Indicators in the report be approved.
(Proposed by Cllr B A Moore and seconded by Cllr R J Chesterton)
Reason for the decision – there is a need for Council to consider the Annual
Treasury Management review in line with CIPFA guidance.
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.
33.

TIVERTON TOWN CENTRE CCTV OPTIONS FOR FUTURE USE (00-24-10)
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure
and Climate Change providing Members with the options on completing essential
maintenance on the Tiverton Town Centre CCTV system.
The Cabinet Member for Community Wellbeing outlined the contents of the report
stating that the reason for the report was to consider funding and options to upgrade
the CCTV system in Tiverton. All the legal implications had been considered. The
PSS CCTV was a discretionary service to which the Council had a limited budget to
maintain the system. The monitoring of the CCTV system was on a voluntary basis
and that the Council paid the volunteer for 7 hours per week. There was a need to
upgrade the system to protect against cyber security issues.
Consideration was given to:





The value of the CCTV system and how it was appreciated by local residents
The grants from the OPCC and Tiverton Town Centre Partnership would be
well received
Crediton and Cullompton had been offered the opportunity to apply for funding
from the OPCC – Cullompton Town Council had not responded to the
approach
The need to approach Tiverton Town Council for a further financial
contribution and that this be included in the resolution.

RESOLVED that
1) Delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Community and Wellbeing
and the Deputy Chief Executive (151), in consultation with Property Services to seek
the remainder of external funding required for the delivery of Option 2 as a minimum,
but to aim to achieve Option 3 and complete the works within the current calendar
year.

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 18

22

2) The grant of £25k from the OPCC be accepted, subject to the terms and
conditions on Annex C.
3) The fund of £3,161 from the OPCC be accepted, subject to the terms and
conditions on Annex D and as detailed in section 11.
4) £5k from the Tiverton Town Centre Partnership be accepted, as detailed on
paragraph 9.1.
5) The Council approach Tiverton Town Council for a further financial contribution
and hold discussions with regard to the future ownership of the system.
(Proposed by Cllr D J Knowles and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)
Reason for decision – There is a need to consider the offer of funding for this
project.
Notes:

34.

i)

Cllr C R Slade decalred a personal interest as a member of Tiverton Town
Council and as the Devon County Council representative on the Town Centre
Partnership;

ii)

Cllr D J Knowles delcared a personal interest as a member of Tiverton Town
Council;

iii)

Cllr Mrs C P Daw declared a personal interest as a member of Tiverton Town
Council and as a member of the Town Centre Partnership;

iv)

*Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

CONTRACT AWARD FOR CARBON DECARBONISATION PROJECT (00-32-16)
The Cabinet had before it a report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure
and Climate Change seeking approval to deliver a grant-aided project(s) to reduce
the carbon emissions of our leisure facilities.
The Cabinet Member for the Environment and Climate Change outlined the contents
of the report stating that the receipt of the grant funding was excellent news which
would allow decarbonisation works to take place at the three leisure facilities. He
outlined the timescales for the project and the tender process that had taken place
which had been based on quality rather than on price. The project would support the
work taking place with regard to climate change.
RESOLVED that:
(1)

(2)

That the Cabinet accepts the grant from the Public Sector Decarbonisation
Scheme and agrees to implement the works to reduce the Council’s carbon
emissions.
That the Cabinet agrees to approve and award the contract for the supply and
installation of low energy efficient LED lighting to Contractor 1.

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 19

23

(3)

That the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) and the Deputy Leader and Cabinet
Member for Housing and Property Services are given delegated authority to
take all necessary actions to deliver the Salix funded projects as detailed in
para 1.3, for any contract variations and approval of any necessary significant
design changes.

(Proposed by Cllr C R Slade and seconded by Cllr B A Moore)
Reason for the decision – there is a need to deliver the three grant aided projects to
reduce the carbon emissions of our facilities.
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

35.

PERFORMANCE AND RISK OUTTURN (00-34-50)
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Operations Manager for Performance,
Governance and Health & Safety providing Members with an update on the
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020/21.
The Leader outlined the contents of the report stating that there had been some
impact on performance due to the pandemic and he then looked forward to a period
of normality in the near future. He highlighted the following:










Recycling and residual waste – he would like to see an increase in recycling
rates.
The green approach – he referred to the receipt of grant funding for
decarbonisation.
Homes – achievements had been low, but that the authority were working with
Community Land Trusts and other agencies to improve the number of new
homes and social rented housing in the current year.
Economy – he highlighted the challenges caused by the pandemic and how
the Government had supported people and that there was a need for the
authority to provide assistance for regeneration and community and economic
confidence in Mid Devon, outlining the South West Mutual Bank as an
example.
Digital connectivity – there were major issues in Mid Devon that needed to be
addressed
Corporate – the council industrial units were fully occupied
The work of the Revenues and Benefits Team
The work taking place with the Devon and Somerset Metro Bid

Consideration was given to:





Digital connectivity and the need for achievements to be made in this area
The work taking place installing fibre optic in the area
Statistical errors with regard to the number of houses converted and those
‘Right to Buy’ properties brought back.
The need to look forward to the regeneration of the town centres, there were
an abundance of plans in place with some grant funding, however there was a
need for additional funding (via the Capital Programme) for match funding and
partnership working.

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 20

24



The need for a strategy for town centre regeneration and renewal.

RESOLVED that:
a) The report be NOTED
b) The 4 year KPI targets against the Corporate Plan be approved.
(Proposed by Cllr R J Chesterton and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)
Reason for the decision – there is a need to monitor performance against the
Corporate Plan.
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

36.

UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT
(00-48-22)
The Cabinet Member for Continuous Improvement informed the meeting that:


This was her first Cabinet update since being appointed. Her role was to drive
business and process improvement in services across the entire span of Council
activity.



The aim was to ensure that the responsiveness and agility demonstrated by the
Council throughout the pandemic was harnessed to deliver better outcomes for
residents as the Council transitions to the new normal.



She had been taking time to ensure that Members and Officers were engaged in
the process and that they understood the outcomes they were trying to achieve
She had met with directors and officers to understand the deadlines and
Performance Indicators across the Council’s activity.



In order to ensure customers were getting a high quality service, she had
proactively engaged Members on a number of issues, whilst also taking forward a
number of other cases in other areas that had been sent directly to her.



To date, she had received 31 cases from Members and the public. 5 of which
were now closed, and 5 of which had been actioned. The other 21 cases were
with directors for action.



Alongside this she had agreed to receive and monitor monthly figures on planning
enforcement, and separately looked at the Council’s activity around Ash Die
Back.

She outlined the monthly meetings that she had organised and the caseload that was
before the Leadership Team. She intended to provide a monthly report to the
Cabinet outlining her on-going work.

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 21

25

37.

NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS (00-56-01)
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED its *rolling plan for August 2021 containing
future key decisions.
Note: *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

38.

3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT (00-57-02)
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a *report of the Deputy Chief Executive
providing Cabinet with an Annual Report which also includes the Company’s
Accounts as per the conditions of the Shareholder Agreement.
The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the
Cabinet had received a wealth of information via regular reports on the work taking
place by the company. The pandemic had impacted on progress with projects but
that the business was now moving forwards.
The Deputy Chief Executive (S151) in response to the question posed in public
question time stated that at the time of the publication of the agenda, the accounts
had not been approved formally by the company’s board of directors and that the
Shareholder had to note the contents of the annual report at this meeting, the
accounts would then be sent to Companies House where they would become public
knowledge. The other attachments within the report were of a commercially sensitive
nature.
Consideration was given to:




A request to send written questions with regard to the various sites and the
prospects for 3 Rivers Developments Limited to be answered – it was
suggested that these be sent to the clerk who would circulate them and
coordinate the written responses.
The proposed open day at St Georges Court for Members on 20 July.

Note: *Report previously circulated.

(The meeting ended at 11.06 am)

Cabinet – 6 July 2021

Page 22

CHAIRMAN

26

Agenda Item 6.
CABINET
3RD AUGUST 2021
PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER - DOGS
Cabinet Member(s):
Responsible Officer:

Cllr Colin Slade, Cabinet Member for the Environment
and Climate Change
Vicky Lowman, Environment & Enforcement Manager

Reason for Report and Recommendations: This Report sets out the key findings
from the consultation on a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for the Mid
Devon area which ran from 21st May to 18th June 2021, to update the Cabinet (and
Environment PDG) - on the feedback received from the PSPO public consultation
and to seek approval on a revised PSPO to be made in response to the consultation.
At the Environment PDG on 13th July 2021 recommendation 3 was added to allow
for 2 areas in Hemyock Parish (which were missed due to an administration error) to
be added to the PSPO (once made) as a variation to the PSPO. This would mean no
further delay in having an enforceable PSPO in August 2021.
RECOMMENDATIONS: that Cabinet be asked:
1. To resolve to make and bring into force the draft PSPO at Appendix A
2. To authorise the Monitoring Officer to take all necessary steps to make and
bring it into force the draft PSPO at Appendix A
3. To instruct Officers to bring to the Environment PDG a draft variation of the
PSPO (once made) to include the land identified by Hemyock for
consideration for consultation
Financial Implications: Whilst a consequence of enforcement may be an increase
in Fixed Penalty Notices, income generation is not the reason for introducing a new
PSPO. New signage will need procuring to enable enforcement for all areas listed
within the Schedules. Where possible we will recycle old signage to reduce costs.
Budget and Policy Framework: The Council had measures in place to control dogs
under Dog Control Orders made under the Clean Neighbourhood and Environment
Act 2005. These became PSPOs (under transitional provisions in the Anti-social
Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014) but expired on the 19th of October 2020.
The making of the revised PSPO is to ensure approved measures to control dogs.
Legal Implications: The revised PSPO is designed to curb anti-social behaviour
arising from dog fouling and other matters which is to be set out in the revised
PSPO. The Explanatory Notes for the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act
2014 explain that “the term “anti-social behaviour” describes the everyday nuisance,
disorder and crime that has a huge impact on victims’ quality of life.” Further it states
that “much of what is described as anti-social behaviour is criminal (for example,
vandalism, graffiti, aggressive begging and people being drunk or rowdy in public),
but current legislation also provides a range of civil powers, … these offer an
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

1 23
Page

alternative to criminal prosecution and give the police and other agencies the ability
to deal with the cumulative impact of an individual’s behaviour, rather than focus on
a specific offence. Any PSPO approved by the Council is for a period of no more
than 3 years.
Risk Assessment: While no PSPO is in place the Council is at risk of not being able
to enforce infringements which could result in reputational damage for not taking
appropriate action against offenders. The Council will also be at risk of not meeting
statutory duties such as under Section 89 of the Environment Protection Act 1990 to
ensure that land is clear of litter which includes dog waste
Equality Impact Assessment: An updated EIA can be found at Appendix D.
Relationship to Corporate Plan: The Street Scene Enforcement Service is a
frontline service which works throughout the District ensuring cleanliness and
attractiveness of our public realm through both education and enforcement.
Impact on Climate Change: A PSPO requires or prohibits certain activities from
taking place in certain places (restricted areas) in order to prevent or reduce any
detrimental effect caused by those activities to local surroundings and people.
Further, reduced levels of dog related anti-social behaviour improve the desirability
of our open spaces.

1.0

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council made Dog Control Orders under the Clean Neighbourhood and
Environment Act 2005. These became PSPOs under transitional provisions in
the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, but these PSPOs
automatically expired on the 19th October 2020.

1.2

A previous draft PSPO in relation to dogs, with the approval of the Cabinet
and on the recommendation of the Environment PDG, went out for public
consultation from 12th May 2020 to 17th July 2020

1.3

After the consultation ended a Special meeting of the Environment PDG, was
held on the 19th October 2020. Members raised a number of concerns about
the draft PSPO including that the plans submitted with the draft PSPO
contained errors. It recommended to the Cabinet that the draft PSPO be
redrafted to take account of the public consultation responses and on additional
areas proposed before it went out again for further public consultation. The
Cabinet on the 29th October 2020 endorsed this recommendation.

1.4

A revised PSPO was sent to a Special meeting of the Environment PDG on
13th April 2021 and then to Cabinet on the 13th May 2021. Authority was
granted to consult with members of the public and other relevant stakeholders to
introduce the revised PSPO, with the fixed penalty for breach of the PSPO to be
set at the maximum level permitted of £100. A copy of the revised PSPO can be
found at Appendix A.

1.5

The revised PSPO went out to public consultation from 21 st May 2021 to 18th
June 2021

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page2 24

1.6

This Report sets out a summary of the provisions of the revised PSPO that
went out for consultation, a review of the relevant considerations involved in
deciding whether to bring the revised PSPO into force and a review of the
responses to the consultation.

2.0 SUMMARY OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE REVISED PSPO (APPENDIX A)
2.1 Prohibiting dog fouling
The revised PSPO prohibits dog fouling in all areas within the District of Mid
Devon defined as “Public Spaces”. The term “Public Spaces” is defined at clause
1.1 of the revised PSPO to mean land within the District of Mid Devon, which is
open to the air including covered land which is open on at least one side and to
which the public are entitled and permitted to have access, with or without
payment, with the exception of Forestry Commission Land
Clause 5.1.1 of the revised PSPO provides that in any Public Space if a dog
defecates at any time the person in charge of the dog must remove the faeces
from the land forthwith
Clause 5.1.2 of the revised PSPO provides that a person in charge of a dog must
have the appropriate means to pick up the faeces and must produce this if
required to do so by an authorised officer or a police constable.
The local authority provides bins in parks and many other public areas which may
be used by dog owners. If there is not a bin around, it should be taken home for
disposal.

2.2 Dog on Leads
Clause 6 of the revised PSPO deals with the requirement of dogs on leads.
Dogs must be on leads if any of the following apply:
(a) In any public cemeteries or churchyards which are listed in Schedule B to
the revised PSPO and shown on the relevant plans to the revised PSPO.
(b) In any public parks which are listed in Schedule C to the revised PSPO
and shown on the relevant plans to the revised PSPO.
(c) If requested by an authorised officer or a police constable where
reasonably necessary to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog likely to
cause alarm, distress or disturbance to any other person or animal or bird on
the land.

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

3 25
Page

2.3 Excluding Dogs from enclosed play areas

Clause 7 of the revised PSPO excludes dogs from enclosed play areas, which
are listed in Schedule D and shown on the relevant plans to the revised PSPO.

2.4 Limit on the number of dogs
Clause 8 of the revised PSPO limits the number of dogs a person can be in
control of in a Public Space to 6 dogs.
2.5 Exemptions
Clause 10 sets out certain exemptions. These cover those needing assistance
dogs or with some form of disability which might prevent them from complying with
the revised PSPO. There are also exemptions for certain working dogs i.e. those
involved in law enforcement, military duties, statutory emergency services and
search/rescue and those using a working dog for agricultural activities or exempt
hunting as set out in Schedule 1 of the Hunting Act 2004.

2.6 Offences
Clause 9 sets out that breach of any of the requirements or prohibitions listed
above would constitute a criminal offence which could be prosecuted. Instead of
prosecution the Council can issue a FPN as an alternative. The proposed fixed
penalty of £100 is designed to maximise the deterrent. If payment of the fixed
penalty is made within 14 days from the date of the FPN the penalty is reduced to
£50. If there is a refusal to pay the fixed penalty, the case may be taken to court,
and on conviction a fine of up to £1000 could be imposed.

2.7 Defences to offences under clauses 5, 6, 7 and 8
Offences under these clauses will not be committed if:
(a) A person has a reasonable excuse
(b) A person has permission from the owner of the land
(c) A person is exempt under clause 10

SCHEDULE A of the Revised PSPO refers to a Map of District shown on Plan 1 to
the PSPO
SCHEDULE B of the Revised PSPO has the following list of the Cemeteries and
Churchyards shown on the respective plans attached to the Revised PSPO
Plan 2 – All Saints Church Cemetery, Culmstock
Plan 3 – Cemetery, Black Dog
Plan 4 – Burial Ground, Cheriton Fitzpaine
Plan 5 – St Matthew’s Church, Cheriton Fitzpaine
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page4 26

Plan 6 – Methodist Cemetery, Copplestone
Plan 7 – St John the Baptist Church, Cove, Tiverton
Plan 8 – Cemetery, Crediton
Plan 9 - Cemetery, Cullompton
Plan 10 – Cemetery, Culmstock
Plan 11 – Cemetery, Halberton
Plan 12 – Cemetery, Hemyock
Plan 13 – St Andrew’s Church Cemetery, Colebrooke
Plan 14 – St Andrew’s Church Cemetery, Cullompton
Plan 15 – St George’s Church, Tiverton
Plan 16 – St Mary’s Church Cemetery, Hemyock
Plan 17 – St Mary’s Church Cemetery, Uffculme
Plan 18 – St Mary’s Church, Willand
Plan 19 – Cemetery, Tiverton
Plan 20 – Cemetery, Uffculme
Plan 21 – Cemetery, Wembworthy
Plan 22 – Cemetery, Willand

SCHEDULE C of the Revised PSPO has the following list of Public Parks shown on
the respective plans attached to the Revised PSPO
Plan 23 – Skate park, Lords Meadow, Crediton
Plan 24 – Newcombes Meadow, Crediton
Plan 25 – Skate park, Meadow Lane, Cullompton
Plan 26 – Ploudal Road Play Area, Cullompton
Plan 27 – Logan Way, Hemyock
Plan 28 – Amory Park, Tiverton
Plan 29 – Skate park, Bolham Road, Tiverton
Plan 30 – Marley Close, Tiverton
Plan 31 – People’s Park, Tiverton
Plan 32 – Priory Road, Tiverton
Plan 33 - Westexe Recreation Ground, Tiverton
Plan 34 – Play Area, Westleigh
Plan 35 - Recreation Ground (Jubilee Field), Gables Road, Willand
Plan 36 – Victoria Close, Willand

SCHEDULE D of the Revised PSPO has the following list of Enclosed Play Areas
shown on the respective plans attached to the Revised PSPO
Plan 37 – Recreation Ground, Morebath Road, Bampton
Plan 38 - Play Area, Station Road, Bampton
Plan 39 - Play Area, Godfrey Gardens, Bow
Plan 40 - Play Area, Iter Park, Bow
Plan 41 - Play Area, St Martins Close, Bow
Plan 42 - Play Area, Village Hall, Bow
Plan 43 - Play Area, Barnes Close, Bradninch
Plan 44 - Play Area, Townlands, Bradninch
Plan 45 - Play Area, Bray Close, Burlescombe
Plan 46 - Play Area, Chawleigh
Plan 47 - Recreation Ground, Chawleigh
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

5 27
Page

Plan 48 - Play Area, Glebelands, Cheriton Bishop
Plan 49 - Play Area, Landboat View, Cheriton Fitzpaine
Plan 50 - Play Area, Coleford
Plan 51 - Play Area, Fernworthy Park, Copplestone
Plan 52 - Play Area, Sunnymead, Copplestone
Plan 53 - Play Area, Barnfield, Crediton
Plan 54 - Play Area, Beacon Park, Crediton
Plan 55 - Play Area, Beech Park, Crediton
Plan 56 - Play Area, Cromwells Meadow, Crediton
Plan 57 - Play Area, Fulda Crescent, Crediton
Plan 58 - Play Area, Kirton Drive, Crediton
Plan 59 - Play Area, Lords Meadow, Crediton
Plan 60 - Play Area, Monks Close, Crediton
Plan 61 - Play Area, Newcombes Meadow, Crediton
Plan 62 - Play Area, Queen Elizabeth Drive, Crediton
Plan 63 - Play Area, Spinning Path Gardens, Crediton
Plan 64 - Play Area, Tuckers Meadow, Crediton
Plan 65 - Play Area, Walnut Drive, Crediton
Plan 66 - Play Area, Ash Drive, Cullompton
Plan 67 - Play Area, Bockland Close, Cullompton
Plan 68 - Play Area, Bullfinch Close, Cullompton
Plan 69 - Play Area, Chaffinch Drive, Cullompton
Plan 70 - Play Area, Conifer Close, Cullompton
Plan 71 - Play Area, Crossparks, Cullompton
Plan 72 - Play Area, Dove Close, Cullompton
Plan 73 - Play Area, Hanover Gardens, Cullompton
Plan 74 - Play Area, Haymans Close, Cullompton
Plan 75 - Play Area, Haymans Green, Cullompton
Plan 76 - Play Area, Headweir Road, Cullompton
Plan 77 - Play Area, Knightswood, Cullompton
Plan 78 - Play Area, Linden Road, Cullompton
Plan 79 - Play Area, Linear Park, Cullompton
Plan 80 - Play Area, Rivermead, Cullompton
Plan 81 - Play Area, Saxon Close, Cullompton
Plan 82 - Play Area, Siskin Chase, Cullompton
Plan 83 - Play Area, Spindlebury, Cullompton
Plan 84 - Play Area, Starlings Roost, Cullompton
Plan 85 - Play Area, Stoneyford, Cullompton
Plan 86 - Play Area, Tufty Park, Cullompton
Plan 87 - Play Area, Water Meadow, Cullompton
Plan 88 - Play Area, Windsor Close, Cullompton
Plan 89 - Play Area, Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock
Plan 90 - Play Area, Lower Town Halberton
Plan 91 - Play Area, Hollingarth Way, Hemyock
Plan 92 - Play Area, Logan Way, Hemyock
Plan 93 - Play Area, Longmead, Hemyock
Plan 94 - Play Area, Millhayes, Hemyock
Plan 95 - Play Area, Holcombe Rogus
Plan 96 - Play Area, Church Close, Lapford
Plan 97 - Play Area, Greenaway, Morchard Bishop
Plan 98 - Play Area, Wood Lane, Morchard Bishop
Plan 99 - Recreation Ground, Oakford
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page6 28

Plan 100 - Play Area, Puddington
Plan 101 - Play Area, Cornlands, Sampford Peverell
Plan 102 - Play Area, Mill Lane, Sandford
Plan 103 – Play Area, Newbuildings Sandford
Plan 104 - Play Area, Town Barton, Sandford
Plan 105 - Recreation Ground, School Close, Shobrooke
Plan 106 - Play Area, Silverton
Plan 107 - Skate park, Silverton
Plan 108 - Play Area, Ellerhayes, Silverton
Plan 109 - Play Area, Amory Park, Tiverton
Plan 110 - Play Area, Ashley Rise, Tiverton
Plan 111 - Play Area, Banskia Close, Tiverton
Plan 112 - Play Area, Coles Mead, Tiverton
Plan 113 - Play Area, Everett Place, Tiverton
Plan 114 - Play Area, Grand Western Canal, Canal Hill, Tiverton
Plan 115 - Play Area, Hawthorne Road, Tiverton
Plan 116 - Play Area, Orchard Leigh, Tiverton
Plan 117 - Play Area, Palmerston Park, Tiverton
Plan 118 - Play Area, Popham Close, Tiverton
Plan 119 - Play Area, Spencer Drive. Tiverton
Plan 120 - Play Area, Starkey Close, Tiverton
Plan 121 - Play Area, Trickey Close, Tiverton
Plan 122 - Play Area, Waylands Road, Tiverton
Plan 123 - Play Area, Westexe Recreation Ground, Tiverton
Plan 124 - Play Area, Wilcombe, Tiverton
Plan 125 - Play Area, Culm Valley Way, Uffculme
Plan 126 - Play Area, Recreation Ground, Highland Terrace, Uffculme
Plan 127 - Play Area, Pathfields, Uffculme
Plan 128 - Play Area, Pippins Field, Uffculme
Plan 129 - Play Area, Wembworthy
Plan 130 - Play Area, Buttercup Road, Willand
Plan 131 - Play Area, Chestnut Drive, Willand
Plan 132 - Play Area, Gables Lea, Willand
Plan 133 - Play Area, Harpitt Close, Willand
Plan 134 - Play Area, Mallow Court, Willand
Plan 135 - Play Area, South View, Willand
Plan 136 - Play Area, The Orchards, Willand
Plan 137 - Play Area, Worcester Crescent, Willand

3.0 REVIEW OF CONSIDERATIONS INVOLVED IN DECIDING WHETHER TO
BRING THE REVISED PSPO INTO FORCE
3.1

Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Section 59) a
local authority may make a PSPO if satisfied on reasonable grounds that the
following two conditions have been met:


The activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have
had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality or it is
likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area and
that they will have such an effect, and

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

7 29
Page



3.2

The effect or likely effect of the activities are to be of a persistent or
continuing nature, such as to make the activities unreasonable and
justifying any restrictions imposed in the PSPO.

Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 the Council received 70 correctly
completed reports of antisocial behaviour relating to dogs:




51 dog fouling reports
18 dog on dog/person reports
1 nuisance behaviour report

3.3

Responsible dog ownership enforcement via a PSPO will aid the reduction of
risk to the general public of diseases such as toxocariasis from dog faeces;
freedom from potential animal attacks and safeguarding the public and wildlife
via the 'dogs on a lead' elements.

3.4

Any requirements or prohibitions that are to be imposed must be both
reasonable to impose and aimed at preventing or reducing the risk of the
detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring.

3.5

The decision to make a PSPO is discretionary but the consequence of not
having a PSPO may lead to a small percentage of irresponsible dog owners
allowing their dogs to run out of control and not picking up after them. This is
likely to have an effect on the quality of life of others using the public spaces.

3.6

One of the advantages to having a PSPO in place is that if there is an offence
of failing to comply with a requirement or prohibition then the offender may be
given a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN); if the FPN is not paid then the offender
may be prosecuted.

3.7

This can be contrasted with the alternative of using a Community Protection
Notice (“CPN”). The purpose of a CPN is similar to a PSPO, which is to stop a
person aged 16 or over, business or organisation committing anti-social
behaviour which spoils the community’s quality of life, however the use of a
CPN is considered problematic in the context of dog control.

3.8

Prior to the issue of a CPN a written warning must be issued to the individual
concerned that if they do not stop the anti-social behaviour i.e. their dog
fouling, they could be issued with a CPN. Only if the dog fouling happens
again on a separate occasion can a CPN be issued. If the dog fouling then
happens again on another separate occasion, in breach of the CPN, an
offence is committed and a FPN can be issued. It is submitted that the public
would be concerned if a FPN could only be issued on the third occasion of the
dog fouling.

3.9

Similar issues apply in using the Dogs Act 1871 in relation to dangerous dogs.
Civil proceedings that a dog is dangerous, and not kept under proper control
can be brought at a Magistrates’ Court and this can be done by the police,
local authorities, or individual members of the public. If the Magistrates are
satisfied that the complaint is justified they can make any order they feel
appropriate to require the owner to ensure that the dog is kept under proper
control or in extreme cases destroyed. This type of action is usually only

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page8 30

appropriate for serious cases and is time consuming involving court hearings
which can take considerable time to arrange.
3.10

There are other criminal offences that can be prosecuted under the Town
Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 (as amended) in
relation to dogs out of control and dangerous dogs. Such prosecutions would
be time consuming and expensive.

3.11

A check of the websites of Devon district councils as well as the unitary
council Plymouth, reveal the following:



6 of the 8 district councils report on their website they have a dog
control PSPO.
Plymouth Council reports on its website it has a dog control PSPO.

3.12 It should be noted that in the revised PSPO, the number of areas subject to
the requirement of dogs on leads has been reduced from 50 as per the
previous draft PSPO to 14. This means that there are more areas available
where dogs will be allowed to be off their leads.
3.13 This change is to reflect the first public consultation response in relation to the
question of whether the public agree that dogs should be kept on leads in the
named public parks. The response was 50.22% against the question. Officers
recognise that under the Animal Welfare Act 2006 dog owners are required to
provide for the welfare needs of their dogs and that in most cases this will
include off-lead exercise
3.14 This reduction in areas subject to dogs on leads control has resulted in more
localities being available in the District for dogs to be exercised freely. These
areas do not require dogs to be on leads unless requested by an authorised
officer or a police constable where reasonably necessary to prevent a
nuisance or behaviour by the dog likely to cause alarm, distress or
disturbance to any other person or animal or bird on the land.
3.15 There are also some dog runs in the District for example:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
3.16

Beacon Park, Crediton
Bluebell Avenue, Tiverton
Cottey Brook, Tiverton
Crow Bridge, Cullompton
Glebelands Road, Tiverton
The land at Moorhayes adjacent to Lea Road, Tiverton
Mountbatten Road, Tiverton
People’s Park, Crediton
Railway Walk Tiverton
River Exe Recreation Ground, Tiverton
The Oval, Tiverton
Knighthayes, Tiverton
CCA Fields, Cullompton

As summarised above Clause 8 of the revised PSPO limits the number of
dogs a person can be in control of in a Public Space to 6 dogs.

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

9 31
Page

3.17

The previous draft PSPO provided that only 4 dogs could be walked by any
one person. The revised PSPO allows for 6 dogs to be walked at any one
time. This figure takes into account the feedback given by Members at both
the Environment PDG and Cabinet meetings, and in some of the responses to
the first public consultation, about professional dog walkers being prejudiced
by a lower number.
DEFRA has stated in its official guidance (“Dealing with irresponsible dog
ownership Practitioner’s manual”) that “[w]hen setting the maximum number
of dogs able to be walked by one person, the most important factor for
authorities to consider is the maximum number of dogs which a person can
control; expert advice is that this should not exceed six”.
The Dogs Trust “Professional Dog Walkers’ Guidelines” states that the
maximum number of dogs that can be walked at any one time should not
exceed the number stated in the walker’s insurance policy and comply with
local authority requirements regarding the number of dogs. It is recommended
that no more than 4 dogs are walked at any one time. All dogs under a dog
walker’s care should be reliably under control at all times and transported in
accordance with the guidance in this document.

3.18

As summarised above the revised PSPO protects enclosed play areas by
prohibiting dogs. Officers consider that this approach is justified as children
are more susceptible to diseases from exposure to faeces and urine from
dogs. Similarly it is felt that young children are more at risk of injury from
dogs. This is because young children will naturally be excited whilst playing
which may provoke a reaction from dogs in the area. The consequences of a
dog attack on a young child is likely to be more severe than on an adult.

4.0

HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

In deciding whether to make a PSPO, the Act says councils must have
particular regard to the rights of freedom of expression and freedom of
assembly set out in Articles 10 and 11 of the European Convention on Human
Rights. The need to “have particular regard” to Articles 10 and 11 suggests
that Parliament, in passing the Act, has sought to give these rights an
elevated status in relation to deciding whether to make a PSPO.

4.2

PSPOs are a powerful remedy because they affect the behaviour of every
person within a specified area rather than being targeted at individuals. For
this reason the Council will need to ensure that they balance the need to
tackle anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder against the desire and
entitlement of the public to use a public space.
Article 10: freedom of expression
1. Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include
freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas
without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This
article shall not prevent States from requiring the licensing of broadcasting,
television or cinema enterprises.

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page1032

2. The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or
penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society,
in the interests of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, for the
prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, for the
protection of the reputation or rights of others, for preventing the disclosure of
information received in confidence, or for maintaining the authority and
impartiality of the judiciary
Article 11: freedom of assembly and association
1. Everyone has the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and to freedom of
association with others, including the right to form and to join trade unions for
the protection of his interests.
2. No restrictions shall be placed on the exercise of these rights other than
such as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society in
the interests of national security or public safety, for the prevention of disorder
or crime, for the protection of health or morals or for the protection of the
rights and freedoms of others. This article shall not prevent the imposition of
lawful restrictions on the exercise of these rights by members of the armed
forces, of the police or of the administration of the State
4.3

Officers submit that making the revised PSPO will not unnecessarily interfere
with what would otherwise be legitimate and lawful activity and that the
revised PSPO does balance the need to tackle anti-social behaviour
associated with dogs against the desire and entitlement of the public to use a
public space.

5.0

2021 CONSULTATION

5.1

The consultation revised PSPO went out to public consultation from 21st May
2021 to 18th June 2021.

5.2

The following were stakeholders were consulted:














All Parish & Town Councils in Mid Devon
Chief Constable of Devon & Cornwall Police
The Police & Crime Commissioner
All neighbouring Local Authorities
Operational Managers of all Council departments within Mid Devon District
Council
Community Centres
Members of Parliament whose constituencies include part of the Mid
Devon District
All Councillors
Ramblers & Walking Groups
Animal Welfare Groups
The Kennel Club
Boarding Kennels within the Mid Devon District
Sports Clubs

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

11 33
Page


5.3

Members of the public

The consultation included the opening and closing dates of when consultees
could respond to the consultee, via:





Letter
Mid Devon District Council’s website
Newspaper Advert
Email

For those who could not access the internet, other options were advertised,
such as the option to send a letter. Officers also undertook direct consultation
in the areas listed within the Schedules during the consultation period to
ensure views from users were captured by providing a QR code to enable
direct access to the consultation page on the Council website and a phone
number for the customer services call centre. A hard copy of the revised
PSPO and maps was also available at the front desk of Phoenix House which
could be viewed by appointment.
5.4

The purpose of the consultation was to seek views on the Council’s intention
to implement a PSPO in relation to dog controls within the Mid Devon District
Council boundary. A breakdown of the responses is set out below in section
6 of this Report, but specific comments from the responses are to be found in
the spreadsheet accompanying this Report at Appendix B.

5.5

A summary of the stakeholders’ responses can be found at Appendix C.

6. 0 CONSULTATION RESULTS
6.1

Part A – Dog fouling
In respect of the proposed controls in the revised PSPO



You must pick up your dog’s faeces, and
You must always have something to pick up the faeces with, e.g. bags,
and produce evidence of this if asked by an Enforcement Officer or the
police.

The responses can be broken down as follows:-

Q1 Do you agree that those in charge of a dog (owners and walkers), should pick
up their dog’s faeces in Public Places (as defined)?
Number
187
2

YES
NO

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page1234

Percentage
99%
1%

Q2 Do you agree that every person in charge of a dog (owners and walkers)
should carry sufficient appropriate means e.g. bags to pick up after the dog?
Number Percentage
185
98%
3
2%

YES
NO

6.2

Part B – Dogs on leads
In respect of the proposed controls in the revised PSPO:




Dogs to be on leads In public cemeteries which are listed in Schedule B to
the revised PSPO
Dogs to be leads in public parks which are listed in Schedule C to the
revised PSPO
Dogs to be on leads if requested by an authorised officer or a police
constable

The responses can be broken down as follows:Q3a

Do you agree that dogs should be kept on leads In the named public
cemeteries?
Number Percentage
125
80%

YES
Q3b

Do you agree that dogs should be kept on leads? In the named public parks

Number Percentage
106
69%

YES

Q3c

Do you agree that dogs should be kept on leads If requested by an
Enforcement Officer or the Police??
Number Percentage
102
73%

YES

6.3

Part C – Excluding dogs from children’s play areas
In respect of the proposed control in the revised PSPO that dogs should be
excluded from the enclosed play areas listed in Schedule D to the revised
PSPO the response can be broken down as follows:

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

13 35
Page

Q4 Do you agree that dogs should be excluded from the enclosed play areas
identified at Schedule D to the Order?
Number
YES
NO

6.4

169
19

Percentage
90%
10%

Part D – Limit on the number of dogs
In respect of the proposed control in the revised PSPO that a limit should be
set on the number of dogs under the control of the owner/walker the
responses are broken down as follows:Q5 Do you agree that a limit should be set on the number of dogs under the control of
the owner/walker when in Public Spaces?
Number

Percentage

YES

161

86%

NO

27

14%

Number

Percentage
42%
58%

Q6 Do you agree that the limit should be set at 6 dogs?
YES
NO

79
107

In relation to the Q6 specific comments in Appendix B Members will note that
the public disagree quite strongly with the limit being set at 6 dogs.

6.5

Part E – Additional questions

Q7 Are there any adverse impacts to the proposals which you wish highlight
Number
YES
Skipped question

87
103

Percentage
46%
54%

Q8 The draft Order says dogs should be kept on leads in public parks identified in the
Order at Schedule C. Do you think that this restriction should apply only during
specific times or periods for the parks identified in the Order at Schedule C?
For example: (1) the restriction of dogs on lead in the park only applies during the
period 1 April to 30 September inclusive or
(2) the restriction that dogs must be on lead applies only between the hours of 10:00
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page1436

to 18:00 hours
Number

Percentage

YES

50

27%

Skipped

136

73%

Q9 Following on from Q8 which restriction would you consider to be more appropriate?
SEASONAL RESTRICTION/TIME RESTRICTION.
Number
YES
Skipped

18
63

Percentage
22%
78%

Q10 Feedback from the first consultation suggested that increased education would
reduce dog fouling with the District. Do you agree with this view?
If YES, can you give details of the sort of education you think would be effective?
Number

Percentage

YES

95

51%

NO

92

49%

Number

Q11 Do you own or walk dogs?
YES

113

Percentage
61%

NO

72

39%

Number

Percentage
63%
37%

Q12 Do you walk dogs in Mid Devon?
YES
NO

116
69

7.0

ENFORCEMENT

7.1

If the revised PSPO is made, consideration will also need to be given to
enforcement as there will be raised expectations from the public which will
need to be managed. A stepped and proportionate approach to sanctions will
need to be developed. The Council’s enforcement policy must be followed in
all instances.

7.2

If the amount of time spent on statutory and mandatory duties remains
unchanged a total of 300 discretionary annual hours will be allocated to
discretionary duties such as litter enforcement, compulsory recycling,
Cleansing inspections and dog fouling patrols.

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

15 37
Page

Duties

Allocation of Time

Compulsory Recycling
Cleansing Inspections
Litter Patrols
Dog Fouling Patrols

40%
10%
40%
10%

7.3

Although the PSPO is made by the Council, enforcement should be the
responsibility of a wider group. Council officers will be able to enforce the
restrictions and requirements. In addition, police officers and PCSOs will have
the ability to enforce the PSPO.

8.0

CONCLUSION

8.1

Officers submit that the revised PSPO, if made, will introduce a range of
reasonable and proportionate prohibitions and requirements on the use of
publicly accessible land that would better control the activities of irresponsible
dog owners whilst enabling responsible dog owners to continue to exercise
their dogs without undue restrictions. The consultation exercise has revealed
widespread support for the measures.

Contact for more Information: Vicky Lowman Environment & Enforcement Manager
(01884 244601 vlowman@middevon.gov.uk)
Circulation of the Report: Cllr Colin Slade, Cabinet, Leadership Team
Appendix A - Revised PSPO and Schedules
Appendix B - 2021 Consultation specific responses summary
Appendix C - 2021 Consultation summary of the Stakeholder responses
Appendix D - Equality Impact Assessment

List of relevant documents:
Maps for schedules
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/your-council/consultation-involvement/pastconsultations/
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces
Protection Orders) Regulations 2014
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2591/contents/made
NHS information on Toxocariasis
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/toxocariasis/
Keep Britain Tidy information on Dog Fouling Issues
MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

Page1638

https://www.keepbritaintidy.org/sites/default/files/resource/Keep%20Britain%20Tidy
%20Policy%20Position_Dog%20Fouling.pdf
Local Government Association - Public Spaces Protection Orders – Guidance for
Councils
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.21%20PSPO%20guidance
_06_1.pdf
DEFRA Dealing with irresponsible dog ownership Practitioner’s manual (Oct 2014)
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/373429/dog-ownership-practitioners-manual-201411.pdf
Dogs Trust Professional Dog Walkers’ Guidelines
https://www.dogstrust.org.uk/newsevents/news/dog%20walking%20guide%20online.pdf

MDDC Report: Public Spaces Protection Order
V2

17 39
Page

This page is intentionally left blank

The Mid Devon (Public Spaces Protection)
(Dog Control) Order 2021
Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime
and Policing Act 2014

Page 41

Contents
1. Introduction
2. Scope
3. Duration
4. Title
5. Dog Fouling
6. Dog on Leads
7. Dogs Excluded (Enclosed Play Areas)
8. Limit on number of dogs
9. Offences and Penalties
10. Exemptions
11. Appeal
12. Validity (Severance)

Page 42

Introduction
Pursuant to Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
Mid Devon District Council (in this Order called “the Council”), in exercise of its powers
under Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) and
of all other enabling powers, after consultation carried out in accordance with the Act, and
being satisfied that uncontrolled and irresponsible dog walking in public places has a
detrimental effect on the quality of life of the local community and that the conditions set out
in Section 59 of the Act are met, hereby makes the following Order.
1.

Definitions and Interpretation

1.1

In the following provisions of this Order, the following terms shall have the meanings
hereby respectively ascribed to them:“Authorised Officer” means a person who is authorised in writing by the Council for the
purposes of this Order
“District of Mid Devon” means the land shown edge red on the plan marked “District”
and referred to in Schedule A
“Person in Charge” means the person who has the dog in his possession, care or
company at the time the offence is committed or otherwise, the owner or person who
habitually has the dog in his possession
“Plans” means the plans attached to the Schedules to this Order
“Police Constable” means any person lawfully designated and authorised by a Chief
Officer of Police to exercise the powers and duties of a Police Constable
“Public Spaces” means land within the District of Mid Devon, which is open to the air
including covered land which is open on at least one side and to which the public are
entitled and permitted to have access, with or without payment, with the exception of
Forestry Commission Land

1.2

Except when the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural and viceversa; and the masculine includes the feminine and vice-versa.

1.3

Reference to an Act of Parliament, statutory provision or statutory instrument includes
a reference to that Act of Parliament, statutory provision or statutory instrument as
amended, extended or re-enacted from time to time and to any regulations made
under it.

1.4 References to articles and Schedules are to the Articles and Schedules of this Order.
1.5

Where land is listed in a Schedule the location and extent of the land is shown in the
corresponding Plan referred to in the Schedule.

2.

Scope

This Order applies to the Public Spaces, public parks, public cemeteries and churchyards
and enclosed play areas cited in this Order within the District of Mid Devon, and shown on
the plans to Schedules A, B, C and D hereto.

Page 43

3.

Duration

This Order shall come into effect on [
] 2021 and shall remain in force for a period of 3
years from this date, unless extended by further orders made under the Council’s statutory
powers.
4.

Title

This Order may be cited as “The Mid Devon (Public Spaces Protection) (Dog Control) Order
2021”
5.

Dog Fouling

5.1

In any Public Spaces -

5.1.1

If a dog defecates at any time, the Person in Charge must remove the faeces from
the land forthwith; and

5.1.2

A Person in Charge of a dog must have with them an appropriate means to pick up
any faeces deposited by that dog, and must produce this if requested to do so by an
Authorised Officer or Police Constable.

5.2

For the purposes of Article 5.1.1 -

5.2.1

Placing the faeces in a receptacle on the land which is provided for the purpose or
for the disposal of waste, shall be sufficient removal from the land; and

5.2.2

Being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the vicinity or
otherwise), or not having a suitable device or means of removing the faeces shall
not be a reasonable excuse for failing to remove the faeces.

6.

Dogs on Leads

6.1

In any public cemetery or churchyard or part of it listed in Schedule B to this Order,
any Person in Charge of a dog, at any time, must put and keep the dog on a lead and
under proper control.

6.2

In any public park listed in Schedule C to this Order any Person in Charge of a dog, at
any time, must put and keep the dog on a lead and under proper control.

6.3

Subject to Articles 6.1 and 6.2 in all Public Spaces a Person in Charge of a dog, at any
time, must put and keep the dog on a lead and keep it under proper control when
directed to do so by an Authorised Officer or Police Constable.

6.4

For the purposes of Article 6.3, an Authorised Officer or Police Constable shall only
give a direction to put and keep a dog on a lead if such restraint is reasonably
necessary to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog likely to cause alarm,
distress or disturbance to any other person or animal or bird on the land.

7.

Dogs Excluded (Enclosed Play Areas)

A Person in Charge of a dog is prohibited from taking that dog onto, or permitting the dog to
enter or remain on any enclosed play area listed in Schedule D to this Order.

Page 44

8. Limit on number of dogs.
No person in any Public Spaces shall be in charge of more than 6 dogs at any time. This
Article does not apply to enclosed play areas referred to in Article 7 as dogs are prohibited
from the said enclosed play areas.

9

Offences and Penalties

9.1

Any failure to comply with the requirements or prohibitions imposed in Articles 5, 6, 7
and 8 of this Order shall constitute a criminal offence, unless:

9.1.1

The person has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so;

9.1.2

The owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land has
consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so; or

9.1.3

The person is exempt under Article 10 of this Order.

9.2

Any person guilty of an offence under this Order shall be liable, on summary
conviction, to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (on the date of this
Order, this is set at £1,000).

9.3

A Fixed Penalty Notice may be issued by an Authorised Officer or Police Constable to
anyone believed to have committed an offence under this Order. The Fixed Penalty
shall be £100.00. Payment of the Fixed Penalty of £50.00 within 14 days from the
date of the Fixed Penalty Notice will discharge the liability for prosecution.

10.

Exemptions

10.1 The requirements and prohibitions imposed by this Order shall not apply to any person
who:
10.1.1

is registered as blind, sight or hearing impaired under the National Assistance Act
1948, or any other legislation;

10.1.2

has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical coordination, or
ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a dog trained
by a registered charity and upon which he relies for assistance;

10.2.3

is using a working dog for purposes of law enforcement, military duties or statutory
emergency services (search and rescue); or

10.2.4

is using a working dog for agricultural activities or exempt hunting as set out in
Schedule 1 of the Hunting Act 2004.

11.

Appeal

Any interested person (defined as an individual who lives in the restricted area or who
regularly works in or visits that area) may question the validity of this Order, pursuant to
Section 66 of the Act, on application made to the High Court within 6 weeks from the date of
the Order.
12.

Validity (Severance)

Page 45

If any provision of this Order is held invalid or unenforceable for any reason by a court of
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be severed and the remainder of the provisions
of the Order shall continue in full force and effect as if the Order had been executed with the
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision eliminated.

THE COMMON SEAL OF Mid Devon District Council
was hereunto affixed
in the presence of:-

Authorised Signatory

Page 46

THE SCHEDULES
List of Plans

SCHEDULE A

District of Mid Devon

Plan 1 – Map of District

SCHEDULE B

Public Cemeteries and Churchyards

Plan 2 – All Saints Church Cemetery, Culmstock
Plan 3 – Cemetery, Black Dog
Plan 4 – Burial Ground, Cheriton Fitzpaine
Plan 5 – St Matthew’s Church, Cheriton Fitzpaine
Plan 6 – Methodist Cemetery, Copplestone
Plan 7 – St John the Baptist Church, Cove, Tiverton
Plan 8 – Cemetery, Crediton
Plan 9 - Cemetery, Cullompton
Plan 10 – Cemetery, Culmstock
Plan 11 – Cemetery, Halberton
Plan 12 – Cemetery, Hemyock
Plan 13 – St Andrew’s Church Cemetery, Colebrooke
Plan 14 – St Andrew’s Church Cemetery, Cullompton
Plan 15 – St George’s Church, Tiverton
Plan 16 – St Mary’s Church Cemetery, Hemyock
Plan 17 – St Mary’s Church Cemetery, Uffculme
Plan 18 – St Mary’s Church, Willand
Plan 19 – Cemetery, Tiverton
Plan 20 – Cemetery, Uffculme
Plan 21 – Cemetery, Wembworthy
Plan 22 – Cemetery, Willand

Page 47

SCHEDULE C

Public Parks

Plan 23 – Skate park, Lords Meadow, Crediton
Plan 24 – Newcombes Meadow, Crediton
Plan 25 – Skate park, Meadow Lane, Cullompton
Plan 26 – Ploudal Road Play Area, Cullompton
Plan 27 – Logan Way, Hemyock
Plan 28 – Amory Park, Tiverton
Plan 29 – Skate park, Bolham Road, Tiverton
Plan 30 – Marley Close, Tiverton
Plan 31 – People’s Park, Tiverton
Plan 32 – Priory Road, Tiverton
Plan 33 - Westexe Recreation Ground, Tiverton
Plan 34 – Play Area, Westleigh
Plan 35 - Recreation Ground (Jubilee Field), Gables Road, Willand
Plan 36 – Victoria Close, Willand

Page 48

SCHEDULE D

Enclosed Play Areas

Plan 37 – Recreation Ground, Morebath Road, Bampton
Plan 38 - Play Area, Station Road, Bampton
Plan 39 - Play Area, Godfrey Gardens, Bow
Plan 40 - Play Area, Iter Park, Bow
Plan 41 - Play Area, St Martins Close, Bow
Plan 42 - Play Area, Village Hall, Bow
Plan 43 - Play Area, Barnes Close, Bradninch
Plan 44 - Play Area, Townlands, Bradninch
Plan 45 - Play Area, Bray Close, Burlescombe
Plan 46 - Play Area, Chawleigh
Plan 47 - Recreation Ground, Chawleigh
Plan 48 - Play Area, Glebelands, Cheriton Bishop
Plan 49 - Play Area, Landboat View, Cheriton Fitzpaine
Plan 50 - Play Area, Coleford
Plan 51 - Play Area, Fernworthy Park, Copplestone
Plan 52 - Play Area, Sunnymead, Copplestone
Plan 53 - Play Area, Barnfield, Crediton
Plan 54 - Play Area, Beacon Park, Crediton
Plan 55 - Play Area, Beech Park, Crediton
Plan 56 - Play Area, Cromwells Meadow, Crediton
Plan 57 - Play Area, Fulda Crescent, Crediton
Plan 58 - Play Area, Kirton Drive, Crediton
Plan 59 - Play Area, Lords Meadow, Crediton
Plan 60 - Play Area, Monks Close, Crediton
Plan 61 - Play Area, Newcombes Meadow, Crediton
Plan 62 - Play Area, Queen Elizabeth Drive, Crediton
Plan 63 - Play Area, Spinning Path Gardens, Crediton
Plan 64 - Play Area, Tuckers Meadow, Crediton
Plan 65 - Play Area, Walnut Drive, Crediton
Plan 66 - Play Area, Ash Drive, Cullompton
Plan 67 - Play Area, Bockland Close, Cullompton
Plan 68 - Play Area, Bullfinch Close, Cullompton

Page 49

Plan 69 - Play Area, Chaffinch Drive, Cullompton
Plan 70 - Play Area, Conifer Close, Cullompton
Plan 71 - Play Area, Crossparks, Cullompton
Plan 72 - Play Area, Dove Close, Cullompton
Plan 73 - Play Area, Hanover Gardens, Cullompton
Plan 74 - Play Area, Haymans Close, Cullompton
Plan 75 - Play Area, Haymans Green, Cullompton
Plan 76 - Play Area, Headweir Road, Cullompton
Plan 77 - Play Area, Knightswood, Cullompton
Plan 78 - Play Area, Linden Road, Cullompton
Plan 79 - Play Area, Linear Park, Cullompton
Plan 80 - Play Area, Rivermead, Cullompton
Plan 81 - Play Area, Saxon Close, Cullompton
Plan 82 - Play Area, Siskin Chase, Cullompton
Plan 83 - Play Area, Spindlebury, Cullompton
Plan 84 - Play Area, Starlings Roost, Cullompton
Plan 85 - Play Area, Stoneyford, Cullompton
Plan 86 - Play Area, Tufty Park, Cullompton
Plan 87 - Play Area, Water Meadow, Cullompton
Plan 88 - Play Area, Windsor Close, Cullompton
Plan 89 - Play Area, Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock
Plan 90 - Play Area, Lower Town Halberton
Plan 91 - Play Area, Hollingarth Way, Hemyock
Plan 92 - Play Area, Logan Way, Hemyock
Plan 93 - Play Area, Longmead, Hemyock
Plan 94 - Play Area, Millhayes, Hemyock
Plan 95 - Play Area, Holcombe Rogus
Plan 96 - Play Area, Church Close, Lapford
Plan 97 - Play Area, Greenaway, Morchard Bishop
Plan 98 - Play Area, Wood Lane, Morchard Bishop
Plan 99 - Recreation Ground, Oakford
Plan 100 - Play Area, Puddington

Page 50

Plan 101 - Play Area, Cornlands, Sampford Peverell
Plan 102 - Play Area, Mill Lane, Sandford
Plan 103 – Play Area, Newbuildings Sandford
Plan 104 - Play Area, Town Barton, Sandford
Plan 105 - Recreation Ground, School Close, Shobrooke
Plan 106 - Play Area, Silverton
Plan 107 - Skate park, Silverton
Plan 108 - Play Area, Ellerhayes, Silverton
Plan 109 - Play Area, Amory Park, Tiverton
Plan 110 - Play Area, Ashley Rise, Tiverton
Plan 111 - Play Area, Banskia Close, Tiverton
Plan 112 - Play Area, Coles Mead, Tiverton
Plan 113 - Play Area, Everett Place, Tiverton
Plan 114 - Play Area, Grand Western Canal, Canal Hill, Tiverton
Plan 115 - Play Area, Hawthorne Road, Tiverton
Plan 116 - Play Area, Orchard Leigh, Tiverton
Plan 117 - Play Area, Palmerston Park, Tiverton
Plan 118 - Play Area, Popham Close, Tiverton
Plan 119 - Play Area, Spencer Drive. Tiverton
Plan 120 - Play Area, Starkey Close, Tiverton
Plan 121 - Play Area, Trickey Close, Tiverton
Plan 122 - Play Area, Waylands Road, Tiverton
Plan 123 - Play Area, Westexe Recreation Ground, Tiverton
Plan 124 - Play Area, Wilcombe, Tiverton
Plan 125 - Play Area, Culm Valley Way, Uffculme
Plan 126 - Play Area, Recreation Ground, Highland Terrace, Uffculme
Plan 127 - Play Area, Pathfields, Uffculme
Plan 128 - Play Area, Pippins Field, Uffculme
Plan 129 - Play Area, Wembworthy
Plan 130 - Play Area, Buttercup Road, Willand
Plan 131 - Play Area, Chestnut Drive, Willand
Plan 132 - Play Area, Gables Lea, Willand
Plan 133 - Play Area, Harpitt Close, Willand

Page 51

Plan 134 - Play Area, Mallow Court, Willand
Plan 135 - Play Area, South View, Willand
Plan 136 - Play Area, The Orchards, Willand
Plan 137 - Play Area, Worcester Crescent, Willand

Page 52

Summary Responses 2021

Q1
I’ve ticked no because I believe that the current measures in place are more than adequate and most dog owners are perfectly capable of respecting public
spaces and do collect their dogs mess. I strongly disapprove of further overly controlling measures to enforce dog owners therefore potentially criminalising
good people and creating Further rules which have only the effect of making people feel under pressure and restricted. I believe dog owners are already
very responsible and there are already good measures in place to keep our public spaces clean and safe.
"Re; Fouling of Land by Dogs Order: Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible dog ownership and would fully
support a well-implemented order on fouling. We urge the Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise compliance we urge the
Council to consider whether an adequate number of disposal points have been provided for responsible owners to use, to consider providing free disposal
bags and to ensure that there is sufficient signage in place. "

Page 53

They should clear up but I strongly oppose this as a focus of a PSPO - failure to do so should not be criminalised in this way
Basic health and safety. And common courtesy.
Absolutely. There is never any excuse for dog faeces not to be picked up
If you are responsible enough to have a dog then picking up dog poo is easy
I am a responsible dog owner and pick up my dog's faeces. Dog faeces can cause blindness, smell disgusting and are antisocial. Dog mess is offensive and
has a detrimental impact on local environment.
Who want to step in faeces plus it could be dangerous especially for pregnant ladies and for children.
If you own a dog you are responsible for cleaning up after it!
Hygiene, elf and safety
Every dog owner I know agrees that it is unacceptable and disgusting not to pick it up, yet judging by the amount of dog faeces left in Public Places there are
numerous other dog owners who don’t.

I play football for bampton and there is nothing worse than on a Saturday after picking up dog mess before a game also you can't get it all and I have lost
count the amount of time people have slid in dog mess is disgusting and very unpleasant.
Public health risks and common decency - completely disgusting that some don’t do it.
It’s a health risk not to pick up and also horrible to see on paths and walkways.
Owners should pick up there own dog poo.
It's disgusting & against the law not to. I am a dog owner & believe that is part of responsible ownership.
It is anti social to leave your dog's faeces anywhere within any public area, including footpaths. If you have a dog you should be responsible for clearing
mess away.
It is a health hazard and unpleasant for others to see

Page 54

Hygiene
It should be their responsibility as it’s their dog. Same as littering.
There is far too much poo not picked up currently.
Because its discusting when I take my children to the recreation ground and we have to be on dog poo alert constantly!
Their dog, its faeces so their responsibilty
Yes and No, if the dog does it in a 'wild area' (like a patch of gorse bushes) and there's no way anyone is going to tread on it then it's best to leave it where it
lies, however on a footpath then yes, however there should be equal fines for leaving filled poo bags to leaving dog poo
Including rural areas
Because all responsible dog owners should
I do not want to step in it and be constantly looking at the ground when out walking
health hazard unpleasant to look at and to smell, apart from the risk of stepping in faeces, particularly children.
Those few irresponsible owners give us good owners a bad name.

It’s dangerous not to. It makes using parks and green spaces hazardous and unpleasant.
It is their responsibility to do so.
Unhygenic, detrimental to health, the main reason I avoid public areas
Hygiene and appearance of area
child safety, and unpleasant for walkers
It is good manners and safer for other users of the aw4a
They should pick up their dog’s faeces wherever it is.
It is a known public health issue and horrible when children get dog mess on them.

Page 55

This is obvious and as noted, the vast majority of people do it. However, Imposing a PSPO is a massively heavy handed overreach of the law and once in
place, we will be at risk of being criminalised for any number of misdemeanors as decided by the whim of the local authority. This is a slow creep of
excessive power.
dog faeces carry diseases and are dangerous to all, particularly young children. It put me off going to places where dog poo is not picked up. It sticks to your
shoes and is difficult to remove. It is smelly and can be trodden into your house and car. It is generally disgusting.
Faeces must always be picked and responsible dog owners do. If bins are not available then bags should be taken home. Sometimes though very elderly
people who find great companionship from their dogs have difficulty bending down to pick up.
As dogs usually defecate in the same area, this is extremely important to avoid faeces to build up
Dog faeces are unhygienic and unpleasant.
Of course. There's simply no excuse not to. These are public spaces for use by ALL and should be clean and safe.
It's unsightly and unpleasant if stepped upon
Do not leave them for others to clear up. I have had dog fowling on my front lawn
It is our responsibility to keep areas clean to prevent spreading of diseases and unwanted mess on shoes clothes etc.

It's a health issue to those who use recreational facilities. Children can become ill if we're they touch dog faeces. It's not nice to step dog faeces .
We have two dogs and always pick up their faeces however on walks we have spoken to several dog owners who refuse to do this. This needs to change as
our village is an unpleasant and unhealthy place to walk when there is the risk of exposure to dog faeces, especially to children.
It’s a health hazard at worst and and a messy hazard in the least. Plus the dog owners responsibility.
To limit risk of infections and diseases both in humans and animals.
Unpleasant if not picked up and unhygienic
Because in the village of Uffculme where I live, the incidents of children stepping in for faeces is ridiculously high. In the village there is dog faeces in all the
paths and more needs to be done to stop people leaving the faeces.
It would be anti social not to do so.

Page 56

I believe it’s a social responsibility to clear up after any animal you own. I am disabled and cannot walk so my wheelchair wheels are my legs, if people don’t
pick up their dogs poo I could end up going through it and then drive my wheelchair into my home, leaving excrement on my floors, which is not only
disgusting but it can cause diseases that could blind me. It also means that my carer has to clean my wheels and the floor taking time away from caring for
me. Just because someone was too lazy to pick up THEIR DOG’s Poo.
Otherwise people step in it by accident. It is a nuisance and a risk to health.
Bacteria and disease spread very easily - particularly with young children - too easy for even adults to step in dog mess and not realise it - filth gets
transmitted into houses
It's a disgusting health risk to the public.
Any responsible Dog owner should pick up after their Dog, with NO exceptions. I am a Dog owner.
There are no reasons not to: none.
Why should unsuspecting members of the public have to clean it off their shoes? Dog faeces can cause Toxoplasmosis, which is serious.
..and not restricted to 'Public Spaces'. To do otherwise is anti-social.
Obvious, why ask the reasons.

It’s part of the responsibility of being a dog owner
I live on Bartows Causeway where there is always dog faeces - people let their dogs off the lead on their way to the park.
If you take on the responsibility of owning a dog you should pick up, not to is disrespectful to your community
It is important to have a clean space and not tread in dog excrement into your own homes along the streets back to homes, it is an expectation that this
should be done by every own if they wish to own and dog.
Apart from the fact it is disgusting to step in, wheel a pushchair or mobility scooter/wheelchair, it is a public health hazard
Unpleasant and unhealthy to other walkers, children and farm animals
Dog Faeces are an environment hazard and should be picked up and disposed of in a bin
Risk of disease to dogs and children. Dog faeces can take 12 months to break down and may wash into storm drains. As a responsible dog owner It is
common courtesy to pick up your dog's faeces, to keep our open spaces clean.

Page 57

For the health & safety of the general public
Common sense, courtesy, hygiene, sociably acceptable etc. etc. etc.
too much dangerous fouling around Hensleigh area near to tiverton foxhounds. This has been going on for years/decades. I have sent 3 emails this year
without response.
Public health
Dog mess is a serious health hazard and dog owners should be obliged to clear up after their dogs and dispose of the waste safely and appropriately.
Responsible Dog owners do
it's the decent thing to do
It is unhealthy and irresponsible to leave dog faeces on the ground.
No one wants to walk in dog faeces
Injurious to children's health and wellbeing; detrimental to enjoyment of environment. Responsible dog owners do this anyway, every dog owner should.

Health and safety and just good mannered
Not to do so is a hazard to public health and demonstrates a complete lack of social responsibility
For the health of humans and dogs.
It is unacceptable for dog owners not to clear up after their pets, and it is most unpleasant to see pavements, and other public areas with dogs mess left on
them.
Public health
Dog mess is smelly, dirty and dangerous, and people who are responsible for dogs should ensure that they remove it. This is a health and safety issue and
there should be clear powers to stop fouling.
Because it's dangerous and revolting to leave dog faeces lying around.

Page 58

It is no longer acceptable to leave your dog's faeces behind.
Foul smelling, especially in warm weather. Risk of spreading disease from dog to dog, other wildlife or anyone unfortunate enough to slip and fall in it!
'Disgusting and potentially dangerous when you step in it. Our village ( Bampton) and the surrounding roads are plagued with people who will not pick up
the mess
Pathogens in dog faeces are a danger to human health.
Every dog owner should be responsible for picking up the mess. Most owners do, and no matter how many orders you put in place, there will still be those
that don't whether on a lead or not
Being in charge means 'in charge of EVERYTHING', including the poo! Council's have made it easy to dispose of them with 'Any Bin Will Do'. It is unkind to
allow child buggies and bikes to unwittingly collect poo on their wheels and end up with it indoors at home or having to have a thorough scrub. I'm very old
and a dog-owner but my sympathies lie with parents, children, walkers, cyclists...
it is their responsibility
dog faeces are a health hazard and responsible owners should take responsibility for their animals

We live in Crediton by the popular public footpath called tin pot ally - there is , on a daily basis bags of dog faeces and actual faeces littering the steps and
pathways and even hung on the trees despite the provision of bins on the walk
Health .....especially that of children. Dog faeces make our streets and parks unwelcoming. Rapid control of dogs that turn dangerous.
If you own a dog you are responsible for any mess that dog makes. Others should not have to pick up after you or have the worry of stepping in dog mess.
Because dog faeces is a serious public nuisance and a health hazard. Cleaning it off shoes or clothing is grossly unpleasant and can be the cause of several
serious illnesses
It is horrible for other people wanting to make use of the given area and especially with children
and heavily fined if not.

Q2

Page 59

I believe that most dog owners already do carry appropriate measures to collect dog poo. However everyone is capable of making a mistake and forgetting
something so therefore I do not feel it is appropriate to take yes in this box.
"We question the effectiveness of issuing on-the-spot fines for not being in possession of a poo bag and whether this is practical to enforce."
It is an essential part of responsible dog ownership
Again, they should but there are many reasons why someone might fail to do so and, again, to criminalise that failure in this way of a wholly
disproportionate use of the law
If they can afford to keep a dog then they can afford bags for their mess.
Responsible dog owners do carry them. Some people walk their dogs off lead and do not seem to care when they wander off and have no idea what their
doing
All dog owners should do this. Dog waste bags are cheap and readily available. No exceptions.
Why should someone who doesn’t have a dog pay to clean up after lazy dog owners.
How can you pick up after your dog if you don't carry the appropriate and number of bags to pick up poo.

To pick up their poo.... I take my baby's nappy home with me. They should take their peta poo home with them
Picking up dog faeces is only part of the process, it should then be disposed of in the bins provided and not hung from trees or fences or flung into the
undergrowth. Bampton Town Council provide both bags and bins in recreational areas but it makes no difference.
Always pick up after yourself
Part of the responsibility in owning a dog. There should also be requirements to use a bin and fines for those who leave bags of poo beside paths, hanging in
trees etc. Disgusting.
No excuse not to be prepared
How else would they clean it up?
Your dog, your responsibility.

Page 60

It is responsible ownership
Common courtesy
It should be totally their responsibility to pick up their animals mess abs so if course they should have something to pick it up and dispose of it.
There tiny and not hard to carry
Depends what you call appropriate Council need to provide more bins
They will not pick it up without bags
without bags, they are unable to remove faeces. Suggest an increase in bins to deposit.
the bags in hedges and on fences?

it would be impossible to enforce but why so some people hang

If they have no bags they are clearly not intending to pick up and should be prosecuted
If you own a dog you need to cleanup after it.
Dog owners need to be responsible for their own dog's mess and not rely on the council to provide them with bags, etc.

If you choose to have a child you choose to look after it including ensuring any biological waste is appropriately dealt with and disposed of, its no different
with animals.
If they have no bags, they have no intention or picking up
To ensure they clear up their dogs mess
This is obvious and as noted, the vast majority of people do it. However, Imposing a PSPO is a massively heavy handed overreach of the law and once in
place, we will be at risk of being criminalised for any number of misdemeanors as decided by the whim of the local authority. This is a slow creep of
excessive power.
Having no poo bag is used as an excuse not to pick up and this is not right.
There is no excuse for not doing so,
It is very easy to pick up faeces and deposit the bags in bins

Page 61

Bags needn't be expensive. Standard nappy bags are plentiful and cheap.
This should be mandatory.
If you wish to be a dog owner you need to accept the responsibilities that come with it.
To clean up the mess a dog has made. The bags should then be disposed of in either appropriate bins or at home.
If you more then one dog they don't do their business at the same time .
It is a dog owner or walkers responsibility to do this.
Their responsibility.
Dog not dof!
You cannot clean up after your dog unless you have the means with which to do so.
Won’t be able to pick up if no bags
As a responsible owner you should always have dog bags to pick up faeces.

There is no excuse not to clear up the mess if they have the means to do so on their person.
It is very easy to put a handful of dog poo bags in your pocket or fix them to your dog lead and then when they are full - Take them home to dispose of - Do
Not Hang On A Tree Branch !!
Prevention of spread of disease and unpleasant mess
As above. If owners don't carry bags then they have no intention of picking up their dog waste.
Any responsible Dog owner should pick up after their Dog, with NO exceptions. I am a Dog owner.
No reason not to
Of course. Why should it be left as a health hazard for people to step in?
how else to comply? walk the dof and look after it.

Page 62

I know people who never pick up after their dog.
Shows your intention to do the right thing and pick up
Common sense and shows a responsible dog owner with good intent.
a responsible dog owner would already carry these, it's the ones who don't clean up that need to have this enforced
To save others treading in it
so that they can pick up after the dog
I agree that everyone should carry appropriate means to use to pick up dog faeces however enforcing this requirement could prove very difficult. You have
to start considering what powers will council enforcement officers have to search individuals and require them to turn out their pockets.
Dogs often poo more than once on a walk & without the means of picking up they are unable to provide the required health & saftey of teh general public
Disposal of dog mess is best carried out using a compostable disposable waste bag. A clean and complete removal into a bag is the best way for an owner to
clear it away completely.
Again responsible people do

they should, but we all forget them sometimes and i don't think a punitive measure should be the case for not carrying a bag.
If you decide that you want to keep a dog, you should take into account everything that you need to do so that the dog is not a nuisance in any way to
others.
Owners/ walkers of dogs have a civic and moral responsibility to always be appropriately prepared to clear up after the dogs.
Have a dog -your responsibility
It's obvious. No bag.. No pick up.
Dogs can go 2 or3 times on each walk.
Dog owners, or a person exercising a dog(s) should be made aware that it is unacceptable, and unlawful, not to be prepared to clear up after it.
Dog owners need to show that they are responsible and having the means to remove faeces is just one way to show that they are prepared to manage dog
mess.

Page 63

Because not to do so would make question 1 impossible to achieve.
It is no longer acceptable to leave your dog's faeces behind.
And to dispose of in appropriate bins, or take the bag home for disposal. NOT just left in hedges, on pathsides etc.
No bag, no pick up. Collection bins are as important
Again, pathogens in the faeces constitute a risk to human health. It is deeply offensive to have to clean dog muck from shoes or clothing, especially
children's footwear.
Bags are inexpensive and easy to carry. Of course they MUST pick up so of course they MUST have the means to do so.
without bags they cannot comply
if you own a dog then you should have the means to clean up after it.
To fulfil reasons given in section 1. Dogs may defecate several times on a walk.
If you have a dog - buy dog poo bags .. or use nappy sacks. They aren't expensive - some are biodegradable - there are plenty of bins to put them in.

Because there is a social obligation to pick the stuff up and it ought to be a legal obligation too.
It is no excuse to say you have run out of bags, most responsible dog owners know how many to take on a given walk
and heavily fined if not.
If dog owners are approached at the end of a walk they may have already used the bags that they have taken out or given a spare bag to someone who has
run out for example.
Q3
I’m unable to take any of the following boxes because I think it’s common sense to put the dog on a lead when the owner knows it’s not capable of
controlling the dog without doing so. I prefer people to use common sense where possible.
All of the above

Page 64

"Re; Dogs on Leads Order: Dogs Trust accept that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be kept on a lead.
Dogs Trust would
urge the Council to consider the Animal Welfare Act 2006 section 9 requirements (the 'duty of care') that include the dog's need to exhibit normal
behaviour patterns – this includes the need for sufficient exercise including the need to run off lead in appropriate areas. Dog Control Orders should not
restrict the ability of dog keepers to comply with the requirements of this Act. The Council should ensure that there is an adequate number, and a variety
of, well sign-posted areas locally for owners to exercise their dog off-lead. Re; Dogs on Lead by Direction Order:
Dogs Trust enthusiastically support
Dogs on Leads by Direction orders (for dogs that are considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress to members of the public to be put on and
kept on a lead when directed to do so by an authorised official). •
We consider that this order is by far the most useful, other than the fouling order,
because it allows enforcement officers to target the owners of dogs that are allowing them to cause a nuisance without restricting the responsible owner
and their dog. As none of the other orders, less fouling, are likely to be effective without proper enforcement we would be content if the others were
dropped in favour of this order. "
Part (a) & (c) YES part (b) answer YES & NO
I DISAGREE with ALL of the above, but it is not possible to leave all options unticked - this is a flaw in the design of the survey. There is already ample legal
provision regarding proper control of dogs where this is a problem. In general, dog owners should be trusted to know how their dog can best be walked.
Again, this kind of blanket proposal appears wholly disproportionate as a response to something that does not appear to be a problem in many of the local
areas covered, and would also severely limit dog owners' options for walks that give their pets appropriate exercise, as well as forcing many of them into
extra and longer car journeys to find places that are conducive to walks that give their does sufficient exercise and simulation, harming other attempts by
the council to encourage people to be more environmentally friendly Furthermore, being on a lead is no guarantee that a dog is under control - an owner

that does not have appropriate control of their dog as a matter of course will rarely have any better control with a lead, although this might give others a
false sense of security
I agree with all of the above. All dogs should be on leads in public areas. Too many owners allow their dogs to wander when exercising them. Extendable
leads use should also be restricted in public areas.
There are signs at the entrances to the church yard in Bampton, but some dog owners pay no attention to this
I have tried to check all options above but the survey would not allow me to
What is the park for if dogs can't run around play if they are looked after by responsible owners and kept away from the children's play area. Bike riders and
joggers no better than dog owners. Give the dogs and responsible owners a break .
Dogs should be kept on a lead at all times when out of their home.

Page 65

I think it’s bad news to specify that dogs have to kept on leads in public parks. I completely understand in children’s parks but public parks I think is terrible.
My dog is so well behaved and walks to heal and I feel we are being penalised as other people don’t know how to train there dogs. I always pick up my dog
poop and again feel dig owners are all being tarnished with the same brush
There is no option for all of the above

My children are scared of dogs and I don't want dogs running up to them, sniffing them, or reaching up to them.

I would like to check all of the above, and I would also like to see enforcement officers from time to time otherwise this PSPO is a pointless paper exercise.
I wanted to tick all the above but no option to do this. The behaviour of dogs can be erratic and as a passer-by you cannot know if a loose dog is aggressive
or not. More people seem to have aggressive breeds these days too. I especially worry about children being attacked in parks and public spaces. It’s not a
nice feeling to be anxious when just enjoying family time in a public space.
The form will only allow me to select one option. I believe that all 3 are important.
Actually I would tick all three options, but the survey won't let me.
Parks except for enclosed play areas are designed for dog exercise.
Dogs shouldnt be allowed to go in areas such as the recreation ground or anywhere where children play or the public use for community events such as
football matches etc.,when there are other perfectly good fields to walk their dogs in! They would lick up the poo of it was in their garden I bet!
Within reason this is ok but sometimes the older generation can't travel to walk their dogs

Why Can't I tick all three (Non working) dogs in public place should be under the control of a lead
You can't check more than 1, although I think they should be on leads in church yards, parks I think it depends on the size of the park
Only play parks Council provide dog parks
I checked all 3
Dogs should be kept on leads in ALL public places
i would like to check them all
Churchyards are important and dogs should not roam free off leads.
They should be on leads in cemetaries and parks and if requested by officer

Page 66

Enforcing the rules will be difficult and the fine is only damaging to those on a tight budget...the penalty should be higher and easier to enforce but also
there should be a system for those trying to keep their pet if they are responsible with things like bags or leads available at discounted prices or through
free serviced where necessary
I would have checked all
Should be applied in all circumstances
All of the above
Badly behaved dogs can be dangerous and frightening for both children and adults. They can also attack other dogs and animals.
With any of the above yes. However, Imposing a PSPO is a massively heavy handed overreach of the law and once in place, we will be at risk of being
criminalised for any number of misdemeanors as decided by the whim of the local authority. This is a slow creep of excessive power.
Some public parks have large enough areas to allow dogs off lead in some areas
I ticked them all but they unticked and would only let me pick one - I think that all apply
I wanted to select all 3 of the options, however this was not possible. All dogs should be kept on suitable leads to avoid dogs attacking other dogs, children
or cyclists, walkers as well as causing accidents by running into cyclists. It is distressing having to explain other dog owners that very few dogs are
completely reliable and obedient and close control is required at all times which can only be achieved by keeping them on leads.

I want to be able to select all of the above options but am limited to one for some reason.
Schedule B excludes the cemetry/churchyard in my village of Zeal Monachorum. Please can this be added as the public regularly walk through.
I believe there should be designated areas where dogs can be let off lead. Pent up energy and the absence of dog socialisation often leads to dig aggression
I also think the Tiverton Canal should be included
Dogs should be allowed off lead exercise. It is absolutely ridiculous that you are going to force dogs to be on lead all the time!
Yes to all of the above
Tried to check all three.
Enforcement officers - will likely lead to the abuse of power (different for police, agree they should be listened to!). Not in all of the parks - dogs need
exercise off the lead. By limiting public space for this there is the risk of more dogs off lead through land with livestock. They need somewhere large and
safe to go. Solution is to fence around play equipment. Dogs should be on the lead at the skateparks - risk of injury to dogs and skaters.

Page 67

The survey will only allow me to check one box but I want to check all the above.
All of the above
Dogs should be let off the lead if under control and providing not in enclosed play areas.
I think you should have the option to tick 1 and 3 options as I agree with two options .
I would have checked all three.
Dogs should be on leads at all times in public areas.
All three should be ticked
I'm trying to check all 3
all the above
A drip-drip towards banning dogs from everywhere.
Agree with all 3, only allows me to select 1.

because the survey would not allow me to check more than one !!!!
Restriction on Amory Park is unfair to dog walkers, currently 90 % is restricted for sports or BMX track, with a small triangle area used by dog walkers, why
can't this area be fenced off for dog walkers for off lead throwing of balls etc, restricting the whole of Amory Park is unfair, and not considerate to dog
walkers that currently use this area more often than sports field.
I do not agree that dogs should need to be on a lead in Willand Recreational Ground. Willand is one of the most densely populated areas as long as the
owners have their dogs under control everyone should be able to enjoy this space. Dog owners pay council tax as well as parents and they should have
appropriate areas where dogs can be exercised. During lockdown without the opportunity to travel this has been the only place with in the Parish Boundary
that you can throw a ball for a dog.
I would have preferred to be able to tick all three locations

Page 68

I think all things above should apply. I have seen several dogs attack other dogs causing harm and vets visits and this should not be allowed. I do not like
dogs running towards me or my children I do not know if they are safe and I feel it is frightening.
There should be an area set aside where dogs could be freely exercised and socialised
I think that all of the above apply but it only allows one option to be checked
I agree to all 3 proposals.
all options
All the above.
I want to check all but the system
I wanted to check all of the above. I live in people's Park and have had 3 dogs off leads attack my pets, killing 2 and causing massive physical damage to my
husband when he tried to protect one. I've seen at least 3 incidents of dogs off the lead attack other dogs, and twice of them knocking children off their
bikes. The owners never seem to have control so dogs need to be kept on leads except in specific areas designated as dog areas
In public parks and cemeteries and churchyards amongst other places, to keep them from running round, urinating and messing in those areas and others.
Responsible people do not need to be told what to do with their animals

respectfulness to mourners is absolutely necessary. dog exercise areas have not been mentioned at all. this issue doesn't have to be one thing or the other
without any compromise. a few signs in parks have to be more cost effective than extra enforcement officers patrolling the parks.
I think that dogs should be kept on leads in all the above environments.
would tick all of these.Very glad to see List in Schedule has been amended
Agree with all 3
Agree with all 3.
I agree with all of the options but am unable to select them all. I have repeatedly seen and talked to dog owners who believe that their dog is fine to let off
the lead in parks and there is no law to stop them
Why isn't it all of these, or at least the first two?

Page 69

Dogs have no place in cemeteries and churchyards and I believe they should be banned. Having said that, I am a frequent visitor to Crediton's extremely
well kept cemetery and I cannot recall ever having seen a dog in it.
I agree that dogs should be under control, however there should be provision where dogs can be exercised off lead. It is cruel to deny some animals the
need to run, especially those of medium and larger size. The largest users of park areas are those using them for exercising their dogs.
Agree with all above, but can only check one. Some dogs, children and adults are anxious when dogs get clos and therefore cannot use public paths where
dogs might be off lead. . Not all dogs recall well - therefore ALL dogs on leads in any public space.
Strict enforcement of the rules. Name & shame in the local paper.
Sorry, but this survey is flawed, you can only tick 1 box. I agree with all of the above
Absolutely on all three options.
To the maximum extent permissible by law, dogs should be held on a short lead at all times when not in secure private areas.
Park (in Wembworthy) prohibits dogs already.
People and dogs need space and the latter has been a lifeline for people like me during Covid restrictions and with no immediate family in the UK. Some
free-running space is important. Sweden and Finland provide such areas for dogs and their owners. It seems that the Council may take away a few that are

available (i.e. Old Park, Tiverton) with no provision for more. Elderly people (like me) often take dogs (on leads, of course) to visit graves while people with
no respect let dogs run free. Dog wardens need to work out of office hours to catch offenders like the man who every evening lets his dog loose in Tiverton
Cemetery and another with two large dogs throws balls between the gravestones.
In all places of public use.
Dogs should not be in either cemetary or churchyard. Safey & health should always come first.
Q4
I do not agree that any further enforcement needs to be carried out to ensure that dog owners keep dogs out of public parks. Most public parks have a sign
that restricts dogs from entering and where this is seen dog owners are already complying with that guidance.

Page 70

"Re; Dog Exclusion Order: Dogs Trust accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be excluded, such as children’s play areas,
however we would recommend that exclusion areas are kept to a minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to enclosed areas. We
would consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack clear boundaries. Dogs Trust would highlight the need to provide plenty of
signage to direct owners to alternative areas nearby in which to exercise dogs. "
every child should be able to play safely in an area where there is no possibility of dog fouling
The exclusion of dogs from play areas, especially since of the larger sites, would constitute an indefensible discrimination as to which residents can and
can't use public amenities, as well as reinforcing for many children that dogs are to be feared.
Children should be allowed safe clean areas to play in. Dogs have the use of most of park areas, it is not a hardship for them to have no access to play areas.
Ideally the dogs should be given their own designated area to run and play.
Dogs should be excluded from children's play areas, BUT (in the case of the Bampton play area on Morebath road) the gates are regularly left open by the
people using the play area. If gate springs were fitted, the gates would automatically shut themselves. Young teenagers using the play area yesterday had a
terrier with them and refused to take it out. Their argument was that it was friendly and they had poo bags with them
Risk of children playing in dog mess in playground and health risk to pregnant women
Safety
Children need areas to play safely in without being frightened of aggressive dogs and avoiding dog poo.
As the above.. my children are scared of dogs

Obviously we don’t want dog faeces where children are playing but we also don’t want aggressive dogs in these areas. Not all children are comfortable with
dogs and should be able to play safely.
Reasons above
For public safety and cleanliness & health.
Many children (and adults) are frightened of dogs especially when they run around and jump up at them
Everyone shod be able to enjoy the spaces, you shouldn't be allowed to exclude one type of person (dog owners). It's about making sure people respect the
areas i.e. picking up dog pop, throwing away rubbish, not vandalising play areas etc. No banning people from using it.
To provide dog-free play space for children's play. I am pleased to see that the Bampton Morebath Road play area is included but that the wider recreation
field is not. This is used by large numbers of Bampton residents for exercising dogs (often while kids play in the new play area) so the arrangement works
well for family life.

Page 71

Dog faeces is detrimental to health not to mention disgusting if stood in or children touch it. Also not everyone is happy around dogs and many children are
scared of them. It is intimidating for children and parents if there are dogs in a safe area.
Dogs and ex item dogs do not mix
The owner can then ensure the dog doesn’t out of sight and leave a mess.
Children are there. Some dogs are not good around children.
It's discusting!
So often families particularly in our area have dogs and children. This is the countryside. If you ensure that ALL dogs are kept on leads at ALL times the
owners (including myself) cannot miss their dogs defalcating and MUST pick it up or we can never come to Bampton which effects us the community the
income of Bampton and our dogs welfare for exercise.
If you are in control of your dogs can't see the problem, sometimes I have people's children run upto my dogs mine aren't used to kids
As a source of antisocial behaviour, infection and irritation, dogs should be so excluded
Just seems like not a great place to take a dog

Difficult as families have dogs so maybe only dogs if with families with children
I do not want my grand children harmed by dog mess or aggressive dogs
health and safety hazard
If it is a clearly marked play area for children with equipment and secure boundrie absolutly yes!
Child play areas are enclosed for a reason, don’t punish us good dog owners and good dogs because of the behaviour of the few. Discrimination at its best
no reason to be in play areas.
Regardless of how friendly dogs can be they can all turn and children are more likely to be unable to recognise a quick change in temperament and
situation, unfortunately neither all dog owners nor parents feel the need to monitor situations such as interactions between children and animals
appropriately.

Page 72

But not the areas around.
For the reasons given in 1 and 3 above.
However, Imposing a PSPO is a massively heavy handed overreach of the law and once in place, we will be at risk of being criminalised for any number of
misdemeanors as decided by the whim of the local authority. This is a slow creep of excessive power.
For reasons given in number 1. It is hard to stop children accidentally stepping in/picking up or falling into it.
Some young children are afraid of dogs even on a lead. But as families with young children take dogs out with the children it would be thoughtful if hitching
points for dogs could be available away from the entrance to the play area so parents do not have to stand outside with the dog.
Dogs on leads should not cause a problem
Even if dogs are well behaved or kept on a lead, having them in a sometimes hectic and unpredictable playground area, is clearly a risk.
Dog mess and children is a health hazard
Stops children being exposed to dog mess
If they are on a lead they should be allowed. Often parents with a dog will want to walk the dog and allow children to play at the same time. Family time
restraints.

Not all children like dogs it then spoils their enjoyment of playing. Even if a dog is friendly a child went up to pat it the dog could still turn not only that but
also of health issues of a dog fouling.
Dog faeces carry disease. Children need clean places to play.
A lot of families have a pet dog.
I think that if Specific play area as children play on grass etc
Not all children are comfortable around dogs. Also to limit dog fouling.
Keep kids safe and clean
Safer for children using play equipment
To lessen the risk to users of the areas posed by dogs eg mess anti social behaviour.

Page 73

Play areas should be for parents and their children only but I believe there should be an area outside of the park where a dog or dogs can be tied up whilst
the parents supervise their children, whilst also able to watch their dog/dogs. As dogs are part of the family.
Prevent dog fouling and difficulties with children
If dogs are under control and waste is picked up there is no risk to children. But people will abuse it if allowed.
They spread diseases, they bite.
Go poo can carry Toxoplasmosis, which could blind a child. A child should also not have to encounter dogs which may frighten them.
kiddies can get excited when playing. An excited dog in the same space is not clever.
Obvious.
Risk of eye damage from infection.
I think it would be appropriate for dogs on a lead to be able to walk through the Orchards, Willand it connects a housing estate to Jaycroft which is a nice
walk for dogs to get there without waking through could involve walking on roads with out footpaths and which are also busy.
I think children and adults should have access to clean spaces.

with the current spate of dog thefts dogs should be allowed inside, but tied up in sight
I think all small enclosed play areas should have dogs excluded but in Willand the Orchards should allow dogs on leads to be in keeping with the other areas
identified it is not a small enclosed play area. It can be a useful cut through from Orchard Way to Jaycroft where dogs are allowed off the lead
Yes, dogs must be under control in designated children play areas.
Plenty of places to exercise dogs withot having to mix with children in their play areas.
Common sense.
fouling is dangerous to young children
They are dangerous around small children and some children are scared

Page 74

Dog mess harbours nasty bacteria that can cause very serious health issues for children and adults. Play areas must be kept clear of dog mess. Some dogs
may be unsafe and/or frighten or hurt children.
Enclosed children’s areas need to be protected
some children aren't comfortable with dogs. dog faeces remain even after being picked up.
Some children are frightened or nervous of dogs, and some owners do not keep their dogs in check in these areas.
Children should be kept free to run and play without the risk of harm be that from an out of control animal, even if it is just excited play and also kept safe
from dog mess within play areas. As not all dog owners can be relied on to be responsible a ban safeguards children thoroughly.
Hazards to children's health
Responsible dog owners should not be penalised
Dogs naturally mark areas and need to be excluded apart from potential danger from unsupervised dogs attacks and fouling
Because even when picked up, dog faeces remain in small amounts which would pose a risk to children and just be really unpleasant for anyone using the
area.
Some children find dogs intimidating.

Children should not be expected to play in areas where they have to look out for dog mess
We need to encourage young people to go to designated play areas. Dog faeces make it less likely to happen
Children are particularly vulnerable to dog faeces left on the ground because they play on the ground and with balls that have been in contact with the
ground that they then handle.
Not all dogs are child-friendly and not all children are confident with dogs. If the area is designated for children/young people, then take dogs elsewhere
and give youngsters the space and opportunity to enjoy themselves.
play areas are for children and families not dog exercise areas.
To protect children from dog faeces and over excited dogs who may bite.
No matter how well behaved your dog is it can cause a nuisance to very young children who may not know how to act around a dog - keep them on a lead.
For the safety of the public and the avoidance of public nuisance and alarm.

Page 75

As children play there
Lots of dogs are family pets and so children may be unsupervised if not allowed in; could make it mandatory that they are kept on leads in the area instead.
These people should be named and shamed (in The Gazette?) like those who regularly exercise dogs on football pitches (like Amory Park) and children's
playgrounds.
Of course! Dog muck causes disease!
Q5
An arbitary maximum number of dogs is an inappropriate approach. Consider accreditation scheme for commercial dog walkers.
How can anyone on a mobile phone concentrate on 4-6 dogs.
I believe that there is no need to actually place a restriction on the number of dogs with a dog owner instead I think the restriction should be on the safe
use of walking dogs. For example if six dogs or more are extremely well-behaved and safe and there is no issue however when somebody is with one dog
that is not under control this is unsafe and therefore they are not capable of controlling the dog properly and should not be in a public space.

"Re; Taking more than a specified number of dogs onto a land: The behaviour of the dogs and the competency of the handler need to be taken into
consideration if considering this order. Research from 2010 shows that 95% of dog owners have up to 3 dogs. Therefore the number of dogs taken out on to
land by one individual would not normally be expected to exceed four dogs. "
multiple dogs on leads are a hazard to both the general public and the the dog walker
Again, there are many reasons why it might be appropriate for an individual to walk several dogs at once, as long as they are properly under control this is
not in and out itself a problem, and so a blanket been is once again an entirely disproportionate proposal
A lot of dog owners seem to lack the capability to walk one dog let alone multiple ones. There has to be a limit on how many dogs one person can control.
It can be hard enough negotiating pavements with one or two dogs. The strength of dogs when they want to pull should never be underestimated
Professional dog walkers may exercise greater than 6 dogs at a time. Most common offenders of dog owners not picking up their dog mess have just one
dog

Page 76

How can someone with many dogs control them.
I don’t see why this needs to be done. You are just targeting dog walkers who are all responsible people .
Limit should be lowered
Control.. or lack of with too many dogs
I have often observed people walking numerous dogs, they can barely keep them under control, never mind picking up after so many animals. While one
dog is doing it’s ‘business ’ the others are tugging the owner/walker along and invariably the faeces gets left
Dogs should be banned from the recreation ground
No need for anyone to have more than 6 dogs. I would even limit it to less. No-one can control do many and their behaviour tends to be worse. Also
professional dog walkers should not use our public spaces and basically destinations to deposit a whole lot of dog poo.
For safety, i would imaging it's difficult to control multiple dogs so to limit risk, limit the numbers.
I do not know enough to comment. If they are all under control/being supervised by a responsible owner, I am not sure what the issues would be.
yes definitely

The dog Walker has to be responsible or all the cogidin their care all the time.
Ten dogs under strict control can be safer than one dog not.
Too many dogs and there will be no control
Walking too many dogs means the Walker does not have full control of all dogs, mess may not be picked up when too many dogs .
If you have more than two dogs you are very likely to be a responsible to be a very good and aware dog owner. The tiny minority and I’m sure we all know
who they are, should not affect our counrtysude environment. All docs on a lead at all times solves the issues as we can point out irresponsible owners as
we all should do.
0ne human two hands therefore two dogs maximum
If the walker is in control then no problem
dogs of one family Business walkers should be less

Page 77

they either fill pavements or are a nuisance on lanes
Again not all dogs are bad behaved, there are a good few that have been trained.
Limit should be THREE at most(TWO better)As long term dog owner i know noone can be in control of more thsn two or three.(exception could be for
reg.dog walkers-say 5)
The more dogs the less chance of being able to physically hold onto them all in some situations or be able to protect them from attack from.humans and
other animals.
picking up and control over numerous dogs is all but impossable
To ensure full control can be exercised
An owner or dog walker cannot control more than 6 dogs at once.
This is irrelevant. If people are having excessive numbers of dogs with them, or by any other behaviour and causing a nuisance, tackle them. Do not impose
a PSPO.
Dogs are powerful and it could be very hard to restrain several large dogs.

If the dogs are under control and behaving well or on leads I think this seems harsh. Pre Covid groups of owners walked dogs together and it would be
unfair to limit a single owner when some groups can be quite large and well behaved.
Yes. I o not see how it is possible to suitably control more than 2 dogs at a time. 2 hands, 2 dogs...
It is very difficult for an individual to have complete control over a large number of dogs
Quite simply, there is only a certain number of dogs that one person can keep under control at any one time, no matter how small. The larger the dog of
course, the harder that job becomes.
Impossible to be fully in control of that number of dogs
6 is too many. They have to be held while the handler bags the droppings. Find out by experiment what the max number of dogs that can be handled in
order that all mess is cleaned.

Page 78

Unless a qualified dog walker / minder.
Having witnessed how some owners can't control their dogs on or off leads .
One person cannot control a large number of dogs both on or off a lead. They cannot watch dogs going in different directions and could fail to notice when
dogs are defecating.
It's up to individuals how many dogs they have
As a dog owner and walker I see to many people walking dogs out of control.
There's a limit on how many dogs one person can be reasonably responsible for.
Surely it is impossible to control a large number of dogs
Safety for children and to enable Walker /owner to keep track of faeces collection
Difficult to control large numbers of dogs and to see if they need to be cleaned up after.
Because I do not believe handling too many dogs is safe.
I think 6 is to many and it should be no more than 4.

It is very difficult to hold onto more than 6 dogs. I would limit owners of small dogs to max of 6 and large / medium dogs to a maximum of 5. If another
owner’s dog goes for one of your 6 dogs how are you going to intervene and maintain control of the other 5?
Difficult to keep track of dog fouling
People should have control of their dogs at all times.
Any more than 6 i believe is unmanageable , to some degree it does depend on sizes of dogs
Basic common sense
Because they MUST have control over their mutts and the higher the number, the less chance of this.
If all dogs had perfect training then this wouldn't be an issue. However not all owners have control or the strength to hold more than 1 or 2 dogs.
to be responsibly in control? most people could not handle 6 (yes I know that some people can handle more)

Page 79

I would limit to 4. More than 4 dogs, very hard to control.
The key here is ‘under control’, if competent an owner can control multiple dogs, if not then 1 dog is too many.
People who walk dogs professionally should be allowed to walk an unspecified number of dogs.
Impossible to be aware of the behaviour of a large number of dogs.
The important thing is for the owners/walkers to be in control. I don't feel this is the councils job to dictate. Some owners can't control 1 dog others spend a
lot of time training and can lots.
Few people have the ability to control one dog let alone 4 or 5.
I still think six dogs is excessive, dog walkers tend to have more and they are not always in control of these dogs. Dog walkers are often the people who let
the dogs off in the park.
one person could not control a large number of dogs in the event of something happening, eg an accident to the person in charge
People can not easily keep an eye on more than one dog when they are running free although it is easier if they are on leads.
You should consider the proportionality of this restriction as you will be targeting a minority group of the community.

Too many dogs together work as a "Pack" and in general cannot be controlled - better to be safe than sorry when looking after a lot of dogs.
Too many and they lose control over them
There are too many dogs for a start! It’s hard for people to keep control over or clear up after, more than 2 dogs.
Because its not the number of dogs itshow well trained they are.
If you look after dogs properly this isn’t an issue
should be common sense but that isn't so common.
I do not think it is so easy for one person to control a larger number of dogs.
Anyone would struggle to responsibly control and clear up after large groups of animals.

Page 80

The number may be multiples, but should be reasonable to be under effective control
I think it should only be two to have proper control of the dogs.
Responsible dog owners should not be penalised
It may seem obvious but some dog walkers do not appear to realise that all dogs should be under control and a limit is needed for practical reasons
Because these pro dog walkers cannot properly control a large number of animals and they cannot properly manage their fouling.
This gives the walker a better chance of keeping control.
To maintain control. If one dog decides to 'turn' aggressive, how can 1 person control it when they have multiple dogs/leads to manage? Or if another dog
in the area is not properly controlled and attacks?
We see too many “ dog walkers “ with too many dogs and out of control.
A dog walker can only watch one or two dogs closely at any one time. The usual practice, I have observed, is to let them all off the lead together and they
run off and poop.

Happily there are now enclosed specialist dog-friendly secure fields which can be booked to allow dogs to run free. If a walker/owner is running unlimited
numbers in public spaces, their control may not only be compromised but keeping an eye on lots of dogs e.g. where they poo etc. is less easy. Some people
feel quite intimidated by a 'pack' or bunch or dogs running free or going up to them.
I think it should be lower than six
to allow access for pedestrians and safety of al road and footpath users and of course the safety of the dogs .
Too many dogs can overwhelm a dog walker.
Dogs - no matter how well behaved - can act unexpectedly sometimes - if you have too many dogs it'll be hard to control all of them 100% of the time.
A single person cannot exercise full control over more than one dog. Six is too many. Two should be the maximum.
They are not able to keep them all under control or surveillance to pick up poo
Q6

Page 81

Once again I do not see any point in placing a number on the number of dogs that are kept safely and under control.
As above
I do not think 6 dogs can be safely controlled. I am a reasonably fit 15 stone male who sometimes struggles to control one border collie. logically it should
limited by the total weight of dogs in relation to that of the walker but this is obviously impractical so I would suggest a maximum limit of 4
I disagree with the principle of setting a limit. If a limit is to be set, the reasoning behind the number specified ought to be explicitly spelled out by the
order. (If satisfactory explicit reasoning cannot be given, then a limit ought not to be imposed)
6 is alot of dogs for 1 person to be in charge of 4 or 5
It really depends on the dogs and person in charge of them
I think it should 4, 2 per hand is reasonable.
I think the number should be lower on public pavements - maybe 4 dogs
What about dog walkers who exercise more dogs at a time? The are responsible and would be penalised if your suggested limit was imposed

Should be limited to 2
Limit to 3.l have seen owner struggling to control 3 dogs.If you wish to own more than 3 dogs then you find an appropriate area away from parks
playground s etc.
Three is more than enough.. one out of control dog is mayhem..
Maximum should be three. One person simply cannot control anymore than that.
Reasons above
I think the limit should be less. 4 would be plenty.
Three is really enough to keep an eye on
I think 6 is too high, people struggle to control two dogs most the time 6 is too high. 6 is a pack and the dogs then behave as a pack.

Page 82

I think four is a more realistic number.
As above
Seems too many still
6 is far too many. 4 would be more appropriate, 2 leads in each hand.
As above. It’s not the quantity of dogs it’s the owners who can’t be arsed to I know up their own animals excrement. The majority should not be punished.
Think no more than four would be more appropriate
Maybe set at 6 off lead at one time but can walk more if in total control
Two, as above
Same as above
Less in highly populated areas town, canal etc
4 (two per hand)

Because all bur a few are incapable of looking after more
The limit should be reduced to 2 dogs maximum
five should be the limit
I think this really depends on the size of the dogs and experience of the owner though. I cant say i see anyone walking more than 6 dogs anyway in any of
the areas in cullompton.
Should be 3 you can't keep and eye off lead with 6dogs and unlikely to pick up after them all
As above.noone can be in full control of more than2 or 3 dogs.I am long term owner and you could not be sure 6 were not being nuisance or check none
pooed out of sight
They shouldn’t have them on council estates as these people have no respect for others and once one barks they all start! It’s like living in a kennels!!
Should be 4

Page 83

I think 6 dogs per person is too many at one time! Should be only 3
I think it should be lower - 3 max
One person cannot control 6 dogs. The limit should be 2.
It should be lower!
6 is too many! To the best of my knowledge a human has two hands a maximum of four is a push at controlling if they pull in different directions never
mind how someone could begin to separate them in an attack on a human or other animals
Lower, 3 or 4
I feel that is an absolute maximum, 4 would be more acceptable
Think it should be less with the exception of say a dog walking business. Proof of exemption to be shown on request if requested by an Enforcement Officer.
Three maximum. Difficult for a keeper to control more than this number, especially if the dogs are not tiny.
I feel that a lower limit of 4 dogs would be appropriate.

It is behaviour that is the issue, not an arbitrary figure you have decided. Why aren't any of these questions asking directly above the implications of
bringing in a overly punitive PSPO?
4 would be more appropriate - if they are all large dogs and are roused to chase something I think it would be very hard to control them all and they might
break free.
I know 6 dogs can seem a large number but I have a small breed weighing less than 5½ kgs and I have walked 6 dogs on leads occasionally although not
regularly. If I do take them off leads I only have 1 or 2 running free. This is a sensible restriction for larger dogs - perhaps over 10 kgs or 7.5 kgs.
I think it depends on the breed of dogs and the competence of the handlers
I think that is far too many for a single person.
I think it should be less. It can be very intimidating to meet multiple dogs when out walking

Page 84

See above. 6 May be too many
Unless it is a business with adequate supervision for all dogs.
Because you can't control six dogs on leads let alone off their leads.
4 dogs should be the limit.
Or even lower
You are excluding qualified, and licensed dog walkers.
It only takes one incident. Not all dogs are easily controlled. I’ve worked with dogs and horses all my life and can’t see how you can be in control of six dogs
. Six tiny dogs may be ok, but it only takes one big dog to cause a problem or other dogs off lead towards your six.
I think it should be set lower, perhaps 4.
This would allow commercial dog walkers to still walk a number of dogs but even 6 is still quite, more so if they are larger dogs.
I think it should be less.
It should be no more than 4.

I believe you can control 6 well-behaved dogs but once you add more or even one badly behaved dog to the pack I believe your control is lessened.
anymore than 6 for one person would be difficult to control.
My concern is someone walking 6 German Shepards or similar sized Dogs would struggle if they decide they want to go.
Should be lowered
I'd rather it was 2 or 3, but 6 is better than no limit at all.
If all dogs had perfect training then this wouldn't be an issue. However not all owners have control or the strength to hold more than 1 or 2 dogs. I would
have it dependant on the dogs size and strength. One Rottweiler or 6 Yorkies.
difficult. 2 wolfhounds could not be restrained buy anyone, IF they decided to be 'naughty' (not that they ever would). can 1 person actually watch the
antics of 6 Yorkshire terriers?
Maybe 6 small dogs and 4 larger dogs.

Page 85

the number of dogs is irrelevant. I have working dogs that are under control and know many people that can control more than 6. I also know and see when
exercising my own, many people who cannot control 1 dog.
Suggest 4 as a reasonable number
The important thing is for the owners/walkers to be in control. I don't feel this is the councils job to dictate. Some owners can't control 1 dog others spend a
lot of time training and can lots.
I would set the limit at 3
I think the limit should be three and I think that they should show they can control all three dogs.
6 dogs at once is more than enough with one person in charge
I think 4 per person is sufficient
See 5 above.
6 is still too many - I would prefer a limit of 4 - with maybe the exception of suitably qualified, professional, dog walkers

Should be 3.
4 is plenty
Too many, four un enough; the more there are the more intimidating it is for the average person. let alone those wary of dogs.
6 is too many. A maximum of 3 would be more reasonable. Consider the space they take up, the impact on other people using the space, the increased
potential of losing control, and of not collecting all the dog mess.
That’s enough to cntrol
six is more than enough dogs to control.
6 sounds plenty.
This seems like a reasonable number of dogs that could be safely walked together.

Page 86

No single person can control 6 dogs simultaneously.
Too many. A maximum of 3 should be set
6 dogs are too many for one person to control, 4 would be more reasonable.
Should be two.
I see a responsible lady who rescues dogs walking them past my house, but she always has helpers, as there are often between 8-10 of them. It would be
impossible for her to keep control of them and clear up after them, if she was walking them all by herself. So I think that a limit of 6 is reasonable.
I think the limit should be lower, I think 4 dogs is the maximum that can be handled by one person
Six seems too many, I suppose depending on breed. Six chihuahuas is different to six doberman...
In my opinion the limit should be set at 4.
3 to 4 should be a maximum. No one person can control 6 dogs without causing some anti social effects.
Fewer - see above.
6 is far too many. People with 6 dogs are generally dog walking for a living

Maximum of Four dogs at a time. Nobody needs a pack of dogs.
I think 6 is generous and will help professional paid dog-walkers. Personally, I think 3 or 4 should be the maximum.
It should be less than 6 - 4 maximum in order for proper control
It should be less if they do not have a license to fun a dog walking business and have had training in controlling dogs
4 is plenty. Who has 6 dogs ???
Six is far too many. Six dogs in one hand is unmanageable, and an obstruction to other users of the pavement or footpath
Fewer
Far too many for 1 person to control.
Should be no more than 3.

Page 87

Should be 4.
I think 4.
or lower.
Limit should be less, maximum 4.
2
6 is too many. Suggest 3-4 as maximum.
4 dogs would be more appropriate.
It was agreed it would be difficult to determine what could be considered reasonable for individual dog owners eg individuals' capability and also the size of
the dogs they are responsible for/walking.
We advise as much consistency as possible is required so that dog owners become aware of restrictions and are confident in walking their dogs in other
areas. We note that the neighbouring authorities of East Devon and Teignbridge have set a limit of six so it is appropriate that Mid Devon should propose

the same number. It is not clear whether professional dog walkers have been considered and whether these are currently licenced by the authority as this
is a growing business sector.
Q7
Professional dog walkers will probably want a minimum of 6 dogs.
A blanket ban on dogs "off lead" in public parks is unnecessary and oppressive. Parish & Town Councils should be given delegated/discretionary powers to
ban dogs "off lead" either completely or in given areas or at specific times.
The Council should enforce heavy fines on people breaking the rules rather than inadvertently penalising those who do not offend with more restrictions
imposed on responsible dog owners.
All dogs should be on lead walking amongst livestock.

Page 88

Yes. When this consultation relates solely to Schedules B, C & D as opposed to across fields, public footpaths and roads etc.
When seeking to put a dogs on leads restriction in public spaces, the Forum advises that there is a need to consider a fair balance between rights of owners
and non-dog owners, particularly in urban areas where the restrictions can be extensive. This could have the effect of forcing dog owners into cars to go to
rural areas with public rights of way and other public space not affected by restrictions. Alternatively, owners may ignore the legislation if they believe it to
be unreasonable. Dog owning is important to health and wellbeing and the major reason why people go out. More consideration needs to be given to
providing areas where dogs can legitimately be let off lead.
The only thing I feel it’s important to state is that the UK has a tradition of good safe management of dogs and have good levels of animal care and safety in
the community and I feel that these measures will only create problems where dog owners are tying dogs outside of parts that become stressed and
anxious that could then become aggressive and that they could then go on to harass people who entered or left the park.The only thing I feel it’s important
to state is that the UK has a tradition of good safe management of dogs and of good levels of animal care and safety in the community and I feel that these
measures will only create problems where dog owners are tying dogs outside of parts that become stressed and anxious that could then become aggressive
and that they could then go on to harass people who entered or left the park. in particular I feel that the UK does not need to create further laws to restrict
safe use of dogs especially within quiet Rurel communities such as mid Devon. I feel it’s an entirely different prospect when large and potentially dangerous
dogs are kept in urban areas.
The PDSA’s ‘Paw Report 2018’ found that 89% of veterinary professionals believe that the welfare of dogs will suffer if owners are banned from walking
their dogs in public spaces such as parks and beaches, or if dogs are required to be kept on leads in these spaces. Their report also states that 78% of
owners rely on these types of spaces to walk their dog. I would also like to bring your attention to the similar recommendations stated in the

Government’s ‘Anti-social behaviour powers -Statutory guidance for frontline professionals’ document, pages 52/53. We believe that the vast majority of
dog owners are responsible, and that the majority of dogs are well behaved. In recognition of this, we would encourage local authorities to exercise its
power to issue Community Protection Notices, targeting irresponsible owners and proactively addressing anti-social behaviours.
Myself and a number of other responsible dog owners value the opportunity to safely exercise our dogs on linear park Cullompton. The only other similar
opportunity is the CCA fields but due to antisocial behaviour these are far less safe. Damage caused by broken glass has presented me with vets bills of
around £600. We note there is a new play park/assault course being built in linear park Cullompton and as far as we are aware there has been consultation
on this construction. If we were to have been consulted we would have made strong representations that the area be enclosed in the same way as the
existing play area in the park to ensure that dogs and children playing can safely coexist.

Page 89

Part of responsible dog ownership is giving your dog appropriate and sufficient exercise and simulation - this order seems to criminalise this aspect of good
dog ownership without seeing it any good reasons why it is considered necessary and proportionate. If it is to be enacted, it should only be in locations
where there is a genuine problem (for instance in my village (Willand) NONE of these issues is at all a problem, and any enactment of this nature in respect
of the village would be grossly inappropriate and disproportionate The proposals have the potential to cause an increase in traffic and pollution as dog
walkers are forced out of their local area, as well as forcing more dog walkers onto country lanes where they can cause a nuisance to traffic and are
themselves at significantly greater risk Further, as a young family with hopes of dog ownership, we would be unable to make use of our local parks and play
areas, discriminating against our children for no good reason. These proposals also risk reinforcing the belief that dogs are dangerous, a nuisance or to be
feared, which is generally untrue and can be damaging not only to community relationships but also to children's development Finally, it is unclear who
'Enforcement Officers' are, how they are designated or how a dog walker would identify a genuine enforcement officer from a member of the general
public.
Only that the people who dont pick up still will not pick up even when their dogs are on leads Cameras would help
sledgehammer to crack a nut springs to mind
No. Public health and safety must come before pets. You wouldn't allow a toddler to defecate in a public area nor would you allow them to run around on
people's gardens, you would also prevent them from running up to strangers or into roads. Dog owners need to be aware of the impact their behaviour has
on others.
I think there need to be safe places to allow dogs to run freely as we are surrounded by such beautiful countryside which is populated by wild and farm
animals. Socialising puppies and young dogs off lead is important to raise dog who are safe around people and other dogs. During Covid, allowing my dog
off lead to play with other dogs has been vital to my mental health. Regardless of orders being placed on areas, there are people who will always ignore
them

Dog does need to run off leafand the rec is ideal and was donated to the people of Bampton not just the football team
See comments above re professional dog walkers. Potential impact on a responsible dog owner who 'runs out' of dog poo bags while out with their dog. I
usually carry lots of poo bags but recent picked up my dog's mess and during the same walk I realized that I dropped the rest of the poo bags at the first poo
stop. If my dog had further dog mess I wouldn't have been able to pick it up. Some dogs cannot be left tied up eg outside a play area. It is possible that
some young families with dogs would have to avoid children's play areas
Rubbish always left where people sat. Meant to be alcohol free zone but it is not. Broken bottles always left around the park. Dangerous for dogs and
children. People urinating against hedges we even saw a man defecating next to a tree wiping himself with leaves, near the children's play area ( don't
always blame the dogs).
How can anyone control 6 dogs.
Yes I feel there will be no places left to walk our dogs soon. There are a lot of responsible dog owners out there

Page 90

No dog owners need to be responsible for their animals
No.. I just require owners to take responsibility for their dogs as I do for my children
A PSPO is only going to be effective if it is backed up with enforcement and fines. It also needs to be communicated within the community so that it is a
proper deterrent and not just a ‘tick in a box’
No, I think they should go further and extend to keeping dogs on leads on public footpaths, towpaths and bridleways.
It’s no good making rules and regulations unless they are monitored
Telling people to do these things won’t change the in educated it just penalises responsible dog owners there needs to be actual repercussions for owners
who let their dogs fowl in the public domain without clearing it up.
Alienation of people with dogs, by not allowing them in these spaces you're stopping them from being able to enjoy them. If the dog is part of the family
unit the family should be allowed to enjoy the space in the same way any other family can.
No. This seems a sensible and proportionate response for the play areas in Bampton, enabling dog owners to continue to exercise their pets while
protecting children's play areas.
It seems unfair to the people that pick up after their dogs.

Elderly people who don't have transport will struggle to exercise their dogs if they must be leased in parks.
See above. The minority fail us but the majority should prevail.
More poo bins required by footpaths, the footpaths to remain usable some are so over grown
As the restrictions are proposed for Grand Western Canal, for the same reasons the entire length of the Railway Walk should be included in the schedule.
The nuisance of incontinent uncontrolled dogs and their irresponsible owners applies just as much there as in many of the other proposed restricted areas.
Yes, I think an increase in having to pick up your dogs mess in 'wild' places will lead to more filled bags being left on trees fence posts etc, instead educate
people to use a stick or something to flick it off path or take bags home. I walk frequently up around the culmstock beacon and the trees up there can look
like some horror story Christmas trees
The hanging of poop bags

Page 91

I would also like to highlight properties close to public rights of way and/or walking dogs on public rights of way. I personally have been attacked by a dog
off the lead when out riding my horse on a public right of way! I wouldn't like to imagine if it was a child on a pony instead.
No adverse impacts but how are these proposals to be enforced,I can't recall one case of a prosecution!!
The proposals and penalties should include leaving dog mess in plastic bags on the ground or hanging from trees and fences etc. Also dog mess should not
be allowed to be placed in waste bins. I have no intention if using a waste bin myself if there's a risk of touching dog mess.
Elderly dog owners wanting to exercise dogs and unable to walk far.
Im not totally clear on the impact of these proposals will have in some areas. I walk my dogs in the field off of crowbridge in cullompton. I have done for
20years. As a person with a disability which can affect my mobility i rely on this field for exercising my dogs. I do not let them off if children are playing and
always pick up after them. Not all dog owners are iresponsible and not all dogs are badly behaved.
Dogs need off lead excersize need to be an area for this.Dogs can be more aggressive on leads then off .
This is a complete discrimination of good dogs and good dog owners!! There will be no places we can go to play with our dogs, exercise our dogs and let
them have a good play!! We should be naming kids that trash and litter the open spaces and ruin it for us that have well behaved dogs that have fun
running and playing without the risk of cutting their paws with glass because of kids that don’t care what they do.
No, but as a response dog owner I don’t want the proposals to go too far. I would prefer to see more enforcement of the existing legislation.

You should come down heavily on bad owners with untrained dogs who are irresponsible for sake of good owners.
All dogs should not be left alone throughout the day or night and should always be on leads minimum one dog a family
Lossof social contact for single person households who use their dog walk to share time with other people
It's cruel to dogs to be kept on leads at all times
Not strict enough
This should apply to cat owners too. The smoking of cat poo on the pavements/driveways and private gardens is shocking
Fines are not high enough and have not worked to date punishment needs to be easier to enforce and greater
No, I'm a dog owner and think this is reasonable

Page 92

As always good owners will be penalised - there are no consequences to bad ownership - no dog wardens and no one to report too
I do feel some areas should be able to allow a dog under control, to have some off lead exercise. ie top area of Amory Park, which I back on too. Dog owners
pay tax too
No - I am pleased that the Council are taking this issue seriously.
PSPO represent as huge creeping of power and curbs of peoples use of public space. This "consultation" is a completely disingenuous tick-box activity that
simply asks people about behaviours that all sensible people agree on. This "consultation" deliberately evades any mention or discussion of the impacts of
PSPO themselves which can be extended to cover all manner of behaviours used repeatedly across the country to impact the lives of generally poorer and
more vulnerable people. Typical of this local authority, who rather than engage anyone positively would rather cover up seating areas in corrugated metal
or bringing sweeping powers to criminalise their constituents. It is awful.
Not that I can think of. The situation is pretty frustrating at the moment
If dogs aren’t allowed off lead anywhere owners will take them to farmland
I am concerned about the limit of 6 dogs being walked by one person. My dogs are shown and I have no difficulty managing 6 on leads as they are small
and behave well. In my experience owners with a single dog can cause more problems. Owners of multiple dogs are more responsible in all aspects of dog
ownership.

The order should be enforced otherwise it will not have effect
Unfortunately it is the few irresponsible dog owners who cause problems for others. Restrictions will impact, potentially adversely on others.
Yes. People may simply think that the introduction of the PSPO means that effective action is being taken. I live close to Newcombes Meadow in
Crediton and use it regularly to walk my own dogs. There are signs clearly visible at the entrance to the park saying dogs should be kept on leads and that
there is a potential fine for those owners who do not abide by it. Lack of enforcement is the real issue and so those signs are ignored by many, many
owners. Some dogs don't even have collars, let alone being on leads. I'm tired of hearing "Oh, he/she is friendly and wouldn't hurt a fly". My dogs are from
the Blue Cross and one hasn't been socialised properly and so I often find myself having to hold him back from a dog hurtling towards us off a lead. It really
doesn't help with training.
Enforcing the measures that exist already would be better than introducing an unenforced PSPO.
Mandatory to carry sufficient Poobags.
Yes, please include the Zeal Monachorum churchyard
I all said above

Page 93

This all seems to be about dog fouling. We are in a rural location. Are dogs blamed for fox and badger faeces? We all have to live together. How about bells
on bikes and joggers letting people know that they are coming up behind you. A spooked dog will go for fight of flight then the dog is blamed and
considered uncontrollable when it has been scared.
It will make life better for those who want to enjoy a dog free area without having to worry about dog mess and if a dog is going to turn on you or a child .
Detrimental and discriminative towards responsible dog owners. Dogs should be allowed off lead exercise. How about you patrol and stop all the vandalism
from teenagers!!
Dogs could have less freedom to roam.
As stated above, dogs need off lead exercise and there needs to be safe places away from livestock for this to happen which also takes into account the
ability of people to drive their dog somewhere, exercise their dog with children present and the mobility of elderly who won't be able to walk their dogs in
some places.
I think dogs should be allowed off the lead in parks with the exception of the enclosed play areas. Responsible dog owners should be able to walk their dogs
off the lead locally, particularly elderly people.

I believe there should be areas in each locality where dogs are allowed to run freely with other dogs and feel a FREE secure doggie park with lots of natural
attractions would be a great asset to every neighbourhood. With dog poo bins and clean water available. I also believe there should be more dog poo bins
in beauty hot spots and local walks that should be regularly emptied.
Irresponsible dog owners get away with behaviour through a) insufficient official monitoring (dog wardens) and insufficient follow up of reports of antisocial behaviour
There are rules in place presently but how will they be enforced?
My only concern is how you intend to enforce Section 5 in regards to Children walking Dogs as being under age you I believe you can't Fine them. This order
should clearly state in the event of Children walking the dog it is the owner of the dog that is held fully responsible and liable to fines ec
None: problem always is implementing. I see so many irresponsible and ignorant dog owners; I have never seen any dog wardens or similar.
If it doesn't get implemented someone probably a child will get attacked

Page 94

The dogs being blamed for misbehaviour when the responsibility is the humans.
Yes. Soon there will be a ban on dogs being anywhere.
Dogs must be well socialised with other dogs and people and then they will behave better. To do this, they must be allowed off lead. If we can never let
them off lead, this will inevitably make any normal dog and owner anxious. Please don’t tar us all with the same brush. The majority of dogs and owners I
meet pick up after their dogs, and put them on leads when necessary.
Penalising people who can actually control dogs and have well trained dogs, the number of dogs isn’t an issue it’s the control of the dogs be it 1 or more.
You must leave spaces where people can safely allow their dogs to play off lead. Perhaps provide safe fenced areas that are only for dog exercise.
Section C Public Parks - Restriction on Amory Park is unfair to dog walkers, currently 90 % is restricted for sports or BMX track, with a small triangle area
used by dog walkers, why can't this area be fenced off for dog walkers for off lead throwing of balls etc, restricting the whole of Amory Park is unfair, and
not considerate to dog walkers that currently use this area more often than sports field.
Restrictions would adversely affect elderly people or people without a car who are unable to take their dogs into the countryside to exercise.
Stopping dogs being off the lead in the jubilee field will have several adverse impacts. This is a area where families with children and dogs can enjoy
together. During lockdown it has been the only space that is within the village that is not under threat of development that you can throw a ball for a dog. I
have spoke to various people some with dogs in flats or houses with little garden that do not know how they would have managed if they could not have

used the jubilee field to exercise their dogs. No one disputes that there are irresponsible dog owners but every one shouldn't pay the price for it. Dog
owners pay council tax too so there should be space they can enjoy in their community without having to travel. If we have learnt nothing more in
lockdown it is that we should not be making unnecessary journeys.
Yes, there are those who think their rights will be infringed. Invariably these very people infringe on the rights of others. The right to enjoy free space
It could hinder a dog walking business, but I do not think business should be above the communities safety.
Would possibly need more bins and then emptied at regular intervals
there will be difficulty in enforcing this as those irresponsible owners will continue to ignore
no, and this question ought not to be required
Not stringent enough.
Laid dog walkers may find restrictions on numbers difficult, but the impact on other people using the space must be a priority.

Page 95

Yes there should be a dog warden to catch and fine the bad dog owners why have those of us who behave have to suffer for their stupidity laxness etc. As
usual the honest Joe loses out
no more enforcement officers or cctv in public spaces.
There should be a good provision made for dog walking if the restricted areas are extensive.
Do you mean impacts OF the proposal?
Dogs require off lead exercise. They need to be able to run. But they need to be under control
How do you stop a dog fouling in public spaces, it may have escaped your notice that dogs cannot talk so they they cannot warn their handler. I’d a dog
need to go they need to go
Limiting places that dogs can be properly exercised
Some people have been abusive when I have challenged them in a public area regarding not having their dog on a lead. There needs to be a more effective
reporting system to avoid disputes.
I suppose parents with assistance dogs may need to be able to have them accompany them and their children into play areas?

People being forced into using non-appropriate venues for exercising their dogs. Upsetting a larger group of the local community - much, much larger than
the few who may have complained and prompted this proposed public spaces protection order. It seems a sledgehammer approach.
Many public spaces will still have badly controlled dogs off lead.
I pity the poor enforcement officer. The level of entitlement by many dog owners beggars belief. The Officers will likely be verbally abused for suggesting
dog walkers comply with the rules.
It will be frustrating for owners of very obedient, well-trained dogs having to keep them on a lead. But, of course, there are very many dogs not under
control so a PSPO would help address that. Most enforcement people are sensible and wouldn't be heavy-handed if a dog walker/owner's dog was, on
occasion, unleashed. What the PSPO will do is give powers/authority to address the difficult owners/walkers.

Page 96

I cannot see any mention of streets and alleyways. Chapel street, which is walked by many mothers and toddlers, has too much dog faeces and inadequate
provision of poo bag bins....or any bins, and the alleyway from the old school to the Chinese takeaway had about 20 piles of faeces along it a few days ago.
The bin there gets too full. The adequate supply of and emptying of bins is key to the dog owners complying.
None, save that they are not restrictive enough
Q8
No written response
Q9
I strongly do not approve of restricting dog walking times on public places such as beaches or large open parks to non-seasonal periods just to avoid
disruption during tourist times. I believe that the onus needs to be put on safe and manageable well-trained and responsible dog ownership and not on
creating overly controlling laws to prevent people from living peaceful lives with there dogs.
All times
Please refer to earlier comments regarding dogs on leads
Neither, too difficult to administer
If any restrictions were to be introduced (which I very strongly oppose), they should be limited to only the times of the day when they can be shown to be
of particular relevance (i.e. children rarely play in play areas between 5pm and 9am, so the restrictions works be timed accordingly.

Neither dogs still need their walk regardless of time
a responsible owner would not allow their dog to be out of control - yet again a minority are spoiling the freedoms or the majority.
The restrictions should be in place at all times otherwise confusion will be caused. So long as there are specific areas where dogs can run free there should
be need for restrictions.
Fortunately I live in Bampton which is not on Schedule C, but neither restriction allows for the local home/dog owners (1) who have to exercise their dogs
12 months of the year, (2) only allowing dogs off leads after 18.00 in the winter puts the elderly and children in the parks after dark in order to give their
dogs sufficient exercise. This seems a dangerous proposal if there is no lighting in the park.
Neither
Neither. Should be permanent restrictions
Time restriction.

Page 97

She kept on a lead at ALL times.
No restrictions completely stupid idea. Dogs need to run to be exercised properly . You cannot do this on a lead. Dogs need to be socialised and need to be
digs. You are targeting this all wrong. Owners are the issue in big training their dogs properly. My dog loves to run freely and comes to my every command
because I put the time and effort into training her!!
Dogs to be kept on leads in any area where children play .
Neither
All year please. My children go out all year as do dogs.. From 8am until 7pm is when children could be out.
None of these, as it simply leads to confusion. Restrictions should be clear and simple.
Full ban
It should apply at all times all year round. If can only be 1, the daytime hours slightly preferable to help protect children playing during the day.
All dates and times....dogs can mess at any time
Dogs poo all year.

Time
Time
None, the rule should be that dogs without recall should be kept on a lead. Putting dogs on a lead unnecessarily is a pointless rule.
Seasonal restrictions. If someone is an irresponsible owner & does not clean up after their dog, a time limited restriction will not make any difference.
I don't think seasonal or time restrictions would be appropriate. The rule should apply all the time, children play throughout the year and different age
groups play throughout the day too. People often think the rules don't apply to them, if you give them caveats they definitely won't abide by them. You see
this on Hadron Hill where people are asked to keep their dogs on a lead from March to July because of ground nesting birds. Hardly anyone does this. This
rule should apply all the time.
Neither

Page 98

On leads at all times
None why would a dog be more dangerous at specific times?
Seasonal
Time restrictions
No dogs should be allowed in areas where children play, where football matches are being held or they should just banned from the recreation field in
General!
All dogs on leads at ALL times so everyone knows where they stand.
Time restriction
Maybe look at splitting the park in areas for dog and areas for others ie bikes
All restrictions should apply at all times/seasons
Time restrictions
No times should be set dogs on lead areas

No all year around
Time restrictions,most people are working and excercise their dogs before and after work
The restriction should be at ALL times. Any aggressive or badly behaved dog stay aggressive or badly behaved all year round
time restrictions. It would at least allow dogs to exercise but need to be watched by owners to pick up faeces
Time
Time
Not happy with either most dogs are better behave than children they don't throw Tesco trollies in the river and litter the parks with broken glass and
rubbish
None ban children in stead of punishing us good dog owners and dogs

Page 99

A combination of both
Seasonal best as on beaches.
All the time kept on leads
Restriction time
I think the restrictions should be either time or seasonally limited. The restrictions should be all the time
Seasonal restriction
Time
Neither, I don’t take my grandchildren to parks where dogs are allowed, owners never pick all of the faeces up!
No
No restrictions
Restrictions should be 24 hours a day all year.

No restriction in the parks. Dogs need to be able to run freely in parks
Time restriction
Neither is appropriate...parks can be frequented at any point in time. Why should those times be restricted by giving dog walkers preferential treatment?
The rules should apply all the time with no concessions as the other park rules do to everyone!
Time
Neither - dog fouling and poor dogs are around at all times and all months this won’t change anything but will penalise good owners who work shifts etc
Large majority of dog fouling in Amory park occurs overnight
Dogs should be kept on leads in parks etc

Page 100

Seasonal Restriction
Twenty-four hours
Permanent restrictions should be enforced.
Do not bring in a PSOP. PSPO represent as huge creeping of power and curbs of peoples use of public space. This "consultation" is a completely
disingenuous tick-box activity that simply asks people about behaviours that all sensible people agree on. This "consultation" deliberately evades any
mention or discussion of the impacts of PSPO themselves which can be extended to cover all manner of behaviours used repeatedly across the country to
impact the lives of generally poorer and more vulnerable people. Typical of this local authority, who rather than engage anyone positively would rather
cover up seating areas in corrugated metal or bringing sweeping powers to criminalise their constituents. It is awful.
No, it would be more confusing
Dogs should be on leads at all times in parks and public areas.
None. Some areas allocated for dogs and owners all year round
Both are necessary - children can fall into dog poo in the winter as well as in the summer and in the evening as well as during the day.

I would prefer no restriction but I think the time restriction more appropriate. Owners who have no alternative but to exercise their dogs off lead in the
parks can do so on a daily basis within the set times. Dogs need the opportunity for free exercise from time to time. If too restricted it could become a
welfare problem.
Neither
Time restrictions
Restrictions should be in place at all times.
Time restrictions
Should apply at all times
Item 2
I wouldn’t consider either. In a park with children and families either BUT have a designated area where dogs can run off lead.

Page 101

If I have to choose then it would be seasonal has in autumn and winter people don't tend to be out in public spaces after dark then in the spring and
summer months.
No restriction otherwise owners let their dogs foul when it is dark
I suggest you limit it to times that you will employ sufficient staff to enforce it!!
Time restrictions as long as faeces was picked up. More CCTV would help around the village and in public parks etc
What's the matter with all year around. No restrictions.
N/a
I don't agree with question 8. You have set this survey up to get the answer you want!
This should be a blanket order
2 because kids use parks all year round and it Ned to be safe and clean for them all year joy just in summer.
I do not think there should be any restrictions on dogs in public parks.

I think dogs should be kept on leads at all times in parks. But I would consider a time constraints more appropriate.
The restriction should be at all times
Neither I believe all well behaved under control dogs should be able to be off the lead during their walk
It should apply at all times. With dogs off the leads owners can use the excuse they did not see their dog fouling.
Neither - should be unrestricted - dogs that cannot be controlled by voice alone should be on leads in these closed areas.
Dogs should be on a lead and under control at all times. It's nice to be able to allow your dog off the lead but there are too many irresponsable dog owners
in the area.
Time restriction is more appropriate in a none tourist area, with may be seasonal ie during school holidays

Page 102

All seasons all times.
Dogs should be on leads at all times, every day.
Never
let the dog off before 08.30 and from 'dusk'. Car 'lighting up' times, to keep it simple and enforceable? Must still be picked up after a No 2.
Time restriction. It is not fair to make it a seasonal restriction. Dogs need to be walked every day - not seasonally when it suits others.
Time restrictions
I don't think dogs should be allowed off the lead in public parks at any time.
Seasonal
time restrictions, when children are not playing in the park, dogs would be allowed to exercise off lead
If you provide area for dogs, then no restriction/time is required. Parks should be for all users and not exclude people with dogs
Time Restrictions
Time restriction

The only time restriction I think would be sensible would be during school drop off / pick up time as the way the school now staggers this means the jubilee
filed gets very congested.
Quite simply "Dogs should be on leads in public spaces at all times"
Neither, this only serves to confuse people, I think you should implement a straight forward instruction that dogs in a public space should be on a lead.
There are rolling hills and countryside, if they want to let off their dog they can do so in a safer environment.
Time restrictions as the public who are concerned about dogs having a free run time would know to avoid public spaces at that time
Time restriction
If any are brought in then it should be time restrictions
n/a
I would recommend exclusion for dates (Seasonal Restriction). Rather than times. Easier to enforce!

Page 103

Restrictions should be at all times!
time
Permanent restriction.
seasonal
Should be all the year; all times.
All the time. There is no need to let them off the lead in public parks. If they want to let them off then go to a designated dog area
Restrictions should apply at all times.
Time because it allows dogs to be walked before and after work and most dog walkers don't want to walk dogs in the middle of the day in the summer.
Time restriction if I must choose
neither, i would prefer to see designated areas for dogs to exercise. like us they need to run about more ; )

Time - although if dogs are well trained, this would not need to be a restriction. In fact if people had well, properly trained dogs, many of these restrictions
would not be necessary.
Time restriction
Think it needs to be a blanket ban otherwise how would it be supervised? Also fail to see difference really in time of day or year. When given access during
some of the time same problems of irresponsible dog owners would still apply, so nothing really gained. Sadly fear it would need to be all or nothing.
Restrictions at all times
No restriciton
Dogs must be kept on the lead at ALL times in public spaces (and on farmland where livestock is present)
Time restriction. It does not matter which season, people are always out and about.

Page 104

Time restrictions.
No
Neither
Time restriction - children still go to parks throughout the year.
Neither
I do not agree with restrictions being limited as I think these restrictions should apply all the time and all year
Well, I said no to Q8, but if pushed I would say seasonal with a summer dry weather (yeah right) restriction being more stringent than during winter when
people are less likely to be using the park in a way that unmanaged dogs would disturb.
I'm not in favour of a seasonal restriction. I consider the time restriction should be 8am - 6pm
Seasonal restriction is stupid. Dogs still need exercise. Better to have a time restriction so as not to cause a conflict to other users.
Neither.
Time restriction is more relevant away from the sea shore

At all times. Then there can be no misunderstanding of the order. Under the cover of darkness is probably the worst time for offending, people get away
with it, because they can't be seen
Maybe run it like the beaches
Seasonal & Time Restricted.
the restriction should not be to a time or season
No, all dogs should be kept on leads at all times in public parks within the Mid Devon Devon Area.
Both seasonal and/or time restrictions should be used for the maximum benefits to be seen in the neighbourhood.
no time restrictions only
Time restriction. Dogs need exercise all year round, but most owners could walk them morning and evening if they need to be off the lead. The time would
need to vary according to the season.

Page 105

Time Restriction if either although I think in public parks they should be on a lead all the time . ..
The restriction should apply at all times
All the time
Time
Time restriction, due to the busier times of the day with more people and more dogs around within those hours.
Time Restriction
Time Restriction so it applies for the whole year.
At all times.
Time Restriction - more likely to be obeyed.
Dogs should be kept on leads at all times.
Time Restriction.

Time Restriction between hours of 8am to 8pm.
Blanket rules are unnecessary (see previous comments).
Time Restriction. Maybe extend time restriction to 8pm during British Summer Time.
All the time.
Time restriction.
Dogs should be kept on leads at all times in Schedule C Plan 25 & 26. Restrictions should be in force at all times.
On leads at all times. One child bitten is one too many. No restriction.
Neither

Page 106

Seasonal or time of day restriction.
Q10
Fines rather than education.
It does not appear to have worked on the Grand Western Canal in spite of more signs.
There has been ample 'education' in our village by way of signs, pink spray, school poster competition, social media publicity. Best education is a few fines
with press publicity.
TV/press campaigns. More stringent fines.
Signs explaining simply the problem.
In schools for future generations. Explain toxic nature of dog faeces. Posters explaining this in all parks and play areas.
The emphasis should be on successful dog handling and management not on how horrible and anti-social dogs can be.
Prosecution is the only answer. It is no use putting up more notices to be ignored.
I think those who will pick up are probably already doing so and those who won't pick up will just never be bothered.

Only if enforcement happens.
Enforcement i.e. fines and dog wardens would be more effective; Dog owners/handlers should clear up after their pets regardless of where they are
walking them; Dog faeces/excrement does not need to be in a bag. Concerns regarding plastic bags thrown in hedges or left scattered around. Totally in
favour in urban or defined public spaces but as long as 'waste' is dealt with responsibly, using bags is not necessarily required.
You cannot educate pork.
Many dog walkers are unaware even of the existence of dog control orders, and even less the specific details of restrictions. People are particularly
unaware that dog fouling applies to all public land. In its response to a consultation on the refreshed Country Code, we suggested Social media and
influencers, citizenship education in schools and clear graphic messages. These suggestions would apply equally here. Publicity and information about dogs
on leads should emphasise to people that dogs should be kept on a short lead in the vicinity of livestock to protect stock from potential injury and disease.
Proactive measures include communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog faeces can be disposed of in normal litter bins; running responsible
ownership and training events; or using poster campaigns to encourage dog owners to pick up after their dog.

Page 107

It is my feeling that education is always the best form of society control. Education will only help inform people of the pros and cons and methods are used
for responsible ownership and can avoid the need for any unnecessary punitive and controlling laws where common sense and a community-based
approach is much more beneficial.
Dogs Trust works with local authorities across the UK to help promote responsible dog ownership. Please do not hesitate to contact us at
campaigns@dogstrust.org.uk should you wish to discuss this matter.
Highlighting the health dangers, particularly to young children. Perhaps with case studies.
Education regarding the cost to the council of cleaning up, and as to the risks associated with dog fouling
Warning to dog owners the impact they are having by using cameras for not picking up. Not sure how you can get the offenders to listen sadly
Put more flyers up informing of fines and of diseases caused by dog fouling. Pet shops and vets could be included in educating owners. Even educating
children in schools would be good as they would educate their parents.
Education doesn't work. If they don't care, education won't change that. I saw a "Wanted Poster" created by Dover District Council recently inviting people
to provide information on people not cleaning up after their dogs. Reward - 'A cleaner district' Think this is a brilliant idea. We know which local residents
tend to allow their dogs to roam the streets on their own

They need to be seen, named and shamed. Gives us who are responsible a bad name and only a few.
They should be fined heavily.
You need more dog poo bins more fines given out to offenders. There is no deterrent
There are some people who really don't care and no amount of education is going to make a difference. Unfortunately they never get caught and just laugh
at you if you say anything or you get a mouthfuls of abuse.
Particularly MEN rarely pick up for some bizarre reason
No.. everyone who owns dogs know they have to look after them.. fines/penalties are the only education for these individuals

Page 108

This has been an on going problem for years. Unless dog owners are named, shamed and fined they will continue to let their animals foul public areas.
What is need is Enforcement Officers to be visible and for fines to be imposed. As at present nothing is enforced and these people will continue to foul
public areas unchallenged. If members of the general public take it upon themselves to challenge someone they are likely to be subjected to a tirade of
abuse or worse!
I think tough enforcement is needed. Everyone knows they shouldn’t leave their dog poo, but they are too lazy & irresponsible to deal with it.
The owners are usually aware and opt not to pick poo up
Targeting the areas where this is a problem - for example in Bampton this is an issue which affects the whole town not just play/green spaces. It is a
cultural issue - how do you change mindsets so that all understand this to be a crucial issue? How do you make is socially unacceptable? It is the same one
or 2 ignorant dog owners who spoil it for everyone else.
On the spot fine
Information packs at vets
The owners of dogs that don’t pick up their dogs poo are unlikely to change their behaviour but if ALL dogs MUST. E kept on leads in Bampton the
irresponsible ones will find it difficult to talk themselves out of their dogs excrement when it’s viewed by others.
No education would work the people who don't will never do it
Adequate public signage; sufficient dog bins; appropriate fines

Do not leave filled poo bags
Invest money in dog wardens let them do their jobs
Through schools as the children can educate their parents
Whilst I do not need to be educated to know how harmful dog fouling is, if there are dog owners that do need to be educated then I'm all for it.
Why dog faeces can be dangerous to children. notice at the entrance to park, cemetery etc. national campaign to educate all or local stations radio and tv
with repeats annually
About the affects of dog poo on wildlife and people. Leaflets and visable presence. Talking to people. Unfortunately the people who cause the issues walk
their dogs when they cany be seen at night.
People are idiots and don’t care which is a shame as it’s ruining a lot for the people that do care, do clean up after their dogs.
Concentrating on offenders and not the responsible owners.

Page 109

People know right from wrong.Heavily fine those that break law on increasing scale.That would finally educate them perhaps..
Pet owners should pass animal welfare and training test before license issue.
Perhaps pop up information stands in the cca fields so dog walkers can pickup literature and learn how to access dog training options
Being challenged by a patrolling council officer
There needs to be more dog owning classes not just dog training but owner training similar to the parenting classes offered in childrens centres. Making the
classes a legal requirement of owning a dog will increase the number of responsible owners
But more importantly there needs to be consequences for their actions, I have not seen a dog warden in years. So unfair for those who stick to the rules
Consistent messages via Community Groups, Dog Charities, Vets etc through Social Media campaigns dealing with responsible Dog ownership
Toxicaria risks and dog attacks on children and adults. If people wish to keep a dog they must prevent it from posing a risk to others.
Unfortunately the people that allow their dogs to foul and don't clear up after them are unlikely to take any notice of education. A fine might make them
think twice before allowing it to happen again - maybe a doubling of the fine each time they are caught would be more effective.

Most of these questions are irrelevant. The issue here is not tackling irresponsible dog owners. I am more concerned about an irresponsible and overly
punitive local authority who would like to bring something as far reaching as a PSPO to tackle such an issue.
Puppy training is essential for both the owner and the dog. Local canine societies run various training classes and new owners particularly should be
encouraged to join classes. The Kennel Club Good Citizen Dog Scheme is excellent training for dogs and owners and covers all situations in which dogs
might find themselves. Dogs are sociable animals and benefit from interaction with one another if properly trained. More support should be given by
Councils to local training clubs. During the pandemic training clubs have been closed so many dogs will have missed out on crucial early socialisation and
training. Council could give more publicity to training clubs.
Those who do not pick up after their dogs seem to think the rule does not apply to them, they say this only happened this once when I confront them.
Similarly it is the same people who break the existing rules. The only way I see education working if the individuals caught breaking the rule had to take part
in compulsory training, bit like that having to attend if one caught speeding

Page 110

People who don't pick up their dog's mess are unlikely to be influenced by anything other than a fine of some sort,
Compulsory registration of all dogs and a test of competency should be part of the process
I would hope that was true but rules are the. Best way
Education on the harmful effects of faeces to children and the environment including not disposing of bags efficiently
I think people should have to have a licence to have a dog and sould be told how hazardous dog poo is and the amount of children who end up treading in it
are are risk
I think people choose to disregard the law as it's easier for them to do so.
Think we’ve been trying to educate for to long.
The risk of infections and diseases
Posters warning of fines
Tv, Radio, pop up ads, postal mail shots.
Education about the dangers of dog faeces in schools as children would then nag their parents
I believe enforcement of rules and fines needs to better

People know that dog waste is a hazard to public health. Education would be a waste of money on people that can't be educated.
People know what they need to do, they just ignore it. Heavier fines and stronger enforcement is required.
In school (ambassador dogs)
Pick up, no exceptions. It gives the message it's okay if it is not in a public place. Create more bins. Need to educate people it's not okay to bag it and leave
it in the hedgerow, edge of the field etc etc.
I think those who let their dogs foul and do not pick it up do it deliberately. They often walk their dogs very early or late at night to avoid being seen. I'm not
sure education would reduce this activity. Handing out more fines would make people think about what they're doing.
Shortage of dog bins is a massive issue and needs resolving
alerting people to the dangers of dog poo. You could also try rewarding people for picking up their dog poo, a simple 50 p voucher perhaps.
Posters and warnings

Page 111

Emphasis on disease and public displays in parks where dogs are walked.
I think it should get the same sort of publicity that smoking does. Smoking is now seen as fairly anti-social and with the right message being continually be
promoted could make people more confident to challenge anyone they see not pick up an/or give them the information on how to report offenders.
Any form of education (the practice of teaching) has to be useful. Followed by persecution through the law
I am sure officers of the Council have tried to do this, unfortunately it is the same offenders that appear to ignore and do not engage with training, because
they think they know better and have a right to allow their dog to foul where they like.
A mandatory course for those not following the above outlines, schools education to hopefully produce responsible adults
Leaflet social awareness talks descriptions how farm animals can be affected
PCSO and council joint enforcement patrols. Intervention / education in schools - educate the children they educate the irresponsible adults!
Educating offenders - reduce fine & get the offenders to attend a class - a little like speed awareness classes - where they are given detailed facts &
guidance as to why they should do it!
There are always those who deliberately ignore the rules.

social media is now the preferred way to discuss these issues. naming and shaming is what instills most fear in the proletariat these days.
Maybe the dangers of dog fouling to small children if they come into contact with it.
National tv advert
Posters/ leaflet campaign. Active engagement with dog owners by council representatives. More poo bins and notices too please!
Leaflets? it should be part and parcel of how you bring up a dog.
Dog wardens and better signs
Talks to schoolchildren about the responsible ownership of dogs, because if you can teach them at an early age to clear upafter a dog, it will hopefully be
something that they continue into adulthood.

Page 112

Information about the harms of dog fouling especially for children, information about the rules, information about availability of bags, information about
community and care for the environment
Efforts made so far have been very successful. Almost every dog walker I see picks up after their dog.
More signage, More fines and publication of same.
Detailed, graphic information of the disease risks. Cost analysis of cleaning up and collecting abandoned poo bags
Street posters, school talks
Hardly! This has been a problem for years. The number of polite notices have little effect. Some of these people clearly have psychological problems
throwing poo bags into trees & bushes.
In my former Neighbourhood, we raised grants to employ a part-time Community Warden, complete with bodycam. His/her position had no authority but
the bodycam and polite 'advice/guidance' in the park worked wonders!
provide bags and bins to take the waste
Highlight disease
Education in Schools - giving out poo bags Leaflet drops with pics of dog mess on shoes/prams Maps showing dog bins - added on MDDC website ..

Dog licences should be re-introduced at a sufficient price to include third party insurance and only issued after compulsory training, much like driving
licences.
Other Comments
I raise the following points: 1 I do not consider that other options have been considered, as required by the Govt Guidance. 2 I do not consider that the
need for a PSPO has been properly evidenced, as required by the Govt guidance. 3 The PSPO is unenforceable since there is no power to require names and
addresses to be given to officers. The responsible cabinet member has said that the officer could simply call the police, but he is presumably unaware that it
takes 40 minutes or so for a non-urgent call to police even be answered, let alone for a police officer to subsequently attend. Does he think that there is a
power to detain individuals for any period? Such a power to require names and addresses is easily obtained delegated authority from the chief Constable,
but it has not been done. 4 Likewise there is no power to take photographs by officers (nor are body-worn cameras issued to them) and this is remedied in
the same way as point 3. 5 There is little point in having a PSPO if insufficient officer time is then given to enforce it.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Stakeholder

For

Parish & Town Councils in Mid Devon
Bampton Town Council
Burlescombe Parish Council

Yes
Yes

Against

Comments

No Comments
Time Restriction

Black dog

No Response

Bow

No Response

Bradninch

No Response

Chawleigh

No Response

Cheriton Bishop Parish Council

Yes

Page 115

Cheriton Fitzpaine

4 dogs would be more appropriate (Q6) - Time restriction (Q9) - I
think those who will pick up are probably already doing so and
those who won't pick up will just never be bothered (Q10) - Yes
but not in any areas covered by the Order (12)
No Response

Colebrooke

No Response

Copplestone

No Response

Crediton

No Response

Cullompton Town Council

Yes

Page 116

Culmstock
Halberton
Hemyock
Holcombe Rogus Parish Council

No Response
No Response
Millhayes, Logan Way and Longmead to be added to dogs on
leads, areas missed from pre consultation
Yes

Lapford
Morchard Bishop Parish Council
Oakford
Puddington
Sandford Peverell

Dependent on varying factors, It was agreed it would be difficult
to determine what could be considered reasonable for individual
dog owners eg individuals' capability and also the size of the dogs
they are responsible for/walking. (Q6) - Yes. When this
consultation relates solely to Schedules B, C & D as opposed to
across fields, public footpaths and roads etc (Q7) - Dogs should be
kept on leads at all times in Schedule C Plan 25 & 26. Restrictions
should be in force at all times (Q9) - Enforcement i.e. fines and
dog wardens would be more effective; Dog owners/handlers
should clear up after their pets regardless of where they are
walking them; Dog faeces/excrement does not need to be in a
bag. Concerns regarding plastic bags thrown in hedges or left
scattered around. Totally in favour in urban or defined public
spaces but as long as 'waste' is dealt with responsibly, using bags
is not necessarily required (Q10)

Should be 4 (Q6) - Time Restriction so it applies for the whole
year (Q9) - It does not appear to have worked on the Grand
Western Canal in spite of more signs (Q10)
No Response

Yes

Neither (Q9)
No Response
No Response
No Response

Sandford Parish Council
Shobrooke
Silverton Parish Council
Tiverton
Uffculme
Wembworthy Parish Council

Willand Parish Council

Page 117
Chief Constable of Devon & Cornwall Police
The Police & Crime Commissioner
All neighbouring Local Authorities
Devon County Council
East Devon

Exeter City
North Devon
Plymouth

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

All dogs should be on lead walking amongst livestock (Q7). - All
the time (Q9)
No Response
Only if enforcement happens (Q10)
No Response
No Response
Park (in Wembworthy) prohibits dogs already. (Q3) - Time
Restriction between hours of 8am to 8pm (Q9) - In schools for
future generations. Explain toxic nature of dog faeces. Posters
explaining this in all parks and play areas (Q10)
There has been ample 'education' in our village by way of signs,
pink spray, school poster competition, social media publicity. Best
education is a few fines with press publicity (Q10) - Many dog
owning residents would appreciate being able to walk their dogs
on a lead, using the edge of the grass area from the Pear Drive
entrance to the Jaycroft entrance. I believe that the Victoria Close
Play Area which is maintained by MDDC allows dogs within the
grassed area as long as they are on a lead
No Response
No Response

No Response
Thank you for the consultation on your proposed PSPO. We have
no comments to make other than it is very similar to our PSPOs
with the exception of dogs on leads alongside roads
No Response
No Response
No Response

South Hams
Teignbridge
Torquay
Torridge
West Devon
Devon County Council Canal

Page 118

Operational Managers of all Council departments within Mid
Devon District Council

No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
I note that a sign has been put up on the fence around the Canal
Basin Play Park regarding the public consultation on the PSPO. I
welcome this, but following on from the thread below wonder if
there is a reason why the Canal Basin picnic area has not been not
been included in the consultation?
Yes

Local Community Centres
Cullompton Community Centre
Old Heathcoat School
Sunningmead Community Association

Yes

The Boniface Centre

Yes

Members of Parliament whose constituencies include part of the
Mid Devon District

No comments

No Response
No Response
Limit should be less, maximum 4 (Q6) - Dogs should be kept on
leads at all times (Q9) - TV/press campaigns. More stringent fines
(Q10)
Time Restriction. Maybe extend time restriction to 8pm during
British Summer Time (Q9)
No Response

All MDDC Councillors

Page 119
Ramblers & Walking Groups

Yes

and heavily fined if not (Q1) - Dogs should not be in either
cemetary or churchyard. Saftey & health should always come first
(Q3) - Of course! Dog muck causes disease! (Q4) - A blanket ban
on dogs "off lead" in public parks is unnecessary and oppressive.
Parish & Town Councils should be given delegated/discretionary
powers to ban dogs "off lead" either completely or in given areas
or at specific times (Q7) Time Restriction (Q9) - Blanket rules are
unnecessary (Q9) - On leads at all times. One child bitten is one
too many. No restriction (Q9) - Signs explaining simply the
problem (Q10) - The emphasis should be on successful dog
handling and management not on how horrible and anti-social
dogs can be (Q10) - Yes I run two dogs (Q11) - I raise the following
points: 1 I do not consider that other options have been
considered, as required by the Govt Guidance. 2 I do not consider
that the need for a PSPO has been properly evidenced, as
required by the Govt guidance. 3 The PSPO is unenforceable since
there is no power to require names and addresses to be given to
officers. The responsible cabinet member has said that the officer
could simply call the police, but he is presumably unaware that it
takes 40 minutes or so for a non-urgent call to police even be
answered, let alone for a police officer to subsequently attend.
Does he think that there is a power to detain individuals for any
period? Such a power to require names and addresses is easily
obtained delegated authority from the chief Constable, but it has
not been done. 4 Likewise there is no power to take photographs
by officers (nor are body-worn cameras issued to them) and this is
remedied in the same way as point 3. 5 There is little point in
having a PSPO if insufficient officer time is then given to enforce
it.

East Devon Ramblers
Ramblers
Exeter and District
Exeter Outdoor Group
South Devon Ramblers

No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response

Yes

Far too many for 1 person to control (Q6)
No Response

The Kennel Club

Yes

If dog owners are approached at the end of a walk they may have
already used the bags that they have taken out or given a spare
bag to someone who has run out for example (Q2) - An arbitary
maximum number of dogs is an inappropriate approach. Consider
accreditation scheme for commercial dog walkers (Q5) - Seasonal
or time of day restriction (Q9) - Proactive measures include
communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog faeces can
be disposed of in normal litter bins; running responsible
ownership and training events; or using poster campaigns to
encourage dog owners to pick up after their dog (Q10)

Page 120

Animal Welfare Groups
Blue Cross
RSPCA

Boarding Kennels within the Mid Devon District
Bunkersland Boarding
Cottage Boarding & Rescue
Country Hounds
Lapford Lodge
Little Oaks

No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response

Orchard End Kennels & Cattery

Yes

Sunnymead

Page 121

Sports Clubs
Bradninch Bowling Club
Bradninch Cricket Club
Crediton Bowling Club
Crediton Rugby, Football Club
Cullompton Rangers FC
Cullomtpon Rugby Club
Cullomtpon Taekwondo Club

Lots of dogs are family pets and so children may be unsupervised
if not allowed in; could make it mandatory that they are kept on
leads in the area instead (Q4) - Time Restriction - more likely to be
obeyed (Q9)
No Response

Yes

No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
I think 4 (Q6) - Professional dog walkers will probably want a
minimum of 6 dogs (Q7)
No Response
No Response

Devon Countrywide access Forum

Page 122
Elmore AFC
Exeter & District Lawn Tennis League

Yes

We advise as much consistency as possible is required so that dog
owners become aware of restrictions and are confident in walking
their dogs in other areas. We note that the neighbouring
authorities of East Devon and Teignbridge have set a limit of six so
it is appropriate that Mid Devon should propose the same
number. It is not clear whether professional dog walkers have
been considered and whether these are currently licenced by the
authority as this is a growing business sector (Q6) - When seeking
to put a dogs on leads restriction in public spaces, the Forum
advises that there is a need to consider a fair balance between
rights of owners and non-dog owners, particularly in urban areas
where the restrictions can be extensive. This could have the effect
of forcing dog owners into cars to go to rural areas with public
rights of way and other public space not affected by restrictions.
Alternatively, owners may ignore the legislation if they believe it
to be unreasonable. Dog owning is important to health and
wellbeing and the major reason why people go out. More
consideration needs to be given to providing areas where dogs
can legitimately be let off lead (Q7) - Many dog walkers are
unaware even of the existence of dog control orders, and even
less the specific details of restrictions. People are particularly
unaware that dog fouling applies to all public land. In its response
to a consultation on the refreshed Country Code, we suggested
Social media and influencers, citizenship education in schools and
clear graphic messages. These suggestions would apply equally
here. Publicity and information about dogs on leads should
emphasise to people that dogs should be kept on a short lead in
the vicinity of livestock to protect stock from potential injury and
disease (Q10) - Several members are dog owners and/or
landowners with farm dogs (Q11) - Some members do (Q12)
No Response
No Response

Heathcoat Cricket Club
Mid Devon Indoor Bowles Centre
Morebath Cricket Club
Newton St Cyres Golf Course
Petroc Fitness Centre
Rackenford Club
Sampford Peverell & Tiverton Cricket Club

Yes

Page 123

Tiverton Borough Bowles Club
Tiverton Bowling Club
Tiverton Rugby Club
Tiverton Sword Fencing Club
Tiverton Town Football Club
Tiverton WestEnd Bowling Club
WGA Golf Course
Unknown Stakeholder responses

No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
6 is too many. Suggest 3-4 as maximum (Q6)
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response
No Response

Yes

Should be no more than 3 (Q6) - Or lower (Q6) - 2 (Q6) - At all
times (Q9) - fines rather than education (Q10)

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment Form and Action Table 2015
(Expand the boxes as appropriate, please see guidance
"I shall try to explain what "due regard" means and how the courts interpret it. The courts
have made it clear that having due regard is more than having a cursory glance at a
document before arriving at a preconceived conclusion. Due regard requires public
authorities, in formulating a policy, to give equality considerations the weight which is
proportionate in the circumstances, given the potential impact of the policy on
equality. It is not a question of box-ticking; it requires the equality impact to be
considered rigorously and with an open mind."
Baroness Thornton, March 2010
What are you completing the Impact
Assessment on (which policy,
service, MTFP reference etc.)?
Version

2

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER DOGS
Date

1 July 2021

Section 1 – Description of what is being impact assessed
The impact of a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO), if made and in force.
The PSPO would place certain requirements and prohibitions on the public when
using certain public spaces in the Mid Devon District.
Section 2A – People or communities that are targeted or could be affected (taking
particular note of the Protected Characteristic listed in action table)
All members of the public would be required to abide by the PSPO, if made and in
force. The PSPO does contain exemptions in Clause 10 which would exclude any
person who:
1. is registered as blind, sight or hearing impaired under the National Assistance Act
1948, or any other legislation;
2. has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical coordination, or
ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a dog trained by a
registered charity and upon which he relies for assistance;
3. is using a working dog for purposes of law enforcement, military duties or statutory
emergency services (search and rescue); or
4. is using a working dog for agricultural activities or exempt hunting as set out in
Schedule 1 of the Hunting Act 2004.
Section 2B – People who are delivering the policy or service

Policy proposed by Street Scene and Open Spaces. If made and in force, the PSPO
will be enforced by Council Officers (Street Scene) and the police.

Page 125

1

Section 3 – Evidence and data used for the assessment (Attach documents where
appropriate)
A review of Guidance highlighted the specific impact of a PSPO on members of the
public with certain protected characteristics i.e. disability.
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.21%20PSPO%20guidance_06_1.pdf
Two public consultations were undertaken concerning the proposed terms of the
PSPO and asking for comments on the PSPO’s impact.
Section 4 – Conclusions drawn about the equalities impact (positive or negative) of the
proposed change or new service/policy:

It is clear that the requirements and prohibitions suggested within the PSPO were going
to have a direct impact as described above, and so the PSPO was drafted to allow any
persons with the disability protected characteristics to be exempt from Order.
The purpose of an equality impact assessment is the ensure that our services, policies
and practices do not directly, indirectly, intentionally or unintentionally discriminate
against the users of our services or our staff. Where a negative impact is found, we will
mitigate the impact through the development and implementation of equality
improvement plans.

Page 126

1

If you have identified any negative impacts you will need to consider how these can be
mitigated to either reduce or remove them. In the table below let us know what mitigation
you will take. (Please add rows where needed)
Identified issue drawn
from your conclusions

Actions needed – can
you mitigate the
impacts? If you can
how will you mitigate
the impacts?

Who is
responsible for the
actions? When will
the action be
completed?

How will it be
monitored? What
is the expected
outcome from the
action?

N/A

N/A

N/A

The exemptions
contained within section
10 of the draft PSPO fully
mitigate the impacts
identified.

Environment
and
Enforcement
Manager

Complaints
should be
monitored to
ensure Council
Officers
responsible for
enforcement have
regard to the
exemptions in
practice.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Age
Different approaches and
mechanisms are required
for engaging with and
representing, people of
different ages, in particular
children and young people.
Disability
Different approaches and
mechanisms may be
required for engaging with
and representing, people
with a range of disabilities
depending on their
individual needs.

Gender Reassignment
It is very important that the N/A
specification does not
discriminate against those
who are or have
undergone gender
reassignment who
currently use the service or
may wish to use it in the
future.
Marriage and Civil Partnership
No issues identified

N/A

Page 127

Pregnancy and Maternity
It is very important that the N/A
specification does not
discriminate against those
who are pregnant, who
use the service or who
wish to use it in the future.

N/A

N/A

Race (including ethnicity or national origin, colour, nationality and Gypsies and Travellers)
It is very important that the N/A
specification reflects the
particular needs of people
from all backgrounds who
currently use the service or
may wish to use it in the
future.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

It is very important that the N/A
specification reflects the
particular needs of people
irrelevant of their sex who
currently use the service or
may wish to use it in the
future.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Religion and Belief
It is very important that the
specification reflects the
particular needs of people
irrelevant of their religions
and beliefs who currently
use the service or may
wish to use it in the future.

Sex

Sexual Orientation
It is very important that the
specification reflects the
particular needs of people
irrelevant of their sexual
orientation who currently
use the service or may
wish to use it in the future.

N/A

Page 128

Other (including caring responsibilities, rurality, low income, Military Status etc)
The specification requires Environment and
Rurality
the Provider to meet the
Enforcement
needs of all people in Mid Manager
It is important that the
Devon, to have a
service is able to engage
presence in local
with and represent
individuals who live in rural communities and ensure
areas and / or have limited that communication plans
access to public transport. reflect the rurality of Mid
Devon.

Complaints and/or
comments should
be monitored to
ensure
compliance.

The Provider is required
to ensure that the service
represents the diverse
population of Mid Devon
and that reasonable
adjustments are made to
all services / activities to
ensure individuals are
able to access the
service.
Operational
commissioning of the
service will ensure that
the service is being
delivered according to
the service specification
and quality standards
and will take account of
customer feedback.

Section 6 - How will the assessment, consultation and outcomes be published and
communicated? E.g. reflected in final strategy, published. What steps are in place to
review the Impact Assessment?
Published with the Policy, also the Committee and Cabinet Reports. The assessment
will be taken into account by Members in making the final decision about whether to
make the PSPO in the recommended form.
Completed by:

Vicky Lowman

Date

01.07.2021

Signed off by:
Date
Compliance sign off Date
To be reviewed by: (officer name )
Review date:

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
CABINET
3 AUGUST 2021
REVIEW OF TREE POLICY
Cabinet Member(s):

Cllr Colin Slade Cabinet Member for the Environment and
Climate Change.

Responsible Officer:

Andrew Busby Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure
and Climate Change.

Reason for Report: To recommend to Cabinet the adoption of this policy for five
years.
Recommendation: That Cabinet adopts the revised Tree Policy attached at
Annex A for five years.
Financial Implications: There are no direct financial implications arising from this
review. It should be noted that the impact of Ash Die Back and the management of
trees affected would become more significant. It is anticipated that development of
the tree stock to support Net Zero carbon emissions will have limited direct cost
impact.
Budget and Policy Framework: It is essential that the budget for trees is
maintained to enable the Council to fulfil its obligations for their management.
Development of the stock in support of Net Zero is anticipated to be delivered with
support group volunteers and ‘free issue’ trees with limited direct budget impact.
Legal Implications: The Council could be prosecuted or a civil claim brought in the
event of any injury arising from a falling or dangerous tree.
Risk Assessment: A Tree Policy that sets out how Mid Devon manages its tree
stock is essential and ensures that the inherent risk associated with trees is
managed.
Equality Impact Assessment: This Policy does not directly impact any Equality
issues.
Relationship to Corporate Plan: Trees form an essential part of our landscape and
it is essential they are looked after. Trees enhance our open space, contribute to
well-being and support the mitigation of the effects of climate change.
Impact on Climate Change: Trees form an essential element of the Council’s drive
towards Net Zero carbon emissions.

1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Community Services Committee originally adopted Mid Devon’s Tree Policy
in March 2006 and it was last reviewed by Members in 2016.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
1 131

1.2

In line with Council protocol, after five years the Tree Policy is scheduled for
a further review. The revised policy is attached at Annex A.

1.3

A leaflet for Guidance to Residents reflects the Tree Policy and is available at
our offices and can also be found on the Council’s web page. Annex B.

1.4

At their meeting on 13 July 2021, the Environment PDG recommended the revised
Tree Policy be adopted as attached in Annex A for five years subject to minor
amendments.

1.5

Members requested an addition to the Policy so that it would be possible for some
stock to be removed to allow the growth of new trees in the area, which would
keep the woodlands sustainable. This minor amendment has been added to para
5.4 (j) of the policy.

2.0

Scope of Policy

2.1

The Policy covers only the management of the Council’s trees and woodland.

2.2

It does not cover:
a)

Protected trees (Tree Preservation Orders, Conservation areas and
Planning Conditions) on private land

b)

Trees affected by development

c)

Dangerous privately owned trees

d)

Privately owned trees or woodland

e)

Trees managed by another authority or agency

f)

High hedges

3.0

Changes to Previous Version

3.1

There is no fundamental change to how the Council shall deal with tree issues and
with its current Tree Policy.

3.2

The previous version of the Policy was set out with a number of conservation
objectives and set out with clear headings stating how the Council shall deal with
subjects such as Tree Maintenance, Tree Pruning, Tree Removal, Tree Planting
and Subsidence.

3.3

This revision restates and reinforces the objective and principles of the
previous policy and seeks to raise the profile of the part trees can play in the
Council’s carbon reduction and Net Zero objective obligations, in light of the
Climate Emergency declaration.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page 2132

3.4

This revision makes reference to Ash Dieback disease. Trees affected will be
managed in-line with the Policy for pruning and felling as necessary. It should
be noted that this may consume an increasing element of the tree budget.

4.0

Management Arrangements

4.1

The Council manages its own stock by initially surveying its trees, recording
this survey on the tree database/ GIS system and follow-up cyclical
inspections with period based on risk assessment score.

4.2

Management Plans are being prepared for areas of more dense tree stock for
their maintenance and development as amenity and environmental assets.

4.3

Concerns raised by residents or the impact of unforeseen events are dealt
with on a case by case basis in accordance with the Policy.

5.0

Finance

5.1

The budget for tree management sits within the General Fund Parks and
Open Space cost centre. In the current 2021/22 financial year is £26k made
up of £14.1k for works, £2.2k for software and £9.7k Tree Officer salary
contribution. The Housing Revenue Account has budget of £19.8k made up of
£10k for works and £9.8k Tree Officer salary contribution and Planning a £13k
budget for Tree Officer salary contribution.

5.2

The Property Services unit manages the tree stock on the General Fund and
supports the Housing Service with the management of trees on HRA land.

6.0

Conclusion

6.1

The Tree Policy has been reviewed in 2021 and Climate Change objectives
have been considered; there is no fundamental change to the existing Tree
Policy. The minor changes recommended by the Environment PDG have been
captured within the revised policy.

6.2

There is a recommendation to Cabinet to adopt the revised tree policy for a
further five years.

Contact for more Information: Andrew Busby -Corporate Manager for Property,
Leisure and Climate Change, Email: abusby@middevon.gov.uk ,Tel: 01884255255.
Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Member for the Environment and Climate
Change, Leadership Team.
List of Background Papers:
Proposals for Tree Planting – Environment Policy Development Group 10 March
2020
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s16929/Environment%20PDGTree%
20Reportv2%20Final%20280220.pdf
Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
3 133

Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan – Environment Policy Development Group
8 September 2020
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s18313/Environment%20pdg%20Cli
mate%20Strategy%20Report%2008092020%20v4.pdf

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page 4134

Annex A:
MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
TREE CONSERVATION AND MAINTENANCE POLICY
For trees owned or managed by Mid Devon District Council
VISION

A healthy, diverse and expanding population of trees that enhances the environment
of Mid Devon.
Aims
The aims of the Policy are to:


Conserve and protect the tree resource of the District Council by establishing
clear objectives and policy.



Provide clarity over why decisions and actions are or are not taken.



Work towards a proactive management of trees not just a reactive service.



Balance the risk and nuisance to persons and property against the other aims.

Scope
This Policy covers individual trees or groups of trees and woodland owned by Mid
Devon.
It does not cover the management of privately owned trees or woodland, trees
managed by another authority or agency.
High Hedges, Tree Preservation Orders, and trees within Conservation Areas are not
covered by this Policy as they are subject to separate legislation.
1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Council owns or controls a large and varied population of trees. They are
scattered across a range of landholdings from parks and housing estates to
road verges and village greens. These trees form a vital conservation and
amenity resource and add to the visual environment that signifies Mid Devon
as a predominately rural area.

1.2

The trees also contribute to the Council’s climate change objectives.

1.3

This Policy will guide the Council in conserving, managing and developing that
resource and will help fulfil its Corporate Plan, namely Environment and
related climate change commitments.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
5 135

1.4

The Environment Policy Development Group has, as one of its
responsibilities, the setting of Policy for the conservation and management of
trees and woodlands across all service areas

1.5

Policy relating to development planning issues as they affect the landscape
and environment is already contained within the Local Plan. This Tree Policy
adds to those policies and will, it is envisaged, link with the Local
Development Framework.

1.6

This Tree Policy in particular applies to Council owned or controlled trees
affected by development, but not subject to normal planning scrutiny because
the development is permitted by virtue of the General (Permitted)
Development Order 1994 or other exceptions.

1.7

Trees within the grounds of Council owned housing stock will be covered by
these policies subject also to the provision of the tenancy agreements. Where
housing stock is to be disposed of to associations or other multiple owners
they should be encouraged to adopt these policies.

1.8

Where the Council sells or otherwise disposes of land it must ensure the trees
contained therein are adequately protected against removal or poor
management so that the trees may provide visual amenity now and/or in the
future. This may be achieved through the use of Tree Preservation Orders.

1.9

The aims are given effect by the following objectives.

2.0

Tree Management

2.1

Mid Devon has a wide range of trees ranging from newly planted to one of the
oldest trees in Devon. The Council manages trees in open spaces, parks,
cemeteries, on housing land and on adopted land following development. The
mature trees within its formal parks are an important asset to the Mid Devon
landscape.

2.2

Before undertaking tree work the status of the tree(s) shall be considered to
ensure the requirements of the various Planning, Forestry and Wildlife and
Countryside Acts and Regulations are met. Development Control shall be
provided with the required notice of works to trees within a Conservation Area
and apply for works to trees protected by Tree Preservation Orders, as is
considered to be best practice in accordance with guidance.

2.3

Before negotiations are started for the disposal of Council land, the Corporate
Manager for Property should be consulted to see if a full tree survey is
needed so that appropriate measures to protect trees can be considered.

2.4

A full tree survey shall be undertaken on Council land that is to be developed
to ensure sympathetic development and so that the amenity provided by the
trees is preserved.

2.5

Management decisions are made in the context of the wider benefit of the
trees to the general public and wildlife conservation. Tree works will be

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page 6136

evaluated primarily in relation to the assessment of risk posed, visual amenity
and environmental benefit offered.
2.6

Where the best technical solution for a tree incurs significant additional
expenditure, the cost of the work shall be balanced against the tree’s value
assessed using the procedure of CAVAT (Capital Asset Value for Amenity
Trees). If the best solution is beyond available resources the Corporate
Manager for Property shall be consulted.

2.7

The Council will continue a rolling maintenance plan to reduce avoidable
risks. This will include an inspection regime, which is recorded on an
electronic database. The maintenance plan will highlight issues such as:
a)
b)
c)

2.8

The removal of identifiable risks
The pruning of new and young trees to ensure a good stock
The removal or pruning of trees where they are proven to be causing
excessive problems or significantly affecting the quality of life (this will
be discussed further within the Policy)

Works to trees outside the programmed maintenance plan will only be
undertaken when the tree is clearly identified as being a hazard or with
reasonable probability will become a hazard, i.e. it is:
a)
b)
c)

Unsafe
Obstructing public footpaths or roads
Proven to be damaging property

2.9

The Council shall, wherever practicable, vigorously pursue any perpetrators of
serious acts of wilful damage or destruction to its trees.

3.0

Woodland Management

3.1

Mid Devon owns several small areas of woodland which are managed for
conservation, public access and safety. Management Plans will be prepared
for improvement and development.

4.0

Tree Pruning

4.1

Trees, from time to time may require pruning. Ideally trees would be planted in
situations where pruning would not become necessary, however it is
recognised that this has often not been the case. Pruning may become
necessary if a tree is to be retained in a space that is too small, to prolong the
safe life of a mature tree, to alleviate a nuisance, to remove a hazard or
formative pruning (where young newly planted trees are pruned to encourage
a good branch structure). A request for tree pruning will be considered on a
case by case basis but as a general rule:

4.2

Permission will not normally be given to prune trees because of:
a)
b)
c)

Leaf fall
Fruit fall
Bird droppings

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
7 137

d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)
k)
4.3

Interference with TV signals
They block a view
They cause an acceptable level of shading
Fears that they may damage a building or surface with no evidence
Aphid infestation (Honeydew)
Because they are considered by some to be too tall
Because they overhang an adjacent property, where no damage is
likely (each case is assessed individually)
They are shading solar panels

Permission for pruning will normally be considered or granted where the work
is in the interests of the tree’s future and accords with the latest version of
BS3998 Tree Work Recommendations (2010) and:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Is required to prevent proven direct or indirect damage to a building
Would not adversely affect public amenity
Where it is necessary to improve the growth of adjacent better quality
trees
In cases of excessive shading where the public amenity will not be
affected

5.0

Tree Removal

5.1

There is a need to conserve the present tree cover but on occasion tree
removal may be justified. This Policy sets out circumstances where tree
removal may be acceptable.

5.2

The principle reasons for tree removal may be where a tree is in a hazardous
condition, is causing proven damage to a building; or its removal would
benefit the long term development of adjacent, better quality trees.

5.2.1 Cases of shading of property and garden are considered individually. Where
shading is excessive and shown to affect the living conditions of those
involved, consideration may be given to the removal of the tree. In the majority
of cases claims of trees, causing shading is not sufficient reason to have trees
removed.
5.2.2 Any request for tree removal will be considered on a case by case basis but
as a general rule:5.3

Permission will not normally be given to remove trees because of:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

Leaf fall
Fruit fall
Bird droppings
Interference with TV signals
They block a view
They cause an acceptable level of shading
Fears that they may damage buildings with no evidence
They are deemed to be too tall
Aphid infestation (Honeydew)
They are shading solar panels

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page 8138

5.4

However, the Council does recognise that there may be occasions where
trees can cause excessive problems when in close proximity to property,
which can significantly affect the quality of life. In such exceptional
circumstance the Council may consider removing a Council owned tree.
When reaching a decision the Council will take into account:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

5.5

Public amenity value
Species
Size
Age
Condition
Density of the canopy
Proximity to the building
Any proven damage
Scope for replanting with a more suitable species
To keep our woodlands sustainable, it will be possible for some stock to
be removed to allow the growth of new trees

Normally consideration will only be given to fell a Council tree if one or more
of the following apply:
a)
b)
c)

d)

The tree is proven to be causing or likely to be causing damage to a
building (see subsidence).
Where a council tree is in a hazardous condition and felling is the only
solution.
Where a significant level of shading is caused to a home or garden and
the tree is not of exceptional amenity value (An assessment will be
made for each individual request).
Where the removal of the tree would be in the interests of good
silvicultural or arboricultural management and would benefit the long
term development of adjacent better quality trees.

5.6

Where there is a requirement or duty to plant a replacement tree it shall be of
suitable size and species to avoid causing future problems. On the whole
replacement trees are necessary where permission has been given to fell
protected trees. The Council will endeavour to plant replacement trees where
suitable, following removal; this may require finding a more suitable location
or careful species selection.

6.0

Tree Planting

6.1

The Council wishes to increase the tree cover across the District, but budget
restrictions may mean that we cannot commit to replacing every Council tree
that is felled. Where public amenity is affected by tree removal we will
endeavour to plant replacement trees.

6.2

The Council follows the Right Tree – Right Place approach: the principal of
which is to ensure that only trees appropriate for a site are considered and
hence avoiding potential problems forever.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
9 139

6.3

Planting native trees will generally be preferred especially if the intent is to
encourage wildlife. Non-native specimens may be selected for park and
slightly more formal areas as these species are often an important feature of
the landscape, particularly in town. Many of the species present in our parks
are non-native. Consideration will also be given to current pest and disease
problems when selecting trees.

6.4

The Council has a commitment for tree planting to support Net Zero carbon
emission objectives and is actively engaging with volunteer groups to
supplement its own resource for tree planting and woodland management.

7.0

Subsidence

7.1

Subsidence is a complex interaction between the soil, building, climate and
vegetation that occurs on highly shrinkable clay soils when the soil
supporting all or part of a building dries out and consequently shrinks,
resulting in part of a building moving downwards.

7.2

Trees lose water from leaves through transpiration that is replenished by
water taken from the soil by the roots. If the tree takes more water from the
soil than is replaced by rainfall, the soil will gradually dry out. Trees have a
large root system and they can dry the soil to a greater depth, critically below
the level of foundations. The amount of water trees can remove from the soil
can vary between different species. This policy seeks to set out the Council’s
response to both subsidence claims against its own trees.

7.3

The opposite of subsidence is a process called ‘heave’ and this occurs as
shrinkable clay soil rehydrates and begins to increase in volume exerting
upward pressure. Heave can also cause damage to buildings and is just as
undesirable as subsidence.

7.4

However, trees are not the only factors that can cause building movement.
For example natural seasonal soil moisture changes, localised geological
variations, lack of flank wall restraint, over loading of internal walls, internal
alterations reducing the load bearing capacity of the original building,
installation of replacement windows without proper support, loft conversions,
settlement and land slip etc. can cause building movement.

7.5

While the Council recognises its responsibilities for the trees it manages, it will
expect any claim against its own trees to be supported by sufficient evidence
to show that the tree in question, on the balance of probabilities, is an
influencing cause in the subsidence.

7.6

Where necessary the Council will obtain expert specialist advice to verify
submitted evidence and where it demonstrates that the tree is an influencing
cause, permission to remove the tree will not be unreasonably withheld.

7.7

Modern building standards mean that the risk to newer buildings tends to be
isolated and the Council will expect new buildings to be built to industry
guidance and therefore should not subside due to trees that were in existence
when the building was constructed.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page 10
140

7.8

Where cracking to property has occurred you should consult with your
insurers to determine a probable cause.

7.9

There is no evidenced based or credible guidance as to how close trees need
to be to cause damage; although there is some information on the internet
which the Council feels can be quite misleading. Many trees and houses are
able to co-exist happily in often close proximity.

7.10

The Council will not normally subject its trees to a regular cycle of heavy
pruning to deal with suspected subsidence damage. Instead it will usually opt
for removal and replacement planting with an alternative species that will not
cause future subsidence related problems.

7.11

It should be noted that cases of tree related subsidence are rare in the Mid
Devon area.

8.0

Provision of Advice

8.1

The Council recognises the need to raise awareness of tree issues. One way
to achieve this is to provide a range of easily understood and relevant
arboricultural advice. A “Tree Guidance” leaflet has been produced which
aims to answers many of the frequently asked questions relating to tree
problems. The leaflet is available at the Council offices and on the Mid Devon
Web Site.

8.2

The Council may provide verbal information to assist with commonly asked
questions but is unable to offer a full advisory service to private individuals. It
will encourage the use of the Arboricultural Association’s Directory of
registered consultants and contractors.

8.3

The Council would like to be involved in community projects relating to tree
planting and maintenance and assist with environmental education within the
community of Mid Devon as and where requested, appropriate and according
to available resources.

9.0

Supplementary

9.1

The Council will use contractors for tree work who can demonstrate
compliance with all the necessary health and safety regulations can provide
the highest standard of work operationally and meet the highest arboricultural
standards. Preference, where appropriate or available, may be given to those
contractors approved by the Arboricultural Association.

9.2

The Corporate Manager for Property shall review this policy on a regular basis
and recommend necessary changes. This may include data on infringements,
referrals, problems of interpretation or operation and gaps in coverage.

Cabinet 030821–Tree Policy

Page
11 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Mid Devon District Council

Tree Guidance
Introducon
Mid Devon District Council is ﬁrmly committed to maintaining and enhancing the areas trees and
woodlands, as a vital part of the environment.
In view of the beneﬁts that we receive from trees and the Council’s responsibility for tree management
and protection it is ﬁtting for the Council to set out its approach to these issues. The purpose of
this document is to identify and address fundamental issues raised by members of the public with
frequently asked questions. If the questions identiﬁed within this document do not answer your
enquiry please contact our Tree Ofﬁcer on 01884 255255 for a case by case assessment.

The beneﬁts of urban trees within Mid Devon
There is a substantial body of research that supports the following beneﬁts that trees bring to urban
areas.
Environmental
• Reduce localised temperature extremes.
• Provide shade, making streets and buildings cooler in summer.
• Help to improve air quality by reducing dust and particulates.
• Improve environmental performance of buildings.
• Help to reduce trafﬁc noise, absorbing and deﬂecting sound.
• Help to reduce local wind speeds.
• Increase biodiversity and provide food and shelter for wildlife.
• Assist in land remediation.
• Reduce the effects of ﬂash ﬂooding by rainfall interception.
Social
• Improve the quality and perception of the urban environment.
• Create community focal points and landmark links.
• Create sense of place and local identity.
• Beneﬁt communities socially by instilling higher public esteem and pride for an area.
• Positive impact on both physical and mental health and well being.
• Positive impact on crime reduction.
• Improve health in the urban population.
Economic
• Have the potential to increase residential and commercial property values by between 7% to 15%.
• Improve the environmental performance of buildings and therefore the economic performance
through reducing heating and cooling costs.
• Can provide mature landscapes that confer a premium for development sites.
• Assist the appreciation of property values proportionate to their scale as they grow larger.
• Creating a positive perception for prospective purchasers of property.
• Enhance the prospects of securing planning permission.
• Improve health in the urban population, thus reducing healthcare costs.
• Provide a potential long term renewable energy resource.

Mid Devon District Council
Phoenix House
Phoenix Lane
Tiverton, EX16 6PP
Tel: 01884 255255
Web: www.middevon.gov.uk

Page 143

What will the Council do about...
The Council owned tree is too big, moves in the wind and looks dangerous…
The Mid Devon District Council Tree Ofﬁcer is a qualiﬁed tree expert who will inspect a tree following
an enquiry or in-line with the tree risk management strategy following routine inspections. All
inspections are recorded electronically. It is recognised that the movement of trees in the wind does
not automatically signify that a tree is dangerous, our inspection will determine its condition.

The tree outside my house in the pavement is blocking the passage of pedestrians and or vehicles…
Trees will be pruned to meet the legal requirement as stated within the Highways Act as identiﬁed by
the County Councils Highways Inspectors.

The tree outside my house has not been pruned for
ages, is too tall and needs to be lopped back…
Trees in Mid Devon District Council ownership are regularly inspected, any safety or maintenance
related works are reported at this time. Mid Devon District Council does not reduce the height of trees
as a matter of course, as this can stimulate rapid regrowth and/or cause signiﬁcant defects in the
tree’s structure, which are hard to detect.

A council owned tree is shading my property…
Householders have no right to
light from across a neighbours
land. Likewise there is no right
to a view, and a view obstructed
by the growth of trees cannot
legally be regarded as a
nuisance. Where requests are
made to prune trees to increase
light levels, each instance will
be assessed on its merits.The
householder may be assisted
where appropriate, if this is
possible without excess injury
to or removal of healthy trees or
branches. As a general policy
the council will not undertake
the topping, thinning or felling of
trees simply to allow more light
to a property, where the trees
in question would not otherwise
require any surgery.

The tree is making a scky mess on my car or garden…
The problem is caused by aphid infestation and is known as honeydew. This is a particular problem
with tree species such as Lime and Sycamore. Unfortunately this is a problem that cannot be solved
by pruning or spraying with insecticides. Mid Devon District Council will prune trees where the work
complies with best practice but will not fell or disﬁgure trees to deal with this issue. The sugar solution
is only a mild one and should not affect paintwork on cars, if the car is washed at regular intervals.

Birds roosng in the trees outside my house are creang a mess on my car or drive…
This inconvenience is not sufﬁcient justiﬁcation to remove or disﬁgure the tree. Unfortunately pruning
the tree is not the solution either, as the birds will simply roost on the remaining branches.

Page 144
Tree Guidance

Tree branches growing across my boundary…
There is no requirement in law to prevent trees
spreading over a boundary. However, whilst
there is no obligation to prune trees, if branches
or roots encroach on to neighbouring land they
are legally regarded as a nuisance. Under the
terms of law the tree owner is not obliged to cut
back the branches overhanging their neighbours
garden.The onus is on the owner of the adjacent
land concerned to action their legal right and
‘abate the nuisance’.Where requests are made
to prune trees that overhang a boundary each
instance will be assessed on its merits.As a
general policy, the council will only undertake
work to lessen tree encroachment, where the
extent of that encroachment is considered
signiﬁcant in relation to the size and position
of the trees.Where a tree’s branches touch
or are very close to a building, the work will
take priority.Where overhang of the boundary
is relatively minor or at considerable height,
works may not be undertaken. Alternatively they
may be considered for re-inspection within two
years, depending on the size, type and growth
of the trees concerned. Where tree roots are
deemed to have encroached, works will only
be undertaken where damage to property can
be shown, beyond reasonable doubt, to have
been a causal factor or damage is reasonably
foreseeable in the future.

The tree is eﬀecng my television and satellite
recepon…
There is no legal right to television reception.
Existing trees on neighbouring land which
interfere with television reception, especially
with satellite transmissions are unlikely to be
regarded as a nuisance in law. As a policy the
council will not undertake the topping, thinning
or felling of trees simply to improve television or
satellite reception, where the trees in question
would not otherwise require any surgery.

Tree posion, general nuisance and
interference…
Although trees may be considered an
inconvenience to those living adjacent to them,
by law they must be shown to be a substantial
interference to a neighbour’s comfort and
convenience to be considered a nuisance.As
a general policy the council will not undertake
the topping, thinning or felling of trees simply to
prevent the accumulation of leaves, seeds or
minor debris on adjacent property, where the
trees in question would not otherwise require
any surgery.

The tree is causing damage to my Ulity
services…
Instances of underground pipes being broken
by the growth of tree roots are very rare, but
penetration and blockage of damaged pipes is
not uncommon.As a general policy the council
will not undertake the topping, thinning or felling
of trees to prevent roots entering damaged
pipes.Repair of the defect in the pipe is the only
certain remedy that will prevent future problems.
Modern materials and joints will signiﬁcantly
reduce pipe damage and subsequent root
encroachment in the future.

The tree is covered in ivy and is killing it…
Ivy is a climbing, scrambling plant abundant
as a groundcover shrub in the under storey
of many rural woodlands. It has a variety of
conservation beneﬁts and forms an integral
part of a woodlands habitat. In the urban
environment there is the need to balance
three main considerations for it’s retention:
tree safety, conservation and aesthetics. Ivy
causes no direct damage to trees. However in
some situations it may be considered unsightly
and more importantly can create problems for
efﬁcient management by obscuring structural
defects and fungal fruiting bodies. It also
increases the weight of a tree’s crown and
the ‘sail’ effect during the wet, windier, winter
months, when deciduous trees have shed
their leaves. As a general policy the council
undertake the removal of ivy from trees only
where it is considered necessary to aid visual
tree health assessment.

My neighbour’s trees are blocking my light,
what can I do?
Technically your neighbour only has a duty to
ensure their trees are safe. There is currently
no height restriction on trees. If you have
concerns regarding a tree ask your neighbour
how they intend to maintain it: you may be able
to cut the overhanging branches back to the
boundary. However, before either you or your
neighbour undertakes works to any trees it is
important to check the trees are not covered by
a Tree Preservation Order, or located within a
Conservation Area.

Page 145
Tree Guidance

A tree is liing paving slabs/aﬀecng my drive,
can I cut the roots of a protected tree?
Cutting the roots of any tree is generally illadvised as it may affect the tree’s health
and stability. If a tree is covered by a Tree
Preservation Order, or if it stands in a
Conservation Area an application will be
required before root pruning can take place.

My tree doesn’t look very healthy can the
Council advise me? If not where else can I seek
advice?
Local tree contractors and consultants will be
able to offer advice on the health and management of trees however this is not a service that
is currently offered by the council’s Tree Ofﬁcer.
Further details of tree contractors and consultants operating throughout the UK are available
from the Arboricultural Association web site

www.trees.org.uk.
What do I do if I think someone has/is or are
intending to work on a protected tree?
Contact Mid Devon District Council immediately
and we can check to see if the work is
authorised and if not take appropriate action. All
queries regarding potentially unauthorised works
will be dealt with in the strictest conﬁdence.

The tree roots are blocking my drains, what
can I do?
It is very unusual for roots to physically break
drains and associated pipe work. However, tree
roots can be opportunistic and if an old pipe with
poor joints is leaking into the surrounding soil
this will attract the roots that may then exploit
the existing weakness. Then, when repairs are
required, a proliferation of tree roots often leads
to the blame being placed with a nearby tree.
However replacement of faulty drains/pipes with
modern materials will usually eliminate the leak
and stop problems from reoccurring. Again if
you believe tree roots have caused damage to
structures you should consult your insurers or
an expert.
As a general policy the council will not undertake
the topping, thinning or felling of trees to prevent
roots entering damaged pipes. Repair of the
defect in the pipe is the only certain remedy that
will prevent future problems. Modern materials
and joints will signiﬁcantly reduce pipe damage
and subsequent root encroachment in the future.

I have a big tree near my property, I am worried about the damage the roots may be doing
to my house, what should I do?
Tree roots may potentially cause damage to built
structures in two ways:
Direct damage – is caused when the physical
expansion of tree roots or stem lifts paving
stones or cracks walls etc. Due to the weight of
a house no amount of physical expansion will
affect it - but garden walls and small structures
such as garages or outbuildings might be at risk.
Indirect damage – can be caused to larger
structures such as houses when trees roots
grow underneath the foundations, extract the
water there causing clay soils to shrink and the
structure to subside. If a building has been built
on clay soil near an existing tree, and that tree
is then removed, the soil may expand which
can cause heave (the opposite of subsidence).
Modern building standards mean that the risk
to newer buildings tends to be isolated and the
council will expect new buildings to be built to
industry guidance and therefore they should
not subside due to trees that were in existence
at the time they were built. Should you believe
that trees are the cause of cracking to property
then you should consult with your insurers to
determine the probable cause.
There is no evidenced based or credible
guidance as to how close trees need to be
to cause damage although there is some
information on the internet, which the council
has found to be quite misleading. Many trees
and houses are able to co-exist happily in often
close proximity.

How can I tell if my tree is safe?
Such assessments are best made by qualiﬁed
experts however this is not a service that is
currently offered by the Council’s Tree Ofﬁcer.
Further details of tree contractors and consultants operating throughout the UK are available
from the Arboricultural Association web site

www.trees.org.uk.

Page 146
Tree Guidance

Agenda Item 8.
HOMES POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP
20 JULY 2021
AIDS & ADAPTATIONS POLICY
Cabinet Member(s):
Responsible Officer:

Councillor Bob Evans
Simon Newcombe, Corporate Manager for Public Health,
Regulation and Housing

Reason for Report and Recommendation: To provide Members of the Policy
Development Group and opportunity to review the proposed update to the Aids &
Adaptations Policy.
The reason for the recommendation is to for allow for formal adoption of the updated
policy.
RECOMMENDATION(S): That Members recommend to Cabinet that they
approve the revised Aids & Adaptations Policy as attached in Annex 1.
Relationship to Corporate Plan: The Aids & Adaptations Policy is key to ensuring
that tenants with disabilities are supported to have access to facilities as set out by
medical and related professional opinion, in accordance with individual need and
ability in order to continue living in their home. This links to the wider Homes priority
within the Corporate Plan 2020-24 as well as the Community priority and specifically
opportunities to address public health issues and disparities to improve the health
and wellbeing of everyone in Mid Devon including our Council housing tenants.
Financial Implications: The financial implications will be contained within the
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). More information on financial context is provided
in Section 5.0 of the report.
Budget and Policy Framework: this is one of a suite of housing policies that ensure
we are compliance with the regulatory framework set out below and is also
consistent with the draft Housing Strategy 2021-25.
Legal Implications: It will be necessary to ensure that the Aids & Adaptations Policy
addresses all the legal obligations the Council has as a Landlord under within the
parameters of The Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, The Housing
Act 1985, Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, Equality Act
2010, The Care Act 2014 and The Housing Regulatory Framework, specifically the
Home Standard 2015.
Equality Impact Assessment: There is a suite of housing and repairs related
policies. The use of these helps to ensure that service delivery is consistent and fair.
There is a regulatory requirement for registered providers of social housing to tailor
their service to meet the needs of the tenants and the Housing Service requests
diversity data from tenants to enable compliance to be monitored.
Risk Assessment: The management of circa 3000 homes for some of our most
vulnerable tenants contains many risks. These risks are managed at a service level.
Updated Aids and Adaptions Policy 2021

Page 147

1.0 Introduction
1.1 The last approved version (v2.3) of the Aids & Adaptations Policy was
published in September 2016 and is due for review.
1.2 This draft updated version (v3.2) has been reviewed and updated to reflect
some clarification based on delivery experience, further reference to relevant
legislation, updates on financial thresholds, timescales and also exceptions.
The main purpose of this is to better manage our tenants’ expectations, to
make the best use of Council housing stock and to form the basis of our
operational process.
2.0 Proposed Changes to the Policy
2.1 If accepted, the proposal is for detailed changes to the previous policy to be
published for officer use and tenant reference. For members benefit, the full
policy is attached and a summary of the key changes is given below.







Ramps, clarified to refer to as small ramps under Minor Adaptions as
larger ramps are likely to be Major Adaptations (Section 4.1)
An eligible child must be under 18 and living at the property as their main
permanent residence (Section 4.1)
Target completion dates added (Section 8.4)
Threshold requirement for contribution towards works changed for works
costing over £1000 to £5000 (Section 9.2)
Right to buy information added (Section 20.0)
Appeals, disputes and complaints sections added (Sections 21.0 and
22.0)

2.2 This policy has also been aligned with the latest tenancy agreements.
2.3 We have taken into consideration tenant feedback, comments, and complaints
received since this policy was last reviewed, and provided greater clarity to
tenants requesting adaptations.
2.4 The term of the policy has been extended to 5 years and therefore will next be
due review in 2026 or sooner if there are relevant legal or statutory guidance
changes.
3.0 Tenant Consultation
3.1 The Housing ‘Tenants Together’ group have not been consulted on this policy
and their comments taken into consideration. The group has not been
functioning in its normal format during the COVID-19 pandemic.
4.0 Implementation
4.1 This policy will be published on the Council website, as well as Intranet shared
policies. We also plan to publish via our social media pages to reach those who
use these methods of information sharing. The points of clarification are
intended to benefit tenants as much as it is the council.

Page 148

Updated Aids and Adaptions Policy 2021

4.2 Implementation of this policy will be supported by action from both the Building
Services and Housing teams as a combined Mid Devon Housing service.
5.0 Financial Context
5.1 Maintaining the Councils housing stock is the largest ongoing element of the
Councils capital programme.
5.2 Clarification of this policy and strict adherence to it should ensure that tenants
with disabilities have access to homes suitable for their needs. If properly
implemented,
5.3 There are no additional resource implications as a direct result of this policy.
6.0 Recommendation
6.1 In accordance with the above, it is recommended that Members recommend to
Cabinet that they approve the revised Aids & Adaptations Policy as attached in
Annex 1.
Contact for more Information:
Michael
Lowman,
Operations
Manager
Building
Services
mlowman@middevon.gov.uk or Simon Newcombe, Corporate Manager for Public
Health, Regulation and Housing snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk
Circulation of the Report:
Members of the Housing PDG
Cllr Bob Evans, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services
Leadership Team
Corporate Management Team
Service/Operations Managers
Legal Services
List of Background Papers:
Current MDDC Housing Aids & Adaptions Policy
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/housing/council-housing/strategies-andpolicies/

Updated Aids and Adaptions Policy 2021

Page 149

Annex 1 – Proposed updated Aids & Adaptions Policy May 2021 v3.2
(attached separately)

Page 150

Updated Aids and Adaptions Policy 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Mid Devon District Council

Aids & Adaptations Policy

Policy Number: OBS v3.0

May 2021

Page 1 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 151

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Version Control Sheet
Title: Aids & Adaptations Policy
Purpose: To review the Aids & Adaptations Policy in accordance with good practice
and any changes in legislation.
Owner: Operations Manager for Building Services
mlowman@middevon.gov.uk
01884 233038
Date: May 2021
Version Number: v3.0
Status: Review of Policy
Review Frequency: Every 5 years or sooner if required and in accordance with
changes in good practice and legislation
Next review date: April 2026
Consultation: This document was sent out for consultation to the following:
Staff – w/c 7th June 2021
Corporate Manager – w/c 7th June 2021-06-29
Homes PDG – TBC
Portfolio Holder – TBC

Document History: This document obtained the following approvals.
Title

Date

Version
Approved

Cabinet Member for Housing
Corporate Manager
Homes Policy Development Group
Cabinet

Page 2 of 15

Page 152

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Index
Reference

Item

Page

1.0

Introduction

4

2.0

Scope

4

3.0

Related Documents

4

4.0

Definitions

5

5.0

Who Is Considered Under This Policy?

5

6.0

Who Qualifies For Assistance?

6

7.0

Minor Adaptations

7

8.0

Major Adaptations

7

9.0

Cost of Adaptations

8

10.0

Adapted Properties

8

11.0

Servicing, Repairs and Maintenance

9

12.0

Installing Your Own Adaptations

9

13.0

Removing Adaptations

10

14.0

Recycling Adaptations

10

15.0

Letting Adapted Properties

10

16.0

Moving, Transfers and Mutual Exchanges

10

17.0

Change Of Circumstances

11

18.0

Applications Falling Outside of This Policy

11

19.0

Service Standards and Timescales

11

20.0

Right to Buy

11

21.0

Appeals / Disputes

11

22.0

Complaints

12

23.0

References

12

24.0

Equality & Diversity

12

25.0

Review

13

Appendix 1 – summary of additions and revisions

Page 3 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 153

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

1.0. Introduction
1.1. This policy statement outlines Mid Devon District Council’s (MDDC) approach to
providing aids and adaptations for tenants or their household members who have a
disability or suffering from long term ill health, to help them remain and live
independently in the home. It is recognised that in some instances the accommodation
they live in may no longer be suitable to support their needs.
1.2. We are committed to helping people with disabilities to live independently in our
housing stock, by providing effective aids and adaptations or alternative suitable
accommodation. In addressing the identified and assessed needs of our tenants or
eligible household members, we aim to ensure that we comply with the requirements
of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and Housing Act 1985.
1.3. The Housing Service has an obligation, as set out in clause 2.2.2 of the Home
Standard 2013 to provide an adaptations service that meets tenants’ needs.
2.0. Scope
2.1. This policy sets out the Council’s provision of providing aids and adaptations within
their housing stock and how they will be delivered. It covers the following points and
should be read in conjunction with the related documents as stated below:Who is considered under this policy
Who qualifies for assistance
Minor and major adaptations
Cost of aids and adaptations
Servicing, repairs and maintenance
Installing your own adaptations
Removing adaptations
Recycling adaptations
Letting adapted properties
Moving, transfers and mutual exchanges
Change of circumstances
Applications falling outside of this policy

3.0

Related Documents
Tenancy Agreement
Page 4 of 15

Page 154

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Recharge Policy
Improvements to Council Properties Policy
Allocations Policy
Devon Home Choice Scheme
Decant Policy
4.0

Definitions

4.1

For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions apply:
Aids and adaptations: Is the provision of fixed equipment and/or modification to
the property or associated land where there has been an identified need to
enable the tenant or household members to live independently and safely in their
home.
Minor adaptations: Involves non-structural alterations or additions to a property.
These include aids or adaptations costing less than £1,000, examples include
grab-rails, special taps, shower seats, small ramps or handrails to external paths
and steps.
Major adaptations: Involves extensive structural adaptations to a property costing
more than £1,000, examples include installation of stair lifts, level access
showers, new over-bath showers or building an extension.
Disabled: A person is defined as “disabled” under the Housing Grants,
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 if:
a) Their sight, hearing or speech is substantially impaired;
b) They have a mental disorder or impairment of any kind; or
c) They are physically substantially disabled by illness, injury or impairments that
have been present since birth or otherwise.
Generally the impairment of the applicant must have lasted or is likely to last for
at least twelve months.
Tenant: This means anyone who holds a Council tenancy with MDDC.
Household member: This means relatives, partners, lodgers or subtenants who
reside at the property.
Family member: This means relatives such as spouse, civil partner, children
including partners who reside at the property. For the purpose of this policy, a
child must be under 18 and living at the property as their main permanent
residence.

5.0

Who is considered under this policy?
Page 5 of 15

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 155

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

5.1

This policy applies to Council tenants and members of their household including
lodgers and subtenants (where eligible, in line with the terms and conditions of the
tenancy agreement). Leaseholders, owner occupiers, private and Registered Provider
tenants are not included within the scope of this policy. However, they will be
signposted to the relevant agencies.

6.0

Who qualifies for assistance?

6.1

Where a tenant or household member has a disability or a long term illness, the
Council will consider providing equipment or adaptations to their home to enable them
to remain living in that property. The Council will take into account any advice or
recommendations provided by health professionals in agreeing works with the tenant
and/or family/household member.

6.2

Before adaptations are carried out, the Council will consider whether they are
reasonable and practicable, taking into account the type of works required, the age
and condition of the property. Alternatively, where it may be more appropriate for the
tenant or household member to move to another property, including accommodation
with a different housing provider, the Council will discuss the options available to them.
The Council will ensure that it makes the best use of its housing stock.

6.3

Examples of cases where it will generally be considered not reasonable or practicable
for major adaptations works to be undertaken include:
In a family dwelling where under or over occupation exists
Where there is a requirement to provide an additional bedroom or living room
space and suitable alternative accommodation exists within the near locality
Where a level access shower is required in properties at first floor or above,
where there is no lift, or in bathrooms of family sized accommodation, which is
under occupied
Where parking bays and access ramps would adversely affect the amenity of the
area
Where the works would significantly affect the Council’s ability to let the property
in the future and there is suitable alternative accommodation available
Where the Council are seeking possession of a property because of a breach of
tenancy conditions.

6.4

The above list under point 6.3 is not exhaustive and individual circumstances will be
taken into account. Factors affecting the decision on whether it is reasonable or
practicable include:
The extent to which the property is capable of being adapted
The cost of the works
The availability of suitable alternative accommodation
Page 6 of 15

Page 156

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

The degree of occupation in the premises
The extent to which the tenant is complying with the terms and conditions of their
tenancy agreement.
6.5

Adaptations for lodgers or subtenants, will only be carried out in exceptional
circumstances. This will be determined by the Housing Services Manager and Building
Services Manager.

6.6

For household members who are not a named tenant on the tenancy agreement, they
must be registered as living at the property for council tax purposes and if aged over
eighteen years, they should be registered on the electoral role for that address.

6.7

Adaptations for a child will only be carried out at the main residence of a child who has
a disability whose parents are separated. This is normally the residence of the parent
who is in receipt of child benefit, if applicable, for that child.

7.0

Minor Adaptations

7.1

The Council will provide minor adaptations for works under £250 where the tenant
feels that they may help them or their household member to live more independently.
This can be achieved by the tenant contacting their Neighbourhood Officer or directly
to the Repairs Service.

7.2

Examples of aids and adaptations under £250 include: lever taps, special handles,
grab rails, handrails, flashing doorbells, lowering of light switches or raising floor level
sockets.

7.3

The Council will require a referral from the Occupational Therapist for adaptations
costing between £250- £1,000. Examples of adaptations include: ramps, safety glass
or minor internal alterations to the kitchen or bathroom.

7.4

The Council aims to offer an appointment for minor adaptations within 28days of
receipt of the request.

8.0

Major Adaptations

8.1

The Council will provide major adaptations to help eligible tenants and household
members to live independently. A referral from an Occupational Therapist will be
required before carrying out any works. Major adaptations can involve extensive
structural alterations and will normally cost more than £1,000.

8.2

Examples of major adaptations include: property access (ramps, drop kerbs) widening
doorways, level access showers, change of heating or lighting controls, stair lifts or
changes to the configuration of the bathroom or kitchen and extensions to the
property.

8.3

Approval of works that exceed £1,000 will be made on the condition that:
An Occupational Therapist completes an Assessment of Need which outlines clear
recommendations that the work is necessary to sustain independent living;
Page 7 of 15

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 157

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

An assessment is carried out with the tenant and household member to check whether
a move to a more suitable property may resolve the need for adaptations and present
a better long-term solution to their circumstances; and
The proposed works comply with all regulatory requirements and permissions.
8.4

The Council aims to complete major adaptations classed as high priority (danger)
within 6 months of receipt of an Occupational Therapy statement of need.

8.5

The Council aims to complete major adaptations classed as medium priority
(deterioration) within 12 months of receipt of an Occupational Therapy statement of
need.

8.6

The Council aims to complete major adaptations classed as low priority (difficulty)
within 18 months of receipt of an Occupational Therapy statement of need.

9.0

Cost of adaptations

9.1

The Council will set a budget for the provision of aids and adaptations which will be
reviewed annually.

9.2

Adaptations that are carried out by the Council within the scope of this policy will
normally be funded up to £30,000. Tenants or household members may need to
contribute (children are exempt) towards the cost of works over £5,000 and under
£30,000. An assessment will be based on an individual’s financial circumstances.

9.3

Where top up funding is required for major adaptations to a property, the Council will
work with other agencies to make recommendations to support additional funding and
to evidence that other long term options and other funding sources have been
explored.

9.4

Where another organisation has agreed to part fund the cost of works, this must be
done in agreement with the Council and the Occupational Therapist.

9.5

Any adaptations funded or part funded by the Council must remain in the property and
should not be removed or altered by the tenant, household member or anyone acting
on their behalf without the agreement of the Council. Even if the tenant or household
member contributes towards the cost of works, the adaptations must remain in the
property unless agreed otherwise.

10.0 Adapted properties
10.1 All aids and adaptations work completed at a property will be recorded as part of the
property details held on the housing management system. Wherever practical, this
information will be used to ensure any future allocations are made to applicants
requiring such adaptations.
10.2 If major adaptations are required to a property which requires the tenant or family
member to move, the Council will only decant the tenant as a last resort and where all
Page 8 of 15

Page 158

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

other possible solutions have been investigated. All decants will be dealt with in
accordance with the Council’s Decant Policy. Bullet 1
11.0 Servicing, repairs and maintenance
11.1 An annual programme to undertake servicing and maintenance of equipment such as
stair lifts and lifting equipment will be put in place by the Council.
11.2 The Council will meet the cost of all routine repairs and maintenance to any
adaptations provided or adopted by them. This will be funded through the Internal
Major Adaptations budget.
11.3 Where adaptations have aged and there are persistent repairs, the Council will liaise
with the Occupational Therapist to check that the adaptation is still required.
11.4 If any aids or adaptations have been wilfully damaged by the tenant, a household
member or visitor to the property, the tenant will be recharged for any costs incurred
for putting the property right.
11.5 If a tenant moves, any adaptations fitted by the Council are to remain at the property.
Any adaptations fitted by the tenant are to be removed unless agreed otherwise by the
Council.
12.0 Installing your own adaptations
12.1 For all adaptations installed by the tenant or household member at their own expense,
the tenant is required to obtain written permission from the Council before carrying out
any works. The Council will only refuse permission with good reason, such as if the
work:
Would interfere with any maintenance to the property;
May cause a potential health and safety risk; or
Would breach any regulatory requirements.
12.2 The written request will need to state what works and adaptations the tenant requests
to carry out and include a plan of the required works. Completed works may be
inspected to ensure they have been carried out to a satisfactory standard.
12.3 The tenant will be responsible for obtaining the necessary planning permissions and/or
building regulations and any costs incurred by doing so.
12.4 The Council will not be responsible for maintaining, servicing or repairing any aids or
adaptations installed by the tenant or household member. At the end of the tenancy,
the tenant may be required to remove any approved aid or adaptation they or their
household member have fitted and make good any damage to the property.
Alternatively, if the Council agrees to take responsibility for the alterations, the tenant
or household member will be required to sign over ownership free of charge.
12.5 The Council will not fund any alterations or adaptations that may be required to the
interior or exterior of the property following the purchase of a mobility vehicle. If the
Page 9 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 159

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

tenant needs to make changes to the property such as vehicle access, hard standings,
pathways or shelters or electric charging points, these will need to be funded by the
tenant or household member. The tenant will be required to obtain written consent
from the Council for carrying out such works.
12.6 If adaptations have been carried out at the tenant’s or household member’s expense
without written permission, then the Council may:
Agree to take over the ownership of the adaptations;
Ask the tenant to seek retrospective consent;
Ask the tenant to remove the adaptation and make good any damage to the property;
or
Recharge the tenant for the removal of adaptations or repair any damage after a
tenancy has ended and the former tenant will be liable for any costs incurred for such
works.
13.0 Removing adaptations
13.1 Where adaptations have been carried out to a property designated for elderly or a
person with a disability, these will normally not be removed, for example where a bath
has been replaced with a level access shower.
13.2 The Council advertises adapted properties through the Devon Home Choice Scheme,
and every effort will be made to re-let an adapted property to a person who has a need
for that type of property. Where this is not possible, and a non-disabled tenant accepts
an offer of an adapted property, adaptations such as level access showers will not
usually be removed. However, the Council reserves the right to remove the adaptation
if they consider it to be unsuitable for the property.
14.0 Recycling adaptations
14.1 Where the Council has reserved their discretion to remove adaptations from the
property, they will recycle adaptations where possible, for example stair lifts, hoists or
through floor lifts. However they will not remove structural adaptations that have been
carried out to a property, such as door ramps, level access showers and widened
doors. Subsection 14.2
15.0 Letting adapted properties
15.1 Properties available for allocation will be placed on Devon Home Choice Scheme, this
will include adapted properties to ensure the process is open and transparent. There
may be individual cases where significant adaptations have been carried out where a
direct let may be made to match the property to the applicant most in need of the
property
16.0 Moving, transfers and mutual exchanges

Page 10 of 15

Page 160

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

16.1 Following a major adaptation the Council would normally expect the tenant to remain
at the property for a reasonable period before moving again. Where applicants are on
the transfer list then each request will be considered on an individual’s basis. The
Council may not approve further adaptations where the tenant moves from an adapted
property to an unsuitable or un-adapted property.
16.2 However, the Council understands that there may be exceptions where the tenant or
household member’s needs have changed, for example, there is a need to move to
more suitable accommodation. Where the Occupational Therapist and Council agree a
move is necessary, if the new home requires adaptations, it will be assessed and
adapted in accordance with this policy.
16.3 Secure and flexible tenants who have adaptations in their home have the right to
mutual exchange with other eligible tenants. However, the Council can refuse a mutual
exchange on grounds outlined in legislation.
17.0 Change of Circumstances
17.1 If a tenant or household member needs have changed after adaptations have been
installed, for example, they can no longer do something that they could manage
before, then the applicant will be advised to make contact with their Occupational
Therapist or the relevant organisation such as Care Direct.
18.0 Applications falling outside of this policy
18.1 The Council accepts that there may be circumstances that warrant exceptions to this
policy. Applications for assistance that fall outside of this policy will be considered by
the Housing Services Manager and, where appropriate, and reasonable to do so, they
may agree exceptions to this policy
19.0 Service Standards
19.1 The Council are committed to the principle of openness and transparency and for this
reason we will ensure that this policy is well-publicised. If there are any operational
matters which impact upon our ability to operate this policy, we will ensure that
information about this is given to tenants and other stakeholders
20.0 Right to Buy
20.1 Adaptations works may not be completed whilst there is an active right to buy
application.
20.2 In accordance with section 5 paragraph 11 of the Housing Act 1985, the right to buy
may be affected in cases where adaptations make the property particularly suitable for
elderly persons.
21.0 Appeals / Disputes
21.1 Tenants have a right to dispute or appeal if they feel that this policy has not been
adhered to, or if there is evidence that an adaptation request outcome should be
reconsidered.
Page 11 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 161

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

21.2 Disputes can be dealt with informally by phone, email or letter, should a Tenant wish to
discuss this with a Repairs Officer.
21.3 Disputes can be formally dealt with as a service request.
21.4 First time disputes or appeals cannot be dealt with as formal complaints in the first
instance.
22.0 Complaints
22.1 Were a Tenant is dissatisfied with the outcome of their response to their formal service
request then the formal complaints process can be initiated.
22.2 We will deal with any complaints about our service in accordance with our Complaints
Procedure. Details are available on the Council’s website at www.middevon.gov.uk or
available by telephone on 01884 255255.
23.0 References
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970
The Housing Act 1985
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996
Equality Act 2010
The Care Act 2014
The Housing Regulatory Framework, specifically Home Standard 2015.
24.0 Equality and Diversity
24.1 The Housing Service will tailor its services to meet the diverse needs of individuals.
We foster good relations with people when providing services to eliminate
discrimination, to promote equality of opportunity and to maximise their independence.
24.2 We will ensure that no individual is discriminated against on grounds of age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation or marital/partnership status.
24.3 We will promote equality of opportunity by publishing information is different formats on
request, where possible.
24.4 Covered by the Equality Act 2010, the Housing Service will consider the public sector
equality duty. As part of this duty, the Housing Service aims to tackle prejudice and
promote understanding between people from different groups. In some cases,
compliance with this duty may involve treating some people more favourably than
others.
24.5 Other areas the Housing Service will have regard to in order to comply with the public
sector equality duty may involve:
Page 12 of 15

Page 162

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics
Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where
these are different from the needs of other people
Encouraging and enabling people from protected groups to participate in
public life or in activities where their participation is disproportionally low.
25.0 Review
25.1 This Policy has been written in line with good practice and current relevant legislation.
The policy will be reviewed and revised to reflect any legislation requirements and/or
other guidance or good practice. The next review of this Policy is due October 2025
and every five years thereafter.

Page 13 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 163

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

Appendix 1 – Summary of additions and revisions

Policy
Ref

Description

Date

N/A

Policy reference change (HSG to OBS Operations – Building 27/09/2020
Services)

N/A

Review frequency changed from 4 – 5 years

4

Ramps – clarified to small ramps, as larger ramps are likely to be 27/09/2020
major adaptation

4

Hard standing removed

4

Handrails added as example of minor adaptations

4

An eligible child must be under 18 and living at the property as their
main permanent residence.

27/09/2020

7.3

Hard standing removed

27/09/2020

9.2

Contribution requirement changed from £1000 - £5000

27/09/2020

16.1

Moving from adapted to un-adapted property.

27/09/2020

27/09/2020
27/09/2020

27/09/2020

21 and
Appeals and disputes, complaints sections added
22

27/09/2020

24.1

Review information updated

27/09/2020

N/A

Index added

27/09/2020

22.3

Additional reference added – homes Standard

23/02/202
1

23.

Equality and diversity clause amended and addition of 23.2-23.5 to 23/02/202
clarify actions to ensure equality and diversity.
1

1.2, 1.3

Additions to introduction

4.1

Definitions. New over-bath shower moved from minor to major
23/02/202
adaptation due to increased material costs. Some may still be
1
minor if tiling is already in place.

12.5

Removal of occupational therapy recommendation section for 23/02/202
mobility scooter adaptations.
1

23/02/202
1

Page 14 of 15

Page 164

Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Aids & Adaptations Policy 2021

7 +8

Target completion dates added

23/04/202
1

20

Right to buy

23/04/202
1

Page 15 of 15
Aids & Adaptations Policy v3.2 May 2021

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.
HOMES POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP
20 JULY 2021
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING FEES AND CHARGES 2021/22 / REVISED CIVIL
PENALTY POLICY AND DELEGATED POWERS
Cabinet Member:
Property
Responsible Officer:

Cllr Bob Evans, Cabinet Member for Housing and
Services
Simon Newcombe, Corporate Manager for Public Health,
Regulation and Housing

Reason for Report and Recommendation: To provide members with the revised
fees and charges for statutory and discretionary Private Sector Housing functions
within the Community Team, Public Health and Regulatory Services. To review the
updated Civil Penalties Policy which relates to the revised fees and charges.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. That Cabinet approve the revised fees as set out in Annex 1.
2. That Cabinet approve the updated Policy on the Use of Financial
Penalties for Housing Act Offences as set out in Annex 2.
3. That Cabinet approve the Corporate Manager for Public Health and
Regulation and Housing having delegated authority to authorise relevant
officers to enforce The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented
Sector (England) Regulations 2020.
4. That changes to the way Works in Default charges are constructed are
agreed.
Relationship to the Corporate Plan: This report relates to the economy, homes
and community elements for the corporate plan priorities. Recharging for officer time
in relation to enforcement activities, Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) licensing
and recovering costs associated with non-statutory services means that we are
encouraging compliance within the private rented sector, providing suitable for
homes for our residents and ensuring HMOs do not have an adverse impact on
communities.
Financial Implications: The revised fees and charges are set out in Annex 1 of the
report. The fees have been updated to reflect current service delivery costs. Any
income generated from this activity is unpredictable based on the nature of
enforcement action. It is therefore not possible to forecast any income levels for the
year.
Budget and Policy Framework: The fees and charges are established within the
scope of the current Enforcement Policy PH/EP/09/20 updated and readopted in
2020. Fees and charges received by the authority as a result of enforcement action
can be kept by the authority and recycled into further private sector housing
enforcement work. The income must be ring fenced for this activity.
Legal Implications: Where there are specific provisions under legislation, statutory
functions or discretionary services for fees to be charged then these are indicated in
the body of the report. There may be legal implications where the fee or charge is
not paid and a process of recovery is required.
1 167
Page

Equality Impact Assessment: An assessment is not necessary for this report. The
charges are set and applicable to the service being provided and do not
disadvantage any protected characteristics or specific groups.
Risk Assessment: There are no major risks. A failure to update the relevant fees
and charges could mean we are not able to adequately recover costs where we are
able to do so.
Impact on Climate Change: The impact on climate change is minimal and in some
cases positive; particularly where improvements have been made to private sector
homes in respect of energy efficiency and performance.
1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Community Team within the Public Health and Regulatory service has a
duty to ensure that private accommodation meets minimum standards. In
particular there are regulations for the licensing, management and use of
houses in multiple occupation (HMO), carbon monoxide detectors and smoke
alarms, electrical safety and defined hazards within the home.

1.2

All enforcement activities and relevant fees and charges within this report are
set out in compliance with the legislation and the adopted Enforcement Policy
PH/EP/09/20.

2.0

Changes to the fees and charges and delegated powers

2.1

Each activity where a fee or charge is applicable has been reviewed. A
detailed breakdown of the various areas of enforcement and activity has been
assessed and officer time allocated to the various tasks. This assessment has
resulted in the fees and charges proposed in Annex 1. Where officer time is
included within a fee or charge then it is done so purely on a cost-recovery
basis. The previous fees are also set out in this Annex for comparison. The
detailed calculations may be available on request but are not provided here as
they contain details of officer salaries.

2.2

These fees and charges were last updated in 2019/20 and due to the Covid
pandemic were carried forward unchanged for 2020/21. It is therefore over 2years since any existing fees and charges were reviewed. Subject to the
recommendations, it is proposed that the updated fees and charges set out
herein come into effect immediately after formal adoption and therefore will
apply going forward.
HMO Licensing

2.3

Section 63(3) of the Housing Act 2004 gives the Council the power to recover
all reasonable costs associated with the administration of the HMO licensing
function.

2.4

The officer time and resources involved in processing a new application have
been reviewed and a revised fee calculated. The fee has increased due to an
uplift in salary and the time taken to process these applications.

Page 2168

2.5

The issuing of licence renewals has also been considered and the fee for
these has been reduced. Once the initial application has been assessed the
licence must be renewed every 5 years. The service has received a number of
renewals in the last year so we have been able to more accurately assess the
time taken to process these, resulting in the fee reduction.
Mandatory HMO Licensing Public Register

2.6

Section 232 of the Housing Act 2004 allows the council to make a reasonable
fee for supplying a person with a copy of the register if requested.

2.7

It is proposed to continue to charge a nominal administration fee for providing
the register in electronic form or hardcopy. Details of the proposed charges
can be found in Annex 1.

2.8

An extract from the register is provided on our website and the charges will
apply for requests for the full register only.
Charging for enforcement action

2.9

The Housing Act 2004 section 49 gives the local housing authority the power
to charge for certain enforcement action. The provisions are clear that only
the costs associated with determining whether enforcement action is
necessary, identifying the type of action and the serving of the notice can be
recovered.

2.10

The average officer time and resources for carrying out these functions have
been recalculated and a revised standard fee has been proposed. The hourly
rate is based on 20/21 financial year due to the absence of any agreed salary
increase for 21/22 financial year onwards.

2.11

The charge can be applied to all enforcement action under part one of the Act;
we currently apply the charge to Improvement Notices, Prohibition Orders,
Emergency Remedial Action, Emergency Prohibition Orders and Demolition
Orders.

2.12

It is not considered appropriate to charge for the service of hazard awareness
notices as there is no penalty for non-compliance, it is a recommendation of
the work to be carried out and it is not placed as a local land charge.

2.13

A demand for payment of the charge will be applied where prohibition orders,
emergency remedial action notices and emergency prohibition orders are
served. Demolition orders will also be charged as well as the survey cost that
is required as part of the serving of the order.

2.14

Where an improvement notice is served the charge will be applied where
there is non-compliance with the notice. This aim is to encourage compliance
with notice requirements and improve housing standards generally.

3 169
Page

Immigration housing request visits
2.15

Historically applications to live and/or work in the UK have required the local
housing authority to undertake an inspection of the proposed living
accommodation to check its suitability and ensure there would not be
overcrowding. These visits no longer need to be undertaken by the local
housing authority as part of an application but occasionally the team will
receive a request to carry out a visit and provide a report.

2.16

As this is not a statutory requirement it is acceptable for the Council to charge
for the provision of this service. The proposed fee covers the average amount
of officer time involved in dealing with a request, visiting and producing the
relevant report.
Financial penalties for Housing Act offences and review of Civil
Penalties Policy

2.17

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduces an amendment to the Housing
Act 2004 to allow local housing authorities to impose a financial penalty on an
owner of a property where they have failed to comply with provisions under
the 2004 Act as an alternative to prosecution. The maximum penalty is
£30,000. This will be applied in accordance with the Enforcement Policy and
the council’s policy on applying the civil penalty.

2.18

The Council is required to have a policy on how it intends to use civil
penalties. This is partially covered by the aforementioned Enforcement policy
but the revised policy (attached Annex 2) provides more detail.
Penalty Charges for offences under the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide
Alarm (England) Regulations 2015

2.19

There is no suggested change to the penalty under these regulations. The
maximum penalty is £5,000 with a 25% reduction if payment is made within
14 days of the demand for payment.
Financial penalties for offences under the Electrical Safety Standards

2.20

Section 123 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 makes provision for the
local housing authority to impose a financial penalty on an owner of a property
where they have failed to comply with the electrical safety standards.

2.21

The provision of a financial penalty has been made under 2016 Act within The
Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England)
Regulations 2020. These Regulations came into force in July 2020 with a
maximum fine of £30,000 for non-compliance.

2.22

Due to Covid, delegated authority to enforce these regulations and therefore
to have provision to impose a financial penalty (which is a legal power rather
than a duty) has not been sought until now. Nonetheless, this authority is now
sought going forward as set out in the recommendations.

Page 4170

2.23

It is proposed to follow the civil penalty policy to determine the level of fine for
non-compliance.
Penalties for offences under The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented
Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 as amended 2016

2.24

There has been no change recommended for the penalty charge associated
with these regulations.

Works in default
2.25

There is a slight change to this charge. It is proposed that the full cost of the
work carried out is recovered as well as officer time and expenses to arrange
and oversee the works. The administrative charge of £100 will remain in
addition to the officer costs. Interest is paid to be paid on the full costs
incurred if the invoice is not paid in full within 3 months. Interest of 3% will be
applied annually to any outstanding amounts and will be applied as a local
charge against the property.

3.0

Revised Use of Financial Penalties for Housing Act Policy 2021

3.1

This policy was last reviewed and updated in 2017 (version 2). The policy has
been reviewed against any organisational changes any updated to legislation
or guidance. Relatively few relevant changes were identified and as a result
version 3 presented in Annex 2 is a light-touch update incorporating the
following changes:





Updated cross-reference to the latest adopted Enforcement Policy
PH/EP/09/20 (adopted 29 October 2020)
Updated Policy owner job title reference (Corporate Manager for Public
Health, Regulation and Housing)
Updated version number (v3) and next review date (5 years/May 2026)
Updated fine levels as per review of fees and charges against the
maximum permitted by the legislation (see Policy page 8)

4.0

Recommendations

4.1

The following recommendations are therefore made:
1. That Cabinet approve the revised fees as set out in Annex 1.
2. That Cabinet approve the updated Policy on the Use of Financial
Penalties for Housing Act Offences as set out in Annex 2.
3. That Cabinet approve the Corporate Manager for Public Health and
Regulation and Housing having delegated authority to authorise relevant
officers to enforce The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented
Sector (England) Regulations 2020.
4. That changes to the way Works in Default charges are constructed are
agreed.

5 171
Page

Contact for more Information: Tanya Wenham, Team Leader (Community Team)
01884 255255 or twenham@middevon.gov.uk or Simon Newcombe, Corporate
Manager for Public Health, Regulation and Housing, 01884 255255 or
snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk.

Circulation of the Report:
Cllr Bob Evans, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services
Members of the Homes PDG
Leadership Team
Corporate Management Team
Legal Services
All Group and Operations Managers

Page 6172

Annex 1
Mid Devon District Council
Public Health and Regulatory Services (Community Team)
Review of Fees and Charges 2021/22
HMO licensing
New licence

Fee 2021/22

Previous fee 2019/20
and 2020/21

3-5 Units
6-10 units
11+ units

£902
£974
£1046

£820
£876
£933

Renewal
3-5 Units
6-10 units
11+ units

£647
£683
£719

£673
£701
£729

HMO Licensing Public Register
Charge
Request for full register
electronically
Request for full register
hardcopy

£5
£8

Charging for enforcement action
Charge 2021/22
Improvement notice
Prohibition Order
Emergency Remedial Action
Emergency prohibition order
Demolition Order

£553
£553
£553
£553
£553 plus survey fees

Previous charge
2019/20 and 2020/21
£438
£438
£438
£438
£438 plus survey fees

Immigration housing request visits
Fee 2021/22
All requests

Previous fee 2019/20
and 2020/21
£261

£330

Financial penalties
Penalty
Smoke and carbon
monoxide alarms
Electrical Safety Standards
Housing Act offences

£5000 reducing by 25% if paid within 14 days of demand

Up to £30,000
Financial penalty as alternative to prosecution up to
£30,000

7 173
Page

Energy Efficiency Regulations
Penalty
Renting out a non-compliant
property

Providing false or misleading
information on the
Exemption register
Failing to comply with a
compliance notice



Less than three
£2000 and Publication penalty
months in breach
Three months or
£4000 and Publication penalty
more in breach
£1000 and Publication penalty

£2000 and publication penalty

These penalties are applied to each property where there is a breach to a maximum of £5000
per property
Publication penalty – some of the details of the financial penalties are published on the
publicly accessible part of the PRS Exemptions Register

Note: The Private Rented Sector (PRS) Exemptions Register is for properties which:
o
o
o

are legally required to have an EPC
are let on a relevant tenancy type
cannot be improved to meet the minimum standard of EPC band E for one of the reasons
set out below

Works in default
Charge
Interest on works and
associated costs

Cost of the work plus officer time (including travel) plus
£100 admin fee. 3% interest per annum added where
invoice is un-paid after 3 months.

Other charges
Charge
Information on contaminated
land (see EIR)
Environmental Information
Request (EIR)
High hedge investigations

£40 per hour to produce the information
£40 per hour to produce the information
£392

Page 8174

Annex 2
POLICY ON THE USE OF FINANCIAL PENALTIES FOR HOUSING ACT
OFFENCES (revised, updated version 3 May 2021)

9 175
Page

This page is intentionally left blank

POLICY ON THE USE OF FINANCIAL PENALTIES
FOR HOUSING ACT OFFENCES

May 2021

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

1

Page 177

Version Control Sheet
Title: POLICY ON THE USE OF FINANCIAL PENALTIES FOR HOUSING ACT OFFENCES
Purpose: The purpose of this policy is to ensure compliance with Regulators’ Code and the
principles of good enforcement. It also serves to inform investigating officers and decisionmakers of the framework under which the decision to issue a civil penalty is made and how
that penalty is calculated.
Owner: Corporate Manager for Public Health, Regulation and Housing, Corporate
Management Team
snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk
Date: May 2021
Version Number: 3.0 (draft)
Status:
Review Frequency: Every 5 years or sooner if required
Next review date: May 2026
Consultation This document was produced in consultation with the following:
Public Health and Regulatory Services
Legal Services
Document History
This document obtained the following approvals.
Title

Date

Policy On The Use Of Financial Penalties For
Housing Act Offences Adopted August 2017
Policy On The Use Of Financial Penalties For
Housing Act Offences (reviewed V3)

August 2017

Version
Approved
v2

May 2021

v3

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

2

Page 178

1.0

Legal basis and scope

1.1

Section 126 and schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 came into
force on the 6th April 2017. These provisions give the Council as the local
housing authority the power to issue a financial penalty for certain Housing
Act 2004 offences after the 6th April 2017 as an alternative to prosecution.

1.2

The offences include:
 Failing to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30)
 Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (section
72)
 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under part 3 of the Act
(selective Licensing) (section 95)
 Offences in relation to the contravention of an overcrowding notice
(section 139)
 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of House in
Multiple Occupation (section 234)

1.3

A civil penalty can only be imposed as an alternative to prosecution. The
legislation does not permit the Council to impose a civil penalty and prosecute
for the same offence. If a person has been convicted or is currently being
prosecuted the Council cannot impose a civil penalty in respect of the same
offence. Similarly, if a civil penalty has been imposed, a person cannot then
be convicted of an offence for the same conduct.

2.0

Policy approach and decision-making

2.1

The Council is required to have a policy in place that details when to
prosecute and when to consider a civil penalty. Although this is partially
covered by the current Enforcement Policy PH/EP/09/20 and Appendix J
(Supplementary Enforcement Policy Issues - Private Sector Housing) this
policy provides more detail on how civil penalties should be applied.

2.2

In line with the Enforcement Policy and the formal guidance on civil penalties
under the Housing and Planning Act (DCLG April 2017) then prosecution may
be the most appropriate option where an offence is particularly serious or
where the offender has committed similar offences in the past. However, that
does not mean civil penalties should not be used in cases where serious
offences have been committed. As set out below, a civil penalty of up to
£30,000 can be imposed where a serious offence has been committed and
the Council may decide that a significant financial penalty (or penalties if there

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

3

Page 179

have been several breaches), rather than prosecution, is the most appropriate
and effective sanction in a particular case.
2.3

The decision on whether to use civil penalty powers (and to what extent) or to
seek a prosecution will be made the by service manager or director in
conjunction with legal services.

2.4

Where the Council decides to prosecute, it should consider the scope for
working together with other local housing authorities where a landlord has
committed breaches in more than one local authority area.

2.5

Overall, each case will be considered on an individual basis, however the
principles in determining the form of action will be:





What outcome are we trying to achieve – e.g. set an example, get the
works done or a deterrent to committing future offences (a civil penalty
will not be in the public domain unlike a prosecution).
Severity of the offence – is prosecution a better option based on the
significance of the offence and the impact it has had.
Type of property and its occupiers – are the occupiers particularly
vulnerable.

2.6

Where the civil penalty is considered the most appropriate course of action
the council must provide guidance on how the fine levels will be set. Section 6
of this policy provides a proposed fine setting methodology; each case will
need to be assessed on an individual basis using this framework as a
guide.

3.0

Burden of proof

3.1

The same criminal burden of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a
prosecution. This means that before formal action is taken the Council must
be satisfied that if there was a prosecution there would be a realistic prospect
of conviction.

3.2

The Council must determine beyond reasonable doubt that the offence has
been committed and this evidence would be required if an appeal is made
against the civil penalty.

3.3

As also outlined in the Enforcement Policy, the local authority must also
consult the Crown Prosecution Service code for Crown Prosecutors when
determining whether to take action. There are two stages to this code:
 The evidential stage, and

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

4

Page 180

 The public interest stage.
4.0

Procedure and appeals

4.1

The procedure for imposing a civil penalty is set out at Schedule 13A of the
Housing Act 2004 and summarised in the DCLG guidance. There is no scope
for the Council to deviate from this procedure and therefore it is not duplicated
for the purposes of this policy.

4.2

At any time, if circumstances dictate, the Council may withdraw a notice or
reduce the amount specified in a notice in relation to a civil penalty.

4.3

A landlord receiving the final notice of a civil penalty may appeal to the Firsttier Tribunal against the decision to impose a penalty or the penalty amount.
The appeal has the effect of suspending the notice and requirement to pay
until determined.

5.0

Enforcement and other consequences

5.1

Where the landlord or property agent fails to pay a civil penalty, the Council
should refer the case to the county court for an Order of that Court.
If
necessary, the Council should use county court bailiffs to enforce the order
and recover the debt.

5.2

The Council’s powers to carry out works in default under the Housing Act
2004 are unaffected by the civil penalty provisions.

5.3

If a landlord receives a civil penalty, that fact can be taken into account if
considering whether the landlord is a fit and proper person to be the licence
holder for a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) or any other property
subject to licensing.

5.4

Where a landlord receives two or more civil penalties over a 12 month period,
the Council will include that person’s details in the database of rogue
landlords and property agents. While it is not a compulsory requirement,
under the DCLG guidance Councils are strongly encouraged to do so. This will help
ensure that other Councils are made aware that formal action has been taken
against the landlord.
5.5

The establishment of a national rogue landlords and property agent’s
database is a new requirement on the Government bought in by the Housing
and Planning Act 2016 and any entry must be maintained for at least 2years. It is the responsibility of local authorities to manage the information on
the database and ensure it is current.

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

5

Page 181

6.0

Proposed Civil Penalties

6.1

In setting a civil penalty level the Council should consider the following
factors:








Severity of the offence
Culpability and track record of the offender
The harm caused to the tenant
Proportionate punishment of the offender
Deter the offender from repeating the offence
Deter others from committing similar offences.
Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result
of committing the offence.
 Assessment of assets and income
6.2

6.3

Determining the offence category – Culpability


Deliberate– An intentional breach by a landlord or property agent or
flagrant disregard for the law. For example, by failing to comply with a
notice or regulations.



Reckless– An actual foresight of, or wilful blindness to the risk of
offending, but decides to take the risk nevertheless. For example, failing
to comply with a strict liability in the HMO regulations.



Negligent– The failure of the landlord or property agent to take
reasonable care to put in place and enforce proper systems for avoiding
the offence. For example, partial compliance with a schedule of work to an
enforcement notice but failure to fully comply with all schedule items.



Low or no culpability– The offence committed has some fault on the part
of the landlord or property agent but there are other circumstances for
example obstruction by the tenant to allow a contractor access for repairs,
or damage caused by tenant negligence.

Determining the level of fine – Severity


Level one – Major impact – Serious and substantial risk, including
imminent risk, to the health and safety of the occupiers and/or community
as a result of the offence, with potentially life threatening results or loss of
major limbs. Housing defects that may present such a risk maybe

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

6

Page 182

associated with electrical hazards, carbon monoxide exposure, fire safety
risks, risk of explosion or structural collapse, exposure to asbestos or
radiation. This is not an exhaustive list and also includes property
management failings that could lead to a major risk to the
occupiers/neighbours and/or community. Where the risk has been
realised the fine is likely to be greater or there may be a decision to
prosecute as an alternative.


Level two - Serious Impact – Serious risks to the health and safety of the
occupiers and/or immediate neighbours, leading to serious injury or
disease requiring prolonged treatment and/or hospital admission. Housing
defects that may present such a risk maybe associated with falls, lack of
heating, collision and entrapment, any other hazards or management
issues that could lead to a serious risk to the occupiers and immediate
neighbours.



Level three – Minor impact – Risk of injury or disease to the occupiers
resulting in treatment at the doctors. Examples of housing defects that
could present such a risk include damp, mould or hygiene issues and any
other hazards or management issues that could lead to a risk to the
occupiers.

6.4

The table below provides an indication of the level of fine that is likely to be
appropriate. As part of the considerations mentioned in 6.1 above, the Council
should assess of the assets including any income of the landlord or letting
agent. £30,000 is the maximum level of fine permitted under the legislation.

6.5

In order for officers and landlords to understand how this assessment could
work, the asset assessment has been based on the number of properties
either being managed or owned by the landlord or agent. This table provides
a guide to setting the fine, however the Council should also make an
assessment on all assets and income and not just rental income.

Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

7

Page 183

Civil Penalties – Guidance on level of fine
Type of
landlord/agent

Category of
offence

Starting point
for level 1 –
Major impact

Landlord/Property
agent with
1-10 properties
(income/asset value
of up to approx. £38K
per annum/£750K)

Deliberate

Landlord/Property
agent with
11 – 30 properties
(income/asset value
of up to approx.
£100K per
annum/£2million)
Landlord/Property
agent with 31+
properties
(income/asset value
in excess of approx.
£100K per
annum/£2million)

£12,500

Starting point
for penalty
Level 2 –
Serious impact
£10,000

Starting point
for penalty
Level 3 – Minor
impact
£7,500

Reckless

£6,500

£5,000

£3,500

Negligent

£3,000

£2,500

£1,500

Low culpability

£1,250

£1,000

£750

Deliberate

£22,500

£20,000

£17,500

Reckless

£17,500

£15,000

£12,500

Negligent

£12,500

£10,000

£7,500

Low culpability

£7,500

£5,000

£2,500

Deliberate

£30,000

£25,000

£22,500

Reckless

£22,500

£20,000

£17,500

Negligent

£17,500

£15,000

£12,500

Low culpability

£12,500

£10,000

£7,500

List of Background Papers:
Housing and Planning Act 2016
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents

The Rent Repayment Orders and Financial Penalties (Amounts Recovered)
(England) Regulations 2017
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/367/contents/made

Civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 – Guidance for Local
Housing Authorities (Department for Communities and Local Government)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606653/Civil_
Penalties_guidance.pdf

Public Health Services Enforcement Policy (August 2016)
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/public-health/public-health-enforcement-policy/
Financial (Civil) Penalties Policy
v3 revised May 2021

8

Page 184

Agenda Item 10.
CABINET
3 AUGUST 2021

PART I

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION.
Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone Public Realm Enhancement
Project
Cabinet Member:
Responsible Officer:

Cllr Richard Chesterton
Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration

Reason for Report and Recommendations: To advise Members on the results for
the procurement of consultants on the Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone
Town Centre Public Realm Enhancement Design.
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the concept design contract for
the Cullompton Town Centre Public Realm Enhancement Design is awarded to
Supplier 4.
Relationship to Corporate Plan: The Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone

project contributes to the corporate priorities of economic growth, empowering local
communities and caring for the environment.
Financial Implications: Historic England has awarded a High Street Heritage Action
Zone (HAZ) to Cullompton, following a successful bid by this Council. The
administration of the HAZ programme of works rests with this Council through to
March 2024 and includes public realm improvements around the Higher Bullring
delivered in partnership with Devon County Council. Evaluation criteria set out in the
tender document establishes that price forms 40% of the total score available.
Budget and Policy Framework: The cost of engaging consultants to deliver the
Cullompton Town Centre Public Realm Enhancement design will be financed
through High Street Heritage Action Zone agreed funding. A total of £60,000 has
been budgeted for these works and the tender process has gone out on that basis.
Legal Implications: The contract will be let subject to the council standard terms
and conditions for supply of services. The supplier referred to below is not identified
– such information is confidential and not necessary to reach a decision. Any
discussion which may identify a supplier should be treated as exempt information
and must therefore be pre-empted by passing a resolution in accordance with
Section 100A(4) of and Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, namely
that such discussion would result in the disclosure of exempt information as defined
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, being information relating
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information).
Risk Assessment: The tender process has assessed against a series of quality
criteria as well as price in order to ensure that the successful contractor not only
represents suitable value for money, but is also sufficiently experienced and suited to
undertake the role.
MDDC Report: Asbestos Surveying and Unlicensed Removal 2021-2024

Page 185

1

Equality Impact Assessment: The procurement was undertaken following all the
Council’s policies and adheres to our quality process. No equality impacts are
foreseen from the letting of the procurement contract.
Impact on Climate Change: One of the quality assessment criteria questions asked
how suppliers would seek to ensure the design can support Mid Devon becoming
carbon neutral by 2030. Answers to this question formed part of the overall
assessment of tenders received.

1.0 Introduction
1.1 The procurement procedure selected was an open tender process. This means
that anyone who expressed an interest in the Prior Information Notice would be
invited to tender.
1.2 The scope of work was for landscape/ public realm design services up to the
Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) stage 3 (spatially coordinated
design), to cover the town centre of Cullompton from the Higher Bullring
through the Fore Street to the Lower Bullring.
1.3 The scope of work was discussed with Devon County Council and Historic
England to ensure their requirements were addressed as both delivery partners
and funding partners respectively.
1.4 The funding for this procurement, as well as the funding for the implementation
of works to the Higher Bullring area, is being provided as part of the wider High
Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) programme in Cullompton.
1.5 The overall HSHAZ programme is funded by Historic England and has been
matched with contributions from local partners including Mid Devon District
Council (MDDC), Devon County Council (DCC) and Cullompton Town Council.
2.0 Procurement Process
2.1 Expressions of Interest (EOIs) were invited via a Prior Information Notice
advertised on the Proactis tender portal.
2.2 All EOIs received were accepted.
2.3 There were a total of 63 EOIs, of which 5 submitted their tenders on time, 18
opted out and 40 did not respond. The five submissions made on time were all
within the budget as set out.
2.4 Each consultant/ consortia was also invited to present their submissions to a
panel consisting of two officers from MDDC, one representative from Historic
England, and two DCC officers. The assessment panel were chosen to reflect
the nature of the project. Historic England and DCC were acting in an advisory
context. Tender submission material was shared with DCC and Historic
England in advance of these presentations.
MDDC Report: Asbestos Surveying and Unlicensed Removal 2021-2024

Page 186

2

2.5 Evaluation criteria set out in the ITT:
2.6
Quality
Experience
Qualification and skills
Approach

60%
15%
15%
30%

Price

40%

2.7 The quality was assessed based on 10 questions which suppliers were
required to answer as part of their tender returns.
2.8 The outcome of the evaluation is shown below:

SCORE
SUPPLIER
SUPPLIER 1
SUPPLIER 2
SUPPLIER 3
SUPPLIER 4
SUPPLIER 5

PRICE

QUALITY

27.07
31.76
29.3
27.56
40

42.7
37.8
38.6
44.55
26.7

TOTAL

69.77
69.56
67.9
72.11
66.7

3.0 Conclusion
3.1 The outcome of the tender process shows Contractor 4 as the winning bidder.
3.2 Following the decision, there will be a compulsory 10 day standstill period after
which the contract will be awarded.
3.3 Following the standstill period it is envisaged that the contract would start week
commencing 30th August 2021, although this is still to be confirmed.
Contact for more Information: Chris Scobie, Cullompton HAZ Project Officer
07977 929073 / cscobie@middevon.gov.uk
Circulation of the Report:

Cabinet

List of Background Papers: PART II - Confidential

MDDC Report: Asbestos Surveying and Unlicensed Removal 2021-2024

Page 187

3

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 189

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.
CABINET
3RD AUGUST 2021
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION
HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND AND PROJECT UPDATE
Cabinet Member
Responsible Officer

Cllr Richard Chesterton
Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration

Reason for Report: To update Cabinet on the infrastructure projects under the
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) totalling £18.2 million, in relation to which the
Council has entered grant funding agreements with Homes England and has
submitted the initial claims to draw down the first tranches of funding. The report also
considers emerging financial considerations and seeks instruction from Cabinet at
this stage in the project, whilst identifying that there will be future key decision points
for both projects.
RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet consider the contents of this report and
instruct Officers to:
1. Tiverton HIF projecti)
Continue to work with Devon County Council to deliver the
project;
ii)
Bring a report back to Cabinet once the tendering process is
complete in order to seek a formal decision (with Devon County
Council) over whether the delivery contract be entered into.
2. Cullompton HIF project –
i)
Continue to work with Devon County Council to deliver the
project;
ii)
In the event that the Levelling Up Fund bid is not successful, to
seek further instruction from Cabinet by bringing another report
considering the financial implications and options available.
Financial Implications: The Housing Infrastructure Fund will play a pivotal role in
bringing forward the corporate aspirations to facilitate growth within the district which
in turn will help boost the economy. The £18.2m for the two HIF schemes has been
secured as recoverable grant to forward fund infrastructure in Mid Devon.
At the outset of the bid process it was envisaged that no additional contributions from
the District Council would be required over and above those already reflected in
existing budgets. However as the discussions with Homes England progressed and
the formal offer letters for the schemes were received, it became clear that an
element of forward funding (cash flow) from this Council would be needed to provide
funding for the projects. This was for two reasons:
1. The grant funding agreements with Homes England for each project specifies
that the HIF funds will be drawn down in accordance with a programme of
payments that has been agreed with Homes England. Whilst these payment
claims are programmed by quarter and can be in advance of spend, it was
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 191

considered still possible that the Council will be required to bear project costs
in the short term until the quarterly HIF draw down payment is claimed and
made. Early drawdowns of HIF funding have now been made for both
projects. Claims are now being submitted retrospectively. The County Council
(delivery partner) is bearing the costs incurred for work they are undertaking
or commissioning until the HIF drawdown claims are processed and funds
received. This Council is bearing its own costs until HIF funds are claimed.
These costs are primarily staff time. The financial implication at this time of
this type of ‘forward funding’ is therefore significantly less than initially
identified.
2. Funds are being made available through the HIF programme on the basis of a
recoverable grant. Through the terms of the grant funding agreements
entered into between the Council and Homes England, the Council is required
to secure the recovery of the HIF funding from housing developers. It is
envisaged that this will be via future S106 agreements to be entered into as
part of the planning process. This is to ensure that public funds are not
subsidising developer profit. There will therefore be a time lag between when
monies needed to be expended in order to deliver the infrastructure and the
recovery of funding from developers via S106 agreement. For the Cullompton
relief road project in particular, the overall project was initially expected to cost
at least £15m, with £10m forward funding being provided through HIF and the
£5m balance to be forward funded by the Council until such time as S106
monies are collected from housing development. This position has now been
updated, both in terms of project cost and the proposed funding package for
the Cullompton scheme. An application has been made to the Levelling Up
Fund (LUF), the outcome of which is not expected until the autumn. In the
event of success, LUF funds would provide the balance of the majority of
project costs once those from HIF and £1 million from Devon County Council
have been accounted for. With a successful LUF outcome, the initially
proposed £5m forward funding from this Council pending recovery from
developer S106 funds would not be required. However at this time funds
remain allocated to the project within the Capital Programme.
Since initial reports on the projects were written, the projected cost of the schemes
has increased. The Tiverton scheme is currently estimated at a potential £10.1m
rather than £8.2m and the Cullompton scheme is estimated at £24.4m rather than
£15.0m. There is also further cost pressure as a result of the increasing cost of
construction materials, particularly steel. The funding gap for the Cullompton scheme
is considered below, as is the potential funding gap for the Tiverton project.
£88,000 capacity funding for each of the two projects has recently been awarded by
Homes England for spend in 21/22. The successful bid was based on this additional
capacity being used for proactive work to deliver the homes that will be unlocked
through these HIF schemes.
Budget and Policy Framework: None directly in terms of the Council’s policy
framework. The agreed 2021/22 capital programme includes the two HIF schemes
within the general fund projects and the projects are also built into the medium term
financial plan capital programme. The assumptions over forward funding and
payback are being kept under review.
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 192

Legal Implications: Grant funding agreements have been entered into between the
Council and Homes England. The Council is the accountable body for the projects,
although they are being delivered by Devon County Council. The contents and terms
of the grant funding agreements were considered by the Head of Legal (Monitoring
Officer) following protracted negotiation with Homes England. At the meeting of
Cabinet on 30th May 2019 it was resolved as follows:
1. To enter into grant funding agreements with Homes England to secure £18.2
million Housing Infrastructure Fund monies and grant delegated authority to
the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the Group Manager for Legal
Services to finalise and sign the agreements;
2. To forward fund the Cullompton town centre relief road and Tiverton Eastern
Urban Extension phase 2 junction projects as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and
5.4 including taking out any associated borrowing.
The grant fund agreements were subsequently signed in accordance with the
resolution on 29th November 2019 (Tiverton) and 4th December 2019 (Cullompton). A
deed of variation to the Tiverton agreement was signed on 21st June 2021 and
updated key dates and funding availability period in line with the latest project
programme. A similar deed of variation for the Cullompton scheme is also now
required.
Devon County Council is acting as this Council’s delivery partner. Given that the two
HIF projects involve highway infrastructure, it is appropriate that the County Council
as Highway Authority takes on the responsibility for their project management,
procurement, contracting and delivery. A formal agreement has been signed
between the two Councils to this effect for the Cullompton scheme and has also
been drafted for the Tiverton scheme. These agreements ensure compliance with
the requirements of the HIF funding agreements and provide both Councils with
financial safeguards.
A further area of legal implication is pursuance of S106 legal agreements as part of
the planning process in order to secure developer contributions towards the cost of
the delivery of the infrastructure in question. It is through this means that the Council
proposes to recover the HIF funds as required by the grant funding agreements.
Entering into S106 agreements in this way is a standard requirement and would
have been sought irrespective of whether this HIF funding was forthcoming or not.
Legal implications will also arise as a result of the need to assemble and acquire
land to deliver the Cullompton relief road scheme and also in respect of the legal
interests of existing sports providers likely to be affected and any loss or substitution
of public open space. A range of land ownerships and interests will need to be
addressed and are the subject of negotiation as the project progresses. For the
Tiverton A361 junction project, legal provisions for licenses and title transfer between
the landowner and Devon County Council are already set out within a signed S106
agreement. As the Council’s delivery partner, it will be Devon County Council to
negotiate to ensure the land needed to deliver the projects is assembled and
secured; run the procurement process; award the contract for the construction of the
infrastructure and undertake the day to day project management to deliver the
infrastructure in question.
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 193

The adoption and implementation of an Air Quality Action Plan (where an authority
has designated one or more Air Quality Management Areas) is a statutory
requirement under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 for Local Air Quality
Management (known as the LAQM regime). Under the regime, Local Authorities
have a duty to pursue measures which are designed to improve air quality. The
Council’s Air Quality Action Plan includes the delivery of a Cullompton town centre
relief road as an air quality mitigation measure, specifically due to the opportunity it
provides to reduce traffic in the High Street, as well as improving air quality in the
vicinity. The Council’s successful bid for the Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) project in
Cullompton town centre was also predicated upon the relief road scheme and has
secured funding from Historic England.
Planning permission has been granted for both the Cullompton relief road scheme
and the relocation of Cullompton Cricket Club onto a new site. The latter will be
required in connection with the road scheme due to the line of the road.
Risk Assessment: The consequences to the authority of not securing an adequate
funding package for the infrastructure in question would be serious as it would
compromise the ability to deliver much needed housing and affect housing land
supply. At examination the Local Plan Review Inspector wished to be assured that
the Plan was sound and provided deliverable housing sites in the early years of the
Plan together with a supply of developable sites later in the Plan with a reasonable
prospect of being developed at the point envisaged. The funding agreements with
Homes England were therefore entered into against this wider background with HIF
funding being made available by the Treasury via Homes England specifically to
unlock planned housing growth through the provision of key pieces of infrastructure.
Should either project not be delivered, there will be Local Plan delivery and housing
supply implications.
In the case of Cullompton, the relief road is also of significance to improving air
quality, the delivery of the HAZ project, environmental enhancement of the town
centre and the unlocking of planned housing, including to the east of Cullompton.
The latter is expected to form the first phase of the larger Garden Village. The
delivery of the project is also considered vital to the heritage led regeneration of the
town centre, to the attractiveness of the town for investment and significant to its
future economic prosperity. Discussions with Historic England within the context of
the HAZ scheme, have reinforced the importance of the scheme to these wider
dependencies.
To qualify for HIF funding, the proposed infrastructure has needed to meet the HIF
scheme criteria and deliverables, as tested through a prolonged due diligence
assessment process. The projects continue to be the subject of an ongoing
assurance process via quarterly monitoring returns and close liaison with the Homes
England Infrastructure Grant Manager assigned to the projects. The intention of this
monitoring being to have ongoing project engagement and management, to
anticipate and respond accordingly to address any concerns and reduce risk of
project non delivery or grant fund clawback. These quarterly monitoring returns also
include examination of project level risk assessments.
The HIF funding requires adherence to tight and challenging timescales. Should the
LUF grant bid be successful, it is anticipated that the requirements of this fund will
also be challenging. The need to meet agreed project milestones and the fund
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 194

availability cut off dates remain a significant risk. The grant agreements contain
milestone date targets for key stages of each project. A deed of variation has been
entering into for the Tiverton scheme and revises the infrastructure completion
milestone to 14th July 2023. At time of writing, the now expected completion date for
the Cullompton project of 27th March 2024 will also require a deed of variation to the
grant fund agreement to revise the funding availability period and completion
milestone. Maintaining progress on the projects and ultimately securing their delivery
within the requirements continue to be challenging. Close liaison has taken place
with Devon County Council with the aim of ensuring that the programme and hence
milestones for both schemes whilst ambitious (to reflect the urgency of Homes
England), is nevertheless achievable. The grant agreement contains fund clawback
provisions. Officers from both Councils will continue to work to de-risk the projects,
liaise with Homes England and seek their delivery in accordance with the grant
agreements.
The risks associated with the Tiverton A361 junction project is considered less than
with Cullompton as planning permission has already been granted and a signed
S106 is in place between the landowner and County Council over licenses and land
transfer.
There remain particular risks with the Cullompton relief road project. Although this
project has advanced significantly with the grant of planning permission for both the
road scheme itself and for the replacement site for Cullompton Cricket Club, a key
stage of the project is yet to take place; namely land assembly. Further technical
work is needed to support the detailed design and delivery phases post planning, the
affected sports facilities need to be moved and replacement sports and recreation
space provided. These activities together with the construction phase result in a very
tight timescale to meet funding requirements. The LUF requires delivery by the end
of March 2024.
The repayment of forward funding by the Council via developer S106 agreement
payments is dependent upon housing schemes coming forward within the timescale
anticipated. The Council’s Local Plan sets out the policy framework for this. The
housing trajectory within the Local Plan does not assume that any homes that the
relief road will unlock will be delivered within the first five years of the plan. Risk to
achieving the required housing delivery rate is therefore reduced. Other forms of risk
reduction include proactive working to support activities such as masterplanning that
will aid the delivery of the key housing sites in question. Officers will continue to work
proactively to deliver these planned for sites, but this is ultimately not under the
Council’s control. Planning applications for some of these schemes have been
received. This does not prejudice or predetermine the assessment and decision
making process on these applications.
COVID-19 and the UK leaving the EU have resulted in impacts upon the economy,
the construction industry and housing market. These present a further risk to
achieving project milestones, the delivery of homes and therefore the recovery of
HIF funding and the Council’s forward funding via S106 within the initially expected
timescales. The construction industry is currently experiencing material shortages
and price increases which are expected to place pressure on project cost.
Equalities Assessment: There are none directly arising from this report. For
Cullompton, the impacts have been assessed to date as part of the previous
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 195

substantive decisions – for example on the route of the relief road - and will also
come into play when the planning application is made. It is acknowledged that there
is an impact upon sport and recreation – therefore most likely to be an age-related
impact for young people who are involved in the sports clubs which make use of the
land over which it is expected the relief road will run – and also for those who prefer
to walk on ground which is largely flat and which includes level pathways through it
e.g. the elderly, those with young children and those with disabilities.
Impact on Climate Change: The two HIF schemes in question relate to highway
infrastructure projects- a new road and a new highway junction. On the face of it,
they may appear at odds with the Council’s climate change declaration and the
target of net-zero carbon emissions by 2050. However the Cullompton relief road will
deliver wider improvements to air quality within the Cullompton Air Quality
Management Area as well as resultant opportunities for improvements to the town
centre environment by reducing town centre traffic. Idling cars in queues of traffic
waste fuel, impact on air quality and contribute to climate change. The schemes and
strategic scale development that they will unlock have / will be subject to
environmental impact assessment which will seek to reduce or mitigate impact. Both
schemes are important to the delivery of development within the Local Plan which
provides for sustainable development up to 2033 and contains policies for the
protection and enhancement of the natural as well as the built environment.
Relationship to Corporate Plan: These infrastructure projects are considered vital
to enable development identified in the Local Plan to come forward and make a
valuable contribution to delivering the priorities of the Corporate Plan 2020 to 2024;
Economy, Homes, Community and Environment. In his examination of the Local
Plan Review the Inspector was keen to understand the likelihood and timescale for
the delivery of the Cullompton town centre relief road and clearly saw it as being
crucial to unlocking development planned for in the Cullompton area.
1.0

Background: Housing Infrastructure Fund.

1.1

In July 2017 the Government launched its £2.3 billion Housing Infrastructure
Fund to finance infrastructure to unlock housing delivery. This Council made
two bids for HIF funding with proposals relating to highway infrastructure
schemes which will unlock development sites allocated within the Local Plan.
The Council’s HIF bids were considered and agreed at the meetings of
Cabinet on 31st August 2017 and 23rd May 2018 with authority granted to
make the bids and prioritise that relating to Cullompton.

1.2

The funding was offered on the basis of a locally recoverable grant. There is a
requirement to recover the HIF funds from development. This Council will
retain those funds locally (rather than return them to Homes England) and will
need to recycle them into projects or schemes that achieve further
accelerated housing delivery. At the meeting of 30th May 2019 Cabinet agreed
to enter into the grant fund agreements and granted delegated authority for
their finalisation and signing.

1.3

A summary of matters common to both schemes and HIF grant fund
agreements was included in the report considered at the 20th July 2020
meeting of Scrutiny Committee and accordingly is not repeated within this
report.

MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 196

2.0

Tiverton HIF project: Northern element of A361 junction east of Tiverton

2.1

Construction of the first of two phases of the new junction off the A361 to
serve the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension has been completed on site. This
first phase provides southern-side slip roads. The second phase of the
junction is required to deliver Area B of the urban extension. The phase two
junction works are for the bridge across the A361, the north side slips and
associated landscaping. Planning permission has been granted for the full
junction. HIF funding of £8.2m will deliver the northern phase of the junction.

2.2

The Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension is a strategic scale development
allocation within the Local Plan, the build out of which is significant to the
delivery of this Plan. In the absence of the second phase of the junction, the
homes in Area B will not come forward.

2.3

Acquisition of land has already been dealt with in the existing s106 agreement
entered into with the land owner. The s106 agreement provides a mechanism
to secure a licence to the land to carry out the works and, following their
completion, the transfer of the land to Devon County Council.

2.4

The programme for this project was revised and renegotiated with Homes
England earlier this year. Works are now due to start in September 2022, with
completion in July 2023. A significant factor in the need to revise the project
programme was uncertainty over the timescale for the delivery of the section
of linking road between the new junction and Blundell’s Road. This road will
act as the divert route for the A361 during construction works as the bridging
structure is craned in. The County Council wished to have more certainty over
the timing of these works before going out to tender. The linking road works
are being developer delivered and have now started on site. Completion is
due in early January 2022. A further factor in the revised programme has
been the need to avoid the summer embargo on works affecting the A361. In
order to ensure a continual build avoiding this embargo period, the start of the
works has been delayed to September 2022. Both factors contributed to the
need to revise the HIF project programme, revise project milestones, extend
the funding availability period and vary the HIF grant fund agreement. This
was concluded in June 2021.

2.5

£8.2m of HIF funding has been secured to deliver the project. Devon County
Council has now identified the project cost to be £10.1m. This £10.1m figure is
also subject to further cost pressure as a result of lack of construction material
availability and increasing cost, especially steel (which will be needed for the
bridging structure). The difference between these cost estimates is the
allowance for risk. The County Council is due to go out to tender shortly. Once
the tenders have been returned there will more certainty over the cost of the
project and the degree of any funding gap. Options can then be considered
further in terms of whether the contract is to be awarded or not. Further
instructions can be sought from Cabinet at that stage. A resolution to continue
to work with the County Council to deliver the project at this stage will allow
the DCC to go out to tender without prejudicing future decision points.

MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 197

2.6

This Council is yet to enter into a formal agreement with the County Council
over the delivery of this project. An agreement has been drafted along similar
lines to that entered into for the Cullompton scheme. As drafted, a decision by
this Council is required before the County Council lets the construction
contract. The respective responsibilities for complying with the HIF grant fund
agreement and drawdowns are set out, as are financial safeguards for each
authority.

2.7

Drawdowns of HIF money to support this project have taken place and to date
total £139,072.66. The next claim is due in September 2021.

2.8

Build out of the Tiverton EUE housing (Area B) is profiled to take place up to
2033, indicating an approximately 8 year period within which S106 monies
would be expected to recover HIF funds. No planning applications have yet
been submitted for this housing.

3.0

Cullompton HIF project: Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road

3.1

At Cabinet on 23rd May 2018 it was agreed to proceed with the £10 million
Cullompton HIF bid on the basis of delivering a town centre relief road to the
east of Cullompton, which will improve capacity at the motorway junction
together with achieving a reduction of traffic flows through the town centre
resulting in air quality and town centre amenity benefits. The overall project
cost was expected to be £15 million; £10 million of which would be through
HIF with £5 million from s106 receipts that would require Council forward
funding in the first instance (in effect a loan to the project).

3.2

Devon County Council and Highways England have raised concerns
regarding the capacity of Junction 28 for the M5 and its ability to
accommodate additional traffic movements arising from planned
developments. Whilst a longer term solution is planned comprising a strategic
motorway junction improvement, the delivery of a town centre relief road for
Cullompton will more quickly increase capacity at the motorway junction as a
first phase of wider improvements. The relief road will facilitate more
immediate development proposals to come forward comprising 2,000 homes
planned for within the adopted Local Plan including a first release of
approximately 500 dwellings east of Cullompton which will form part of the
Garden Village.

3.3

The delivery of the town centre relief road has also been a long held
aspiration to reduce traffic flows through the town centre. Cullompton town
centre is a designated Air Quality Management Area. The Council’s Air
Quality Action Plan includes the delivery of a Cullompton town centre relief
road as an air quality mitigation measure.

3.4

The relief road will reduce traffic through Cullompton town centre, resulting in
environmental improvement. The town’s Conservation Area is ‘at risk’ and the
Cullompton HAZ scheme depends upon the delivery of the relief road to
implement the full range of proposals. Historic England has clearly indicated
the importance of addressing traffic levels in the town centre via the road. It is
considered a pre-requisite to investment in the heritage and town centre

MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 198

environment of Cullompton as well as wider economic recovery and
prosperity. The Council is also currently consulting on a masterplan for the
regeneration of the town centre.
3.5

Planning permission was granted in January 2021 for the both the relief road
and a new site for Cullompton Cricket Club, the relocation of which is required
by the scheme. Recent project activity has been focused on reviewing the
programme, cost and funding package and working towards the relocation of
the Cricket Club (including technical work to discharge the planning conditions
and understanding the equivalent reinstatement requirements of this part of
the project). Work has also been taking place to refine understanding of
potential land purchase requirements and estimates to inform land assembly.
Devon County Council is in discussion with landowners and will undertake the
negotiation and acquisition process.

3.6

This project will require the provision of alternative open space and
replacement sports facilities to off-set the impact of the line of the road. This is
a planning requirement. The County Council has been working closely with
landowners and sports providers over this aspect. Success in delivering the
identified areas is critical to the project in order to avoid delay and missed
milestones. In particular the timing of groundworks, replacement pitch
provision and seeding for the Cricket Club are important as they must take
place two years in advance of play and if delayed have the potential to impact
the construction programme for the relief road.

3.7

As the project progresses through key stages, greater certainty will be gained
over the cost of construction and land assembly in particular. Project cost
estimates will be kept under review and updated. The most recent update
indicates a total project cost of £24.6m resulting in a funding gap. The LUF bid
submitted in June 2021 seeks gap funding and included a proposed funding
package as follows:
Funding Sources
Total
UKG Funding Sought (Levelling Up Fund)
£13,599,430.82
Local Authority Contribution (DCC) in the event of
LUF success
£1,000,000
Housing Infrastructure Fund- (recoverable from
S106 development contributions)
£10,000,000
S106 developer funding (already spent)
£254,248.52
Total
£24,853,679*
*This includes the cost of pedestrian and cycle enhancement works on Station
Road, Cullompton in addition to the relief road. Relief road element is £24.6m.

3.8

The outcome of the LUF bid process is not expected until autumn 2021 and
will dictate next steps with the project- land assembly if successful, or if not
successful there will be a need to consider alternative/additional funding
sources. In that event a further resolution from Cabinet will be required taking
into account an updated assessment of project risks, including financial risk to
this Council. This will inform decisions over next steps at that point.

MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 199

3.9

Taking into account the July drawdown of HIF funds, to date a total of
£567,947.75 has been claimed out of the total £10m. This represents the
current degree of financial exposure for the Council over the project in terms
of recovery of HIF grant. However as land purchases take place to assemble
the parcels required to deliver the project, overall project expenditure will
significantly increase. There will be a need for surety over funding availability
for the full cost of the project before this stage.

3.10 The LUF requires project delivery by the end of March 2024. This aligns with

the most recent project programme. At time of writing discussions are taking
place with Homes England over the project programme in relation to the grant
fund agreement’s milestones. An application has been made to update the
programme, revise milestone dates and extend the HIF funding availability
period. These will require a variation to the grant fund agreement. A similar
process has already taken place over the Tiverton HIF project.
3.11 An agreement is in place between this Council and Devon County Council

over the delivery of the project.
3.12 Housing to be unlocked from this scheme is from the allocated sites in

Cullompton at North West Cullompton (CU1), East Cullompton (CU7) and
Colebrook (CU21). Completions of the homes to be unlocked by the scheme
are profiled to take place over a 12 year period with earliest completions from
the first phase of North West Cullompton expected from 21/22. The S106s
associated with the first 600 homes at North West Cullompton will secure
developer contributions of £3m towards the relief road.
4.0

CONCLUSIONS

4.1

Work to deliver these projects of corporate significance continues in close
liaison with Devon County Council as the delivery partner and with Homes
England. The risk profile and degree of financial exposure for the Council is
being kept under review and further reporting will be required to inform options
at key decision stages. Timescales for both projects remain tight and hence
challenging, as do the requirements of the grant fund agreements in meeting
milestones. However efforts continue to be made to de-risk the projects
through the early anticipation of problems and mitigating action. The pressure
on project cost is significant. In terms of the Cullompton scheme, the LUF bid
seeks to overcome this issue. Next steps and options for that project will
depend upon the outcome of that key grant fund application.

4.2 Emphasis must also continue on the delivery of the homes that the

infrastructure will unlock, this being both the purpose of the HIF funding but
also important to the delivery of the Council’s Local Plan, continuing to meet the
Housing Delivery Test and in the recovery of the HIF funds via S106
agreements.
4.3 This report updates Cabinet on project progress, key issues and risks and

seeks instruction to continue work with Devon County Council. It also identifies
future decision points where further reporting and subsequent Cabinet
instruction will be required.
MDDC Report [title]
v

Page 200

Contact
for
information

any

Background Papers

more Jenny Clifford
Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk
Cabinet November and December 2014;
Council January 2015;
Council 27th April 2016;
Cabinet 15th September 2016;
Council 22nd September 2016;
Cabinet 21st November 2016
Council 1st December 2016
Cabinet 31st August 2017
Cabinet 23rd May 2018
Cabinet 30th August 2018
Cabinet 31st January 2019
Cabinet 30th May 2019
Scrutiny Committee 20th July 2020
Cabinet 13th May 2021
MHCLG
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
housing-infrastructure-fund

Circulation of the Report

MDDC Report [title]
v

Cabinet

Page 201

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.
CABINET
03 August 2021
FINANCIAL UPDATE FOR THE THREE MONTHS TO 30 JUNE 2021
Cabinet Member

Cllr Andrew Moore, Cabinet Member for Finance

Responsible Officer Andrew Jarrett – Deputy Chief Executive (S151)
Reason for Report: To present a financial update in respect of the income and
expenditure so far in the year.
RECOMMENDATION(S):
1. The Cabinet note the financial monitoring information for the income and
expenditure for the three months to 30 June 2021 and the initial projected
outturn position.
Relationship to the Corporate Plan: The financial resources of the Council impact
directly on its ability to deliver the Corporate Plan; prioritising the use of available
resources brought forward and any future spending will be closely linked to key
Council pledges from the updated Corporate Plan.
Financial Implications: Good financial management and administration underpins
the entire document. A surplus or deficit on the Revenue Budget will impact on the
Council’s General Fund balances. The Council’s financial position is constantly reviewed
to ensure its continued financial health.
Legal Implications: There are no direct implications from the content of this report.
Risk Assessment: Regular financial monitoring information mitigates the risk of
unforeseen over or underspends at year end and allows the Council to direct its
resources to key corporate priorities. Members will be aware that the Council
continues to face a financially difficult and uncertain future. As such, the Strategic
Risk Register (monitored by Audit Committee) includes a specific risk relating to this
issue.
Equality Impact Assessment: There are no direct impacts from the content of this
report.
Impact on Climate Change: There are no direct impacts from the content of this
report.
1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Council agreed the 2021/22 Annual Budget at its meeting on 4 February.
The aim is to keep a tight control on spending on services within a flexible
budget management framework, allowing budget holders to manage savings
within controllable budgets to help mitigate budget pressures and thus contain
or minimise a budget deficit for the Council as a whole.

1.2

The purpose of this report is to highlight to Cabinet our current financial status
and the likely reserve balances at 31 March 2022. It encompasses both

Page
203
1

revenue, in respect of the General Fund, the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA), and Capital Programme. The detail under pinning these projections is
included within the body of report in the following sections / appendices:






The projected General Fund outturn position for 2021/22 (Section 3 +
Appendices A to D)
The projected HRA Outturn position for 2021/22 (Section 4 + Appendices E
and F)
The projected Capital Outturn position for 2021/22 (Section 5 + Appendix
G)
The projected Reserves Outturn position for 2021/22 (Section 6)
Summary Treasury Management position (Section 7).

1.3

Favourable variances generating either increased income or cost savings are
expressed as credits (negative numbers), whilst unfavourable overspends or
incomes below budget are debits (positive numbers). Any variance against the
agreed budget will impact on the Council’s reserves.

1.4

The Council’s financial position will be constantly reviewed to ensure its
continued financial health and delivery of excellent Value for Money.

2.0

Executive Summary of 2021/22

2.1

The report indicates a projected General Fund outturn variance of £63k under
spend and a HRA outturn variance of £314k under spend. At this early stage
of the year the focus is on the identification of a deliverable Capital
Programme, therefore the forecast outturn position will be refined during the
year.

2.2

Although Covid-19 continues to dominate the national picture, the implications
for the Council are beginning to ease. The volume of the various business
grant schemes have reduced, the Income Compensation Scheme came to an
end in June, and the usage of the Furlough Scheme and the need to redeploy
staff has lessened. This is expected to continue across the remainder of the
financial year despite infection rates increasing again as hospital intakes
remain more manageable and deaths much lower than during previous waves.
This, combined with the progress made on the vaccination programme, has
enabled the government to largely ease the remaining lockdown restrictions.

2.3

The financial performance of the Council in this quarter has been more stable
with all services having reopened. However, overall Income remains lower
than normal, particularly in Leisure and Car Parks as patronage slowly returns
to more normal levels. However, other services such as Planning continue to
see strong demand. Increased prices per tonne for recycled materials have
also provided greater than forecast income. Collection fund income indicates a
quicker than forecast return to pre Covid-19 collection levels.

2.4

There remains some staffing difficulties in key services, particularly Waste,
leading to higher usage of agency staff than planned although this is partially
offset by underspends on the staffing establishment. Some additional staffing
costs have been met through drawdowns from Earmarked Reserves agreed at
Outturn.

Page 2204

Page
205
3

3.0

The General Fund

3.1

The forecast General fund under spend for the current year is £63k after
transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves as shown at Appendix A.
Appendix B provides the most significant service variances above £20k.

3.2

The current incomes from our major fee income streams are shown in
Appendix C. It shows that Income is £123k below budget in the quarter. This
is largely due to Leisure income being £211k below forecast, along with Car
Parking income £50k lower. Increased Planning, Building Control and
Licensing income of £189k above budget offsets this to a degree. Other
Service income streams remain relatively close to expectations. A
consequence of the improved income is that the Council will be able to claim
less through the Government’s Income Compensation Scheme, therefore the
Government support for Covid-19 is showing as £100k below forecast.

3.3

As per 2021/22, the Government has awarded further Business Rates reliefs
for Retail and Nursery businesses. This impacts our income collected, but is
compensated through additional S31 Grant. This will again generate a deficit
that will unwind next year. It is intended to roll forward the gain into 2022/23
through earmarking into reserves. However, overall the Collection Fund shows
encouraging signs of recovery on both Council Tax and Business Rates. This
is assisted by prudent underlying assumptions within the base budget.

3.4

The current employee costs are shown at Appendix D. It shows an under
spend of £509k for Qtr. 1. This includes £173k relating to Pension Backfunding owed from Devon CC and therefore is not included within the full year
projection. Planning is also showing an under spend of £118k due to the use
of Earmarked Reserves. Generally, the remaining services slightly favour an
under spend, with Environmental Services the only notable service showing a
small over spend in Qtr1 which is understandable during a pandemic, but it
should be noted that this situation is resolved within the full year forecast.
£200k has been included to allow for a possible pay award in the region of
1.75%.

4.0

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

4.1

This is a ring-fenced account in respect of the Council’s social housing
function. The forecast position of £314k under spend is included within
Appendix E with major variances above £20k highlighted at Appendix F.

4.2

The main contributory factor within this favourable variance is staffing
vacancies (£228k), with reduced maintenance spend also providing a
significant under spend. This is marginally offset by lower than expected
income from garage rentals.

4.3

It is anticipated that the forecast variance will increase the budgeted transfer to
the Housing Maintenance Fund and so the HRA reserve balance will remain at
£2m.

Page 4206

5.0

Capital Programme

5.1

The approved Capital Programme amounts to £43,919k (this includes the
approved 2021/22 Budget of £17,705k and slippage rolled forward from
2020/21, together with subsequent 2021/22 adjustments, giving a total of
£26,214k. The status of this year’s capital programme is shown at Appendix
G.

5.2

Capital projects, by their very nature, often overlap financial years. Managers
have therefore given their best estimate of what is ‘deliverable’ for 2021/22
based on known information at this point in the year. This amounts to
£33,848k, with the remainder expected to be spent in future years. Therefore,
committed and actual expenditure will be monitored against this revised
‘deliverable’ budget for the remainder of the year. This will continue to be
revisited for material changes. Further work will be undertaken to refine what
is ‘deliverable’ for 2021/22 and will be reflected at the quarter 2 position later
this year.

5.3

Committed and Actual expenditure is currently £4,855k leaving a variance of
£28,993k uncommitted at this point in time. Additional work has been
undertaken to establish forecast slippage into 2022/23; this currently amounts
to £11,151k. This relates to: £10.801m for various General Fund projects;
which includes £8.966m associated with development projects and £1.0m in
respect of land acquisition. There is £0.350m in respect of the HRA that
relates to major repairs to our housing stock.

5.4

The forecast net underspend amounts to £0.620m. This comprises £0.520m
for various General Fund projects and £0.100m in relation to HRA projects.

6.0

Reserves

6.1

The table below shows the opening position of key operational balances of the
Council, the forecast in year movements and final predicted position at 31
March 2022:
Usable Reserves

31/03/2021

Forecast in
year movement 31/03/2022

Revenue

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

General Fund

(2,186)

(88)

(2,274)

(20,247)

2,925

(17,322)

(2,000)

0

(2,000)

Capital

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

Capital Receipts Reserve

(5,498)

1,947

(3,551)

(255)

132

(123)

(see section 3)

Earmarked Reserves
Housing Revenue Account
(see section 4)

Revenue Contribution to
Capital Earmarked Reserve

Page
207
5

6.2

The General Fund is the major revenue reserve of the Council. It is increased
or decreased by the surplus or deficit generated on the General Fund in the
year. This reserve held a balance of £2,186k as at 31/03/21 and as shown
above is currently forecast to increase to £2,274k.

6.3

The most significant implication for Earmarked Reserves is the new proposed
transfer of the new additional S31 Grant received as a result of the additional
Retail and Nursery Business Rate reliefs. This will smooth the associated
deficit this will cause on the Collection Fund that will unwind next financial
year.

6.4

The other main variance from the budgeted use of Earmarked Reserves is the
additional drawdowns of the reserves created at Outturn to support additional
staffing and activities within Planning and Regeneration.

6.5

The forecast reserve balance for the Revenue Contribution to Capital Reserve
and the Capital Receipts Reserve includes the associated funding of the
2021/22 Capital Programme, as these monies are committed. In reality, much
of this will slip to 2022/23. It is also important to note that these balances need
to be almost fully utilised in order to balance the Capital Medium Term
Financial Strategy.

6.6

Unapplied useable capital receipts are used to part fund the Capital
Programme, the forecast movement on this account for the year to date is
given below:
Unapplied Useable Capital Receipts at 1 April 2021
* Net Receipts to Q1 (includes 4 “Right to Buy” Council House sales)
Current Balance
Forecast further capital receipts in year
Forecast capital receipts required to support 2021/22 Capital
Programme
Forecast Unapplied Capital Receipts at 31 March 2022

£k
(5,498)
(275)
(5,773)
(300)
2,522
(3,551)

* Forecast as prior to completion of Q1 Pooling Return

6.7

The opening unapplied Useable Capital Receipts balance includes £2.096m of
ring-fenced 1:4:1 receipts and £3.402m of general Capital Receipts. The ringfenced “1:4:1 receipts” need to be spent within 5 years of receipt; otherwise
they need to be returned to MHCLG with interest. These can be used to fund
up to 40% of new social housing developments or repurchased right to buy
properties. The planned spend of these receipts is included within the
proposed Housing Strategy and is summarised within the table below:

Year Of Receipt
Year of
Accountability

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Totals

1-4-1 Receipts
Utilisation
Expenditure
@ 40%
MDDC Residual
Funding
Requirement

£1,040,249

£539,556

£484,410

£568,410

£836,41

£3,469,034

£2,600,622

£1,348,890

£1,211,025

£1,421,025

£2,091,024

£8,672,585

£1,560,373

£809,334

£726,615

£852,615

£1,254,614

£5,203,551

Page 6208

6.8

The Capital Earmarked Reserve has been set aside from Revenue to fund
Capital Projects; the movement on this reserve is projected below:

Page
209
7

Capital Earmarked Reserve at 1 April 2021
Funding required to support 2021/22 Capital Programme
Forecast uncommitted Balance

£k
(255)
132
(123)

7.0

Treasury Management

7.1

The interest position so far this financial year can be summarised as follows:

Investment Income Payable
Investment Income Received
Interest from HRA funding
Total Interest Receivable

Annual
Budget
£k
140
(633)
(46)
(539)

Forecast Forecast
outturn variance
£k
£k
104
(37)
(778)
(145)
(46)
0
(721)
(182)

7.2

The interest payable saving arises from a reduced expected requirement to
take out external borrowing (PWLB). The additional interest generated is from
additional investment in the 3 Rivers development programme.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

Members are asked to note the Revenue and Capital forecasts for the
financial year.

8.2

We continue to closely monitor the financial position and amend our
expectations accordingly. The budget process for 2022/23 is now underway
and Managers are working hard to develop proposals to mitigate the forecast
shortfall.

Contact for more
information:

Andrew Jarrett, 01884 23(4242)
ajarrett@middevon.gov.uk

Circulation of the Report:

Cllr Andrew Moore, Cabinet, Leadership Team

Page 8210

APPENDIX A

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021

2021/22 Annual
Budget

2021/22
Full Year
Forecast

£

£

2021/22
Full Year
Variance

General Fund Summary

Appendix B
Note Ref

Cllr Bob Deed
Corporate Management

A

1,434,470

1,769,300

334,830

23.3%

Cllr Colin slade
Grounds Maintenance
Cemeteries & Bereavement Services
Waste Services

B
C
D

555,436
(62,630)
1,700,899

540,436
(62,630)
1,596,899

(15,000)
0
(104,000)

-2.7%
0.0%
-6.1%

Cllr Dennis Knowles
Community Development
Environmental Services incl. Licensing
IT Services
Land charges
Public Health
Open Spaces
Recreation & Sport

E
C
F
G
C
H
I

138,500
811,940
1,038,930
(16,970)
31,210
200,854
906,999

138,500
728,235
1,038,930
(16,970)
31,210
200,854
1,087,999

0
(83,705)
0
0
0
0
181,000

0.0%
-10.3%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
20.0%

Cllr Andrew Moore
Financial Services
Revenues & Benefits
Car Parks

J
K
L

832,210
600,080
(529,250)

814,710
595,080
(479,250)

(17,500)
(5,000)
50,000

-2.1%
-0.8%
9.4%

Cllr Bob Evans
Private Sector Housing
General Fund Housing
Property Services

C
M
N

(3,630)
396,640
1,130,620

(3,630)
396,640
1,093,350

0
0
(37,270)

0.0%
0.0%
-3.3%

Cllr Richard Chesterton
Community Development: Markets
Planning & Regeneration

E
G

79,420
2,042,443

79,420
2,182,496

0
140,053

0.0%
6.9%

O
P
Q

774,360
501,100
1,103,783
13,667,414

774,360
501,100
1,103,783
14,110,822

0
0
0
443,408

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
3.2%

Net Cost of Services

(1,501,410)
731,720
12,897,724

(1,501,410)
731,720
13,341,132

0
0
443,408

3.4%

Finance Lease Interest Payable
Interest from Funding provided for HRA
Interest Payable on Other Activities
Interest Receivable on Investments
Transfers into Earmarked Reserves
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves
Net Contribution to/(from) New Homes Bonus Reserve
Total Budgeted Expenditure

159,410
(46,400)
140,520
(633,170)
2,361,372
(5,446,321)
(849,521)
8,583,614

159,410
(46,400)
103,520
(778,170)
3,719,448
(5,833,755)
(809,521)
9,855,665

0
0
(37,000)
(145,000)
1,358,076
(387,434)
40,000
1,272,051

0.0%
0.0%
-26.3%
22.9%
57.5%
7.1%
-4.7%
14.8%

FUNDED BY:
Business Rates
Retained Business Rates
S31 Grant associated with COVID-19 Reliefs
Business Rates (Surplus)/Deficit (2020-21)
Business Rates Benefit from Devon Pool

(3,150,000)
0
3,171,340
0

(1,518,409)
(2,966,451)
3,171,340
(100,000)

1,631,591
(2,966,451)
0
(100,000)

-51.8%

Council Tax
Council Tax
Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (2020-21)

(6,114,620)
115,109

(6,114,620)
115,109

0
0

0.0%
0.0%

(958,750)
(179,252)
(489,742)
0

(958,750)
(179,252)
(489,742)
0

0
0
0
0

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

(407,699)
(570,000)
(8,583,614)

(407,699)
(470,000)
(9,918,474)

0
100,000
(1,334,860)

(62,809)

(62,809)

Cllr Mrs Nikki Woollatt
Customer Services
Human Resources
Legal & Democratic Services
All General Fund Services

Net recharge to HRA
Statutory Adjustments (Capital charges)

Un-Ringfenced Grants
New Homes Bonus Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
Rural Services Delivery Grant
Other Non-Ringfenced Gov. Grants
Covid-19 Related Funding
Covid-19 Non Ringfenced Grant
Covid-19 Income Compensation Scheme
Total Budgeted Funding

(0 = On budget)

Forecast in year (Surplus) / Deficit

0

General Fund Reserve 31/03/21

Forecast General Fund Balance 31/03/2022

£

%

(2,186,051)

Page 211

(2,248,860)

0.0%
0.0%

0.0%
-17.5%
15.6%

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021
2021/22
Full year variance
(net of transfer to PDG
EMR)
£

Note

Description of Major Movements

A

Corporate Management
Estimated cost of new director post (inclusive of recruitment spend)
Provision for 2021/22 Pay Award
Under achievement of Vacancy Factor

B

C

D

G

I

Grounds Maintenance
Salaries - savings due vacant post
Agency spend - reduced cutting for town councils
No longer receiving income from Town Councils towards contributions for flower beds
Public Health (combined)
Control of Pollution - S106 Air Quality - net income & expenditure - funded by transfers to and from
EMRs
Increased Licensing income - recovery post Covid better than expected
Waste Services
Garden waste - increase in permit sales
Increased sales of wheelie bins
Salaries - savings due to a delay in recruiting posts
Agency Costs - reliance on agency to cover holiday and sick time. Partially offset by
salary savings
Recycling materials - increased price per tonne for aluminium and cardboard. Recovery
post Covid better than expected.
Plant responsive maintenance - baler repairs
Trade Waste - increased recycling income
Fleet Management - shared Transport Manager with Exeter City Council no longer planned

Planning & Regeneration
Enforcement - staffing, agency support for project work tackling backlogged cases - being funded
from EMR release
Development Management - staffing, agency for interim replacements and cover staff to clear
backlogs, partially covered from vacancies and EMR release
Development Management - National Design Model Testing - being funded by EMR release
Development Management - overachievement on income
Development Management - S106, net income & expenditure - funded by transfers to and from
EMRs
Business Development- staffing of economic recovery project work - being funded by EMR
release
Cullompton HAZ project - if all grants available to property owners taken up and spent in year - will
be funded by EMR release of Homes England forward funding
Neighbourhood Plan Referendum costs
GESP partnership work
Local Land Charges - income is above budget. Quarter 2 income will give a clearer indication of
full year trends.

Recreation & Sport
Shortfall to income across all three leisure centres due to Covid-19
Salary savings due to vacancies and reduction in certain activities during pandemic

59,830 Cabinet
200,000 Cabinet
75,000 Cabinet
334,830

(20,000) Environment
(8,000) Environment
13,000 Environment
(15,000)

(62,705) Community
(21,000) Community
(83,705)

(10,000) Environment
(10,000) Environment
(95,000) Environment
189,000 Environment
(190,000)
16,000
(24,000)
20,000
(104,000)

Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment

31,000 Community
51,500 Community
50,000 Community
(101,800) Community
34,853 Community
73,000 Community
47,000 Community
(8,000) Cabinet
(37,500) Cabinet
0
140,053

211,000 Community
(30,000) Community
181,000

J

K

Financial Services
Procurement salary saving due to vacant Procurement Managers post
Devon County Council Procurement partnership & computer software overspend
Finance salary overspend due to temporary contracts

Revenues & Benefits
Housing Benefit Subsidy & Overpayment recovery
Various New Burdens grants from DWP in respect of Housing Benefits initiatives delivered within
existing resource
Forecast increased recovery of Court Costs for C/Tax & NNDR

Page 213

(47,000) Cabinet
24,500 Cabinet
5,000 Cabinet
(17,500)

50,000 Cabinet
(25,000) Cabinet
(30,000) Cabinet
(5,000)

APPENDIX B

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021
2021/22
Full year variance
(net of transfer to PDG
EMR)
£

Note

Description of Major Movements

L

Car Parks
P&D Income down at Q1 will review month by month

N

Property Services
Public Convenience rates saving due to changes in regulations
Property Services salary savings due to vacant posts

50,000 Economy
50,000

(12,270) Environment
(25,000) Homes
(37,270)

FORECAST (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT AS AT 31/03/2022
Cabinet
Community
Homes
Environment
Economy

443,408
266,830
282,848
(25,000)
(131,270)
50,000
443,408

Page 214

APPENDIX C

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021

Fees and Charges

Building Control Fees
Planning Fees
Land Search Fees
Car Parking Fees - See Below
Leisure Fees & Charges
Trade Waste Income
Garden Waste
Licensing
Market Income

2021/22
2021/22
Annual
Qtr 1
Budget
Profiled Budget
£
£
(201,000)
(39,250)
(637,200)
(94,475)
(118,500)
(29,250)
(812,570)
(175,358)
(2,524,330)
(401,470)
(783,000)
(423,704)
(517,100)
(141,653)
(107,590)
(4,629)
(69,560)
(15,173)

2021/22
Qtr 1
Actual
£
(83,228)
(156,015)
(36,761)
(138,817)
(186,958)
(428,372)
(126,951)
(28,510)
(16,516)

(5,770,850)

(1,202,127)

(1,324,962)

Car Parking Fees

2021/22

Beck Square, Tiverton
William Street, Tiverton
Westexe South, Tiverton
Wellbrook Street, Tiverton
Market Street, Crediton
High Street, Crediton
Station Road, Cullompton
Multistorey, Tiverton
Market Car Park, Tiverton
Phoenix House, Tiverton
P&D Shorts & Overs
Total Pay and Display
Day Permits
Allocated Space Permits
Overnight Permits
Day & Night Permits
Other Income
Total Permits

Annual
Qtr 1
Budget
Profiled Budget
£
£
(80,840)
(19,078)
(26,630)
(5,991)
(53,170)
(13,824)
(15,190)
(3,798)
(38,010)
(9,342)
(78,470)
(18,833)
(34,170)
(7,220)
(159,470)
(33,489)
(227,910)
(54,698)
(5,630)
(1,016)
0
0
(719,490)
(167,290)
(17,500)
0
(56,550)
(7,080)
(200)
(28)
(11,200)
(453)
(7,630)
(508)
(93,080)
(8,068)

Total Car Parking
Standard Charge Notices (Off Street)

2021/22

2021/22
Qtr 1
Actual
£
(12,884)
(5,593)
(9,090)
(3,450)
(7,040)
(15,169)
(8,527)
(32,290)
(30,866)
(372)
5
(125,277)
(6,226)
(2,998)
(200)
(4,116)
0
(13,540)

2021/22
Qtr 1
Variance
£
(43,978)
(61,540)
(7,511)
36,541
214,513
(4,668)
14,702
(23,881)
(1,343)
122,835

47,380

2021/22
Qtr 1
Variance
£
6,193
398
4,734
347
2,303
3,664
(1,307)
1,199
23,832
644
5
42,013
(6,226)
4,081
(172)
(3,663)
508
(5,472)

(812,570)

(175,358)

(138,817)

36,541

(43,200)

(10,368)

(14,947)

(4,579)

Page 215

2021/22
Full Year Forecast
Variation
£
%
(66,000)
33%
(101,800)
16%
0
0%
50,000
-6%
211,000
-8%
(9,000)
1%
(10,000)
2%
(21,000)
20%
(5,820)
8%
-0.8%

40
45
51
27
39
190
112
631
122
15
1,272

0%
Budgeted
Income pa
per space
£
(2,021)
(592)
(1,043)
(563)
(975)
(413)
(305)
(253)
(1,868)
(375)
0
(8,407)

0

0%

Spaces

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021

Employee Costs
General Fund
Community Development
Corporate Management
Customer Services
Environmental Services
Financial Services
General Fund Housing
Grounds Maintenance
Human Resources
I.T. Services
Legal & Democratic Services
Planning & Regeneration
Property Services
Recreation & Sport
Revenues & Benefits
Waste Services
Total General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
BHO09 Repairs & Maintenance
BHO10 Supervision & Management
BHO11 Special Services
Total Housing Revenue Account

2021/22
Annual
Budget
£

2021/22
Qtr 1
Profiled Budget
£

2021/22
Qtr 1
Actual
£

2021/22
Qtr 1
Variance
£

80,930
1,238,930
703,290
867,584
596,050
360,670
472,830
414,800
592,380
576,300
1,924,180
686,050
2,041,156
690,600
2,558,603
13,804,353

20,233
309,733
175,823
216,896
149,013
90,168
118,208
103,700
148,095
144,075
481,045
171,513
510,289
172,650
639,651
3,451,092

17,464
136,445
166,500
235,989
144,212
83,734
98,514
102,334
115,335
148,305
363,188
128,349
456,114
170,248
602,093
2,968,823

(2,769)
(173,288)
(9,323)
19,093
(4,801)
(6,434)
(19,694)
(1,366)
(32,761)
4,230
(117,857)
(43,164)
(54,175)
(2,402)
(37,558)
(482,269)

899,420
1,834,360
0
2,733,780

224,855
458,590
0
683,445

297,415
359,320
0
656,735

72,560
(99,270)
0
(26,710)

Total Employee Costs

16,538,133

4,134,537

3,625,558

(508,979)

Agency Staff (within Employee costs)

2021/22
Annual
Budget
£

General Fund
Car Parks
Community Development
Corporate Management
Customer Services
Environmental Services
Financial Services
General Fund Housing
Grounds Maintenance
Human Resources
I.T. Services
Legal & Democratic Services
Planning & Regeneration
Property Services
Recreation & Sport
Revenues & Benefits
Waste Services
Total General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
BHO09 Repairs & Maintenance
BHO10 Supervision & Management
BHO11 Special Services
Total Housing Revenue Account
Total Agency Costs

2021/22
Qtr 1
Profiled Budget
£

2021/22
Qtr 1
Actual
£

2021/22
Qtr 1
Variance
£

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26,240
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
98,560
124,800

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
6,560
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
24,640
31,200

0
0
0
0
2,215
0
0
5,184
0
0
24,473
12,833
2,627
0
6,816
77,129
131,277

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

124,800

31,200

131,277

100,077

Page 217

0
0
0
0
2,215
0
0
(1,376)
0
0
24,473
12,833
2,627
0
6,816
52,489
100,077

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX E

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM
01 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021

Appendix F
Note

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Income
SHO01 Dwelling Rents Income
SHO04 Non Dwelling Rents Income
SHO07 Leaseholders' Service Charges
SHO08 Contributions Towards Expenditure
SHO10 H.R.A. Investment Income
SHO11 Miscellaneous Income

2021/22
Annual
Budget
£

2021/22
Full Year
Forecast Variance
£
%

A
B
D
E
G
H

(12,450,680)
(559,830)
(23,810)
(29,220)
(10,000)
(7,350)

0
28,000
0
0
0
0

0%
-5%
0%
0%
0%
0%

SHO13A Repairs & Maintenance
SHO17A Housing & Tenancy Services

I
J

3,516,850
1,709,900

(253,000)
(89,000)

-7%
-5%

Accounting entries 'below the line'
SHO29 Bad Debt Provision Movement
SHO30 Share Of Corporate And Democratic
SHO32 H.R.A. Interest Payable
SHO34 H.R.A. Transfers between earmarked reserves
SHO37 Capital Receipts Reserve Adjustment
SHO38 Major Repairs Allowance
SHO45 Renewable Energy Transactions

L
M
N
O
Q
R
S

150,000
168,040
1,026,430
1,899,100
(19,500)
2,260,000
(105,000)

Services

(2,475,070)

Page 219

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(314,000)

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
(0)

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX F

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01
APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2021

Note

B

I

2021/22
Full Year
Forecast
Variance
£

Description of Major Movements

Garage rentals have continued at similar levels to 2020/21 where new lets were reduced due
to Covid

28,000

Repairs forecast underspend due to the following:
- Staffing a restructure has created a number of new posts which, at present, are vacant.
Depending on when filled the forecast variance may move, this will be reviewed each quarter.
(net variance £142k)
- Maintenance spend will be below budget: Disabled Adaptations (£50k); Planned (£92k);
Voids (£25k) and Responsive (£75k). The main factors are less contractor spend and
materials purchases
- DLO works on Private Sector DFGs will be below budget, this is a continual knock on from
Covid, 75k
- Other minor variances £6k
(253,000)

J

Tenancy Services underspend due to the following:
- Staffing the Housing restructure has generated a numbe of new posts which will be filled at
various points in the year, the current estimate underspend is (£86k)
- Other minor variances (£3k)
Other variances less than £20k

(89,000)
(29,000)

(343,000)

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
MONITORING OF 2021/22 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Code

Appendix G

Approved
Capital
Programme

Total Slippage
B/fwd & Adj to
Approved Capital

2021/22
£

Programme 21/22
£

Scheme

Budgeted
Capital

Total
Deliverable

Actual
Expenditure

Committed
Expenditure

Total Actual &
Committed

Variance to
Deliverable

Forecast
(Underspend)/

Forecast
Slippage

Programme
2021/22
£

Programme
2021/22
£

2021/22

2021/22

to 22/23

£

Capital
Programme
£

Overspend

£

Expenditure
2021/22
£

£

£

Notes

General Fund Projects
Leisure
CA642 Reception infrastructure review - All sites
CA643 All Leisure Etarmis - Security Swipe - (linked to security project)

0
0

120,000
30,000

120,000
30,000

60,000
15,000

0
0

(60,000)
(15,000)

30,000

0

30,000

30,000

0

(30,000)

CA645 Evlc - Fitness Studio renewal of equipment

153,000

0

153,000

0

0

CA646 Cvsc - Remodelling of Ground Floor

204,000

0

204,000

102,000

0

(102,000)

102,000 Projected project completion Q2 22/23

0

50,000

50,000

25,000

0

(25,000)

25,000 Forecast project completion Q2 22/23

CA644 Evlc - Boilers and CHP

0

60,000 Projected project completion Q3 22/23
15,000 Projected project completion Q2 22/23
Projected project completion Q4 21/22
Projected project completion Q2 22/23. Lease not due to expire until
153,000 22/23.

Phoenix House
CA487 Etarmis - Security Swipe - (linked to security project)

Play Areas
CA472 Open Space Infrastructure (incl Play Areas)

0

40,000

40,000

40,000

0

(40,000)

CA632 Play area refurbishment - Amory Park Tiverton
CA648 Play Area Chestnut Drive Willand

0
0

74,000
25,000

74,000
25,000

74,000
25,000

0
0

(74,000)
(25,000)

510,000
0

0
30,000

510,000
30,000

510,000
30,000

0
0

(510,000)
(30,000)

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22
Forecast project completion Q4 21/22

CA491 Fire Dampeners - Corporate sites
CA485 GP Practice NHS Hub Building
CA490 West Exe South - Remodelling - additional parking spaces

0
0
0

80,000
2,175,000
90,000

80,000
2,175,000
90,000

80,000
2,175,000
90,000

0
2,175,000
0

(80,000)
0
(90,000)

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22

CA473 Land drainage flood defence schemes - St Marys Hemyock

0

50,000

50,000

50,000

0

(50,000)

CA420
CA574
CA576
CA832

0
0
0
0

87,000
47,000
140,000
1,000,000

87,000
47,000
140,000
1,000,000

87,000
47,000
140,000
0

0
0
0
0

(87,000)
(47,000)
(140,000)
0

450,000
60,000

3,559,000
163,000

4,009,000
223,000

4,009,000
223,000

-41,428
-1,118

(4,050,428)
(224,118)

800,000

0

800,000

400,000

0

(400,000)

CA425 Server farm expansion/upgrades
CA433 Additional Unified Communications budget

0
30,000

74,000
66,000

74,000
96,000

74,000
96,000

0
0

(74,000)
(96,000)

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22
Forecast project completion Q3 21/22

CA496 Hardware replacement of Network Core Switch
CA492 Final phase of Desktop estate replacement/refresh

80,000
0

0
48,000

80,000
48,000

80,000
48,000

0
18,021

(80,000)
(29,979)

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22
Forecast project completion Q4 21/22

CA456 CRM replacement

0

175,000

175,000

175,000

0

(175,000)

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22

CA437 Digital Transformation

0

33,000

33,000

33,000

0

(33,000)

CA480 Lalpac Licensing System replacement

0

80,000

80,000

0

0

MDDC Shops & Industrial Units
CA584 Market Walk Unit 17 - remodelling options
CA583 Market Walk - Flat roof replacement
Other Projects

Page 223

Land drainage flood defence schemes - Ashleigh Park Bampton
Fore Street Flats refurbishment
Tiverton Town Centre improvements
Land acquisition for operational needs

1,200,000

975,000

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22

Forecast project completion Q4 21/22
1,000,000 Subject to securing an appropriate site

HIF Schemes

CA719 Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road (HIF bid)
CA720 Tiverton EUE A361 Junction Phase 2 (HIF bid)

(41,428)
(1,118)

Levelling up fund bid submitted outcome awaited. £41.4k is accrued
expenditure for March '21 where we are awaiting an invoice
£1.1k is accrued expenditure for March '21 where we are awaiting an

Economic Development Schemes

CA582 Hydromills Electricity generation Project - Tiverton Weir
* All Economic Development schemes are subject to acceptable Business Case

400,000 Subject to achieving Planning Permission and acceptable business case.

ICT Projects

16,203

1,818

0

Forecast project completion Q3 21/22
Project to be completed in 22/23 & has dependency on the CRM Project
80,000 (CA456)

Approved
Capital
Programme
Code

Total Slippage
B/fwd & Adj to
Approved Capital

Scheme
2021/22
£

Programme 21/22
£

Budgeted
Capital

Total
Deliverable

Actual
Expenditure

Committed
Expenditure

Total Actual &
Committed

Variance to
Deliverable

Forecast
(Underspend)/

Forecast
Slippage

Programme
2021/22
£

Programme
2021/22
£

2021/22

2021/22

to 22/23

£

Capital
Programme
£

Overspend

£

Expenditure
2021/22
£

£

£

Notes

Other General Fund Development Projects
CA493
CA462
CA486
CA484
CA495

* 3 Rivers Scheme
3 Rivers Scheme - Riverside Development (rear of Town Hall) Tiverton
* 3 Rivers scheme - Knowle Lane, Cullompton
3 Rivers Scheme - Orchard House Halberton
* 3 Rivers Schemes - Future Projects

24,607
469,870
0
68,000
0

(2,606,393)
(2,506,130)
(795,000)
(84,000)
(1,700,000)

4,575,000

0

(4,575,000)

875,000

875,000

0

(875,000)

21,688,000

31,866,000

22,422,000

1,736,134

2,712,952

(19,709,048)

(343,000)

577,000

0

577,000

400,000

24,797

24,797

(375,203)

(177,000)

577,000

0

577,000

400,000

24,797

0

24,797

(375,203)

(177,000)

0

10,755,000

21,688,000

32,443,000

22,822,000

1,760,931

976,818

2,737,749

(20,084,251)

(520,000)

10,801,000

2,275,000

495,000

2,770,000

2,420,000

561,649

1,420,425

1,982,074

(437,926)

CA111 Renewable Energy Fund

250,000

0

250,000

150,000

10,926

10,926

(139,074)

CG200 Home Adaptations - Disabled Facilities

300,000

0

300,000

300,000

123,610

123,782

(176,218)

408,000
500,000

0
0

408,000
500,000

408,000
500,000

0
0

(408,000)
(500,000)

3,217,000

0

3,217,000

3,217,000

0

(3,217,000)

0
0
0

506,000
1,500,000
2,000,000

506,000
1,500,000
2,000,000

506,000
1,500,000
2,000,000

132
0
0

(505,868)
(1,500,000)
(2,000,000)

0

25,000
0

25,000

25,000

0

(25,000)

6,950,000

4,526,000

11,476,000

11,026,000

696,317

1,420,597

2,116,914

(8,909,086)

(100,000)

350,000

17,705,000

26,214,000

43,919,000

33,848,000

2,457,248

2,397,415

4,854,663

(28,993,337)

(620,000)

11,151,000

CA581 Post Hill Tiverton
Park Road (Delivery of this project is yet to be determined until conclusion of
CA494 marketing exercise & therefore maybe a Capital Receipt)

232,000
430,000
0
49,000
1,700,000

2,399,000
2,605,000
8,002,000
446,000
0

2,631,000
3,035,000
8,002,000
495,000
1,700,000

2,631,000
2,976,000
795,000
152,000
1,700,000

4,575,000

0

4,575,000

875,000

0

10,178,000

24,607
469,870
68,000

(343,000)

Forecast project completion Q2 22/23
59,000 Forecast project completion Q4 21/22
7,207,000 Forecast project completion Q2 23/24
Forecast project completion Q2 21/22
1,700,000 Assumed slippage until potential site identified
Subject to scheduling of delivery provider
Forecast project completion Q3 22/23

* These schemes require signed loan agreements before they can be progressed further
976,818

10,801,000

Private Sector Housing Grants
CG201 Disabled Facilities Grants-P/Sector

Total General Fund Projects

Any underspend here will remain in the EMR

HRA Projects - Existing Housing Stock

CA100 Major Repairs to Housing Stock

172

(100,000)

COVID 19 has impacted on contract delivery, it is anticipated that this will
350,000 slip into 22/23 in relation to the modernisation contract.
Forecast £150k spend on this project in 21/22 and remaining balance will
remain in the Renewable Energy EMR

Page 224

Housing Development Schemes
CA151 Garages Block - Redevelopment
CA147 Affordable Housing/ Purchase of ex RTB
CA152 Post Hill, Tiverton
CA124 Queensway (Beech Road) Tiverton (3 units)
CA141 Round Hill Tiverton- Site
CA146 HRA Regeneration Scheme 1

132

This project will cross a number of years - anticipated completion Q2
2023/24
Additional £222k approved per Cabinet Report 04/03/21 . Forecast
project completion Q4 21/22

HRA Other Projects
CA126 Sewerage Treatment Works - Washfield
Total HRA Projects
CAPITAL PROGRAMME GRAND TOTAL

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS
September 2021
The Forward Plan containing Key Decisions is published 28 days prior to each Cabinet meeting
Title of report and
summary of decision

Housing Strategy
Consultation Draft
To
consider
the
strategy.

draft

Decision
Taker

Date of
Decision

Officer contact

Cabinet Member

Intention to
consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)

Simon Newcombe,
Corporate Manager
for Public Health,
Regulation and
Housing Tel: 01884
244615

Cabinet Member
for Housing and
Property Services
(Councillor Bob
Evans)

Open

Cabinet

31 Aug 2021

Playing Pitch Strategy
To consider the Playing Pitch
Strategy for consultation.

Cabinet

31 Aug 2021

Tristan Peat,
Forward Planning
Team Leader

Cabinet Member
for Planning and
Economic
Regeneration
(Councillor
Richard
Chesterton)

Open

Community Governance
Review
To consider a report
recommending the
commencement of a
community governance
review (parish boundary
review)

Cabinet

31 Aug 2021
27 Oct 2021

Leader of the
Council
(Councillor Bob
Deed)

Open

Council

Jill May, Director of
Business
Improvement and
Operations Tel:
01884 234381

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - August 2021

Agenda Item 14.

16 Aug 2021

Page 225

Scrutiny
Committee

Title of report and
summary of decision

Decision
Taker

Date of
Decision

Draft MDDC Litter Strategy
To receive the MDDC Litter
Strategy

Environment
Policy
Development
Group

7 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Environment
Policy
Development
Group

7 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Devon and Torbay Waste
Strategy Management Plan
To receive a report which
outlines the new draft
Resource and Waste
Management Strategy for
Devon and Torbay following
public consultation.

Environment
Policy
Development
Group

7 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Information with regard to
the possible creation of a
Teckal compliant company
To consider advice
surrounding the possibility of

Homes Policy
Development
Group

14 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Page 226

Contracted Out
Enforcement Duties
Group to receive a report on
the options to engage an
external contractor for
additional littering and dog
fouling enforcement duties in
the district.

Officer contact

Cabinet Member

Intention to
consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)

Darren Beer,
Operations Manager
for Street Scene

Cabinet Member
for the
Environment and
Climate Change
(Councillor Colin
Slade)

Open

Darren Beer,
Operations Manager
for Street Scene

Cabinet Member
for the
Environment and
Climate Change
(Councillor Colin
Slade)

Open

Darren Beer,
Operations Manager
for Street Scene

Cabinet Member
for the
Environment and
Climate Change
(Councillor Colin
Slade)

Open

Stephen Walford,
Chief Executive Tel:
01884 234201

Cabinet Member
for Housing and
Property Services
(Councillor Bob
Evans)

Open

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - August 2021

Title of report and
summary of decision

Decision
Taker

Date of
Decision

Officer contact

Cabinet Member

Intention to
consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)

Jill May, Director of
Business
Improvement and
Operations Tel:
01884 234381

Cabinet Member
for Community
Well Being
(Councillor
Dennis Knowles)

Open

Lisa Lewis,
Corporate Manager
for Business
Transformation and
Customer
Engagement Tel:
01884 234981

Cabinet Member
for Community
Well Being
(Councillor
Dennis Knowles)

Open

creating a new Teckalcompliant company entity.
Town and Parish Charter
To receive the 3 yearly
review of the Town and
Parish Charter

Page 227

Customer Care Policy
To receive the 3 yearly
review of the Customer Care
Policy

Community
Policy
Development
Group

21 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Community
Policy
Development
Group

21 Sep 2021

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

New Local Plan – Issues
consultation paper
To seek Cabinet approval to
publish and consult on an
Issues Paper for a new Local
Plan for Mid Devon

Cabinet

28 Sep 2021

Tristan Peat,
Forward Planning
Team Leader

Cabinet Member
for Planning and
Economic
Regeneration
(Councillor
Richard
Chesterton)

Open

Housing Strategy (final
version for approval)
To consider the Housing
Strategy.

Cabinet

26 Oct 2021

Simon Newcombe,
Corporate Manager
for Public Health,
Regulation and

Cabinet Member
for Housing and
Property Services
(Councillor Bob

Open

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - August 2021

Title of report and
summary of decision

Regulation of
Investigatory Powers
To receive the annual review
of the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers

Decision
Taker

Community
Policy
Development
Group

Date of
Decision

November
2021

Officer contact

Cabinet Member

Housing Tel: 01884
244615

Evans)

Karen Trickey,
District Solicitor

Cabinet Member
for Community
Well Being
(Councillor
Dennis Knowles)

John Bodley-Scott,
Economic
Development Team
Leader

Cabinet Member
for Community
Well Being
(Councillor
Dennis Knowles)

Open

Lee Chester,
Leisure Manager

Cabinet Member
for Community
Well Being
(Councillor
Dennis Knowles)

Open

December
2021

Intention to
consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)

Cabinet

Page 228

Strategic Grants and
Service Level Agreement
To receive a report from
Grants Working Group on
the Strategic Grants and
Service Level Agreement
Programme 2022-2023 and
to make

Community
Policy
Development
Group

16 Nov 2021

Cabinet

30 Nov 2021

Leisure Pricing Policy
To receive a report from the
Leisure Manager on the fees
and charges delegated
decision to the Cabinet
Member for Community WellBeing

Community
Policy
Development
Group

16 Nov 2021

Cabinet

30 Nov 2021

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - August 2021

